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Update of IPSASs 6–8 

Objective(s) of Agenda Item 

1. The objectives of this agenda item are to:  

(a) Discuss an analysis of responses to EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities; 

(b) Obtain directions from the IPSASB for the development of standards; 

(c) Note issues to be considered at subsequent meetings; and 

(d) Provide an update on related IASB projects. 

Material(s) Presented 

Agenda Item 5.1 Issues Paper 

Agenda Item 5.2 List of Respondents and Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments  

Agenda Item 5.3 Responses to EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities 

Agenda Item 5.3.1 Responses to ED 48 

Agenda Item 5.3.2 Responses to ED 49 

Agenda Item 5.3.3 Responses to ED 50 

Agenda Item 5.3.4 Responses to ED 51 

Agenda Item 5.3.5 Responses to ED 52 

Agenda Item 5.4 ED 48 Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 

Agenda Item 5.5 ED 49 Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 

Agenda Item 5.6 ED 50 Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 

Agenda Item 5.7 ED 51 Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 

Agenda Item 5.8 ED 52 Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 

Action Requested 

2. The IPSASB is asked to review responses EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities and provide 
directions on the issues raised in Agenda Item 5.1. 
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Project Milestones and Next Meeting 

3. Project milestones for the remainder of the project are as follows. 

Major Project Milestones Timing 

Review of responses to EDs and consideration of issues  June 2014–December 2014 

Approve IPSASs December 2014 
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 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) Agenda Item 5.1 

EDs 48 to 52 INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES – ISSUES PAPER 

Objectives of Issues Paper 
1. This Issues Paper provides an overview of responses received on EDs 48 to 52, collectively 

referred to as Interests in Other Entities. The titles of the individual EDs were: 

(a) ED 48 Separate Financial Statements (ED 48); 

(b) ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements (ED 49); 

(c) ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (ED 50); 

(d) ED 51 Joint Arrangements (ED 51); and 

(e) ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (ED 52). 

2. This paper seeks directions on key issues arising from the analysis of responses to EDs 48 to 52. 
The Issues Paper is a staff paper, which has been compiled with input from the Task Based Group 
for this project.  

3. In addition to the issues considered in this paper respondents have also made a number of 
suggestions for improving or clarifying aspects of the EDs. These detailed suggestions will be 
considered at subsequent meetings.  

Background 
4. The IPSASB’s project to update IPSASs 6 to 8 commenced in 2012. In developing ED 48 to 52 the 

IPSASB considered:  

(a) The requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)1;  

(b) The public sector modifications in IPSASs 6 to 8; and  

(c) The potential for increased alignment with Government Finance Statistics (GFS).  

5. The project page on the IPSASB website summarizes the issues considered by the IPSASB over 
the period June 2012 to September 2013. The Basis for Conclusions on each ED also outlines key 
issues considered by the IPSASB.  

6. EDs 48 to 52 were issued in October 2013 with a response date of February 28, 2014. In total, 
responses from 33 different respondents were received. 21 respondents commented on all five 
EDs. The number of responses for each ED is shown below. 

1  The relevant IFRSs are IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (2011), IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
(2011), IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities. 
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Responses 
(a) ED 48  27 
(b) ED 49  31 
(c) ED 50  23 
(d) ED 51  22 
(e) ED 52  26 

7. A list of respondents for each ED is set out in Agenda Item 5.2. For the purpose of analysis, each 
respondent is referred to by a single response number (R#). The automatic numbering of comment 
letters as they were submitted to the IPSASB website is shown in Agenda Item 5.2. 

General Comments 
Supportive comments 

8. Many respondents expressed their general support for this project and the approach taken in 
developing the EDs. The approach to the revision of IPSASs 6-8 was to reaffirm the principle of 
control as the basis for consolidated financial statements, to update the current public sector 
standards using the same principle, amended as appropriate for public sector characteristics and 
issues. Examples of supportive comments include: 

(a) “We strongly support IPSASB’s programme which helpfully combines IFRS converged 
IPSASs on matters which are common to both private and public sectors, public sector 
specific IPSASs on matters which are unique to the sector, and conceptual work which will 
inform the development of standards in future, seeking to achieve the optimum balance 
between maintaining comparability and addressing sector specific issues” (R09); 

(b) “Overall, we are highly supportive of the work of the IPSASB and developments in 
international public sector accounting standards. We believe that ED 49 for consolidated 
financial statements is helpful in setting out a definition of control for public entities and for 
clarifying matters in respect to the consolidation of temporarily controlled entities” (R14); and 

(c) From a respondent that strongly supports the IPSASB's strategy to converge IPSASs with 
IFRSs in developing these standards: “Most consolidated government financial statements 
are likely to comprise of groups containing both for profit and not-for-profit groups. It would be 
disastrous for such consolidations if there were unnecessary differences between the 
approaches for reporting as a single reporting entity between such sub-groups and the 
consolidated economic entity” (R23). 

9. Some of those expressing support noted their appreciation for the IPSASB’s use of terminology 
appropriate for the public sector, consideration of public sector specific circumstances and 
additional public sector examples. Whilst there was general support for many of the modifications 
made by the IPSASB, a number of these respondents also highlighted their view that the IPSASs 
should align with IFRS requirements unless there is a public sector specific reason to modify those 
requirements. Those expressing general support also made a number of detailed comments on the 
individual EDs. These more detailed comments will be considered at subsequent meetings. 

10. The key issues on each ED are noted in this paper. The most significant concerns were on issues 
associated with ED 49. The range of views regarding ED 49 was not unexpected. Prior to issuing 
the EDs the IPSASB spent a considerable amount of time discussing issues associated with ED 49. 
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Fundamental disagreement 

11. Three respondents (R10, R11 and R12) had fundamental disagreements with the approach taken 
as well as overarching concerns about the proposals in the EDs, particularly ED 49.  

12. As explained above, the EDs were based on the relevant international private sector standards with 
changes made for public sector characteristics. Many of these changes were based on public 
sector specific modifications that already existed in IPSASs 6 to 8. In the case of ED 49 this 
approach meant that the ED was based on IFRS 10, including using the principle of control to 
determine the reporting entity in consolidated financial statements, together with additional public 
sector guidance to explain the broader range of circumstances in which control can occur in the 
public sector.  

13. Respondents R10, R11 and R12 considered that the organization of the public sector is so different 
from the private sector that the EDs, particularly ED 49, should have been developed from first 
principles. Examples of comments from these respondents included: 

(a) The project should have commenced with consultation papers (R10). 

(b) The definition of control requires further work (R10). 

(c) The presumption of consolidation should be challenged. Some jurisdictions do not require all 
companies to produce consolidated financial statements (R11). 

(d) The project should have considered existing practices implemented in the public sectors in 
various jurisdictions as alternatives to consolidation (R11); 

(e) The project should have considered the scope of consolidation in various jurisdictions (R12). 

(f) The project should have considered the objectives and the meaning of consolidated financial 
statements in the context of the public sector (R12). 

(g) The control criterion is inappropriate for preparing consolidated financial statements for the 
public sector as a whole, because, for example, some levels of government are not controlled 
by other levels of government (R12). 

(h) The notion of non-financial benefits is inadequate and unsuitable (R12). 

14. Comments on ED 49 from all respondents are analyzed in more detail in a separate section of this 
memo.  

Concerns about Control and Consolidation  

15. Although the majority of respondents were generally supportive of the approach taken in developing 
the EDs, a number of respondents (in addition to R10, R11 and R12) expressed concerns about 
aspects of the proposals in ED 49. This is not surprising as the IPSASB itself devoted considerable 
time to debating issues associated with ED 49. In particular, the IPSASB spent a number of 
meetings discussing issues associated with consolidated financial statements including alternative 
methods of presentation and possible exceptions to consolidation requirements.   

16. Following its discussions on control and consolidation, the IPSASB’s conclusions were documented 
in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 49, paragraphs BC4 to BC15. In summary, the points made in 
those paragraphs were: 

Agenda Item 5.1 
Page 3 of 64 



EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities – Issues Paper 
IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

(a) The IPSASB debated extensively on the issue of whether all controlled entities should be 
consolidated. The IPSASB considered views on the usefulness of consolidation for various 
types of controlled entities. The IPSASB noted that, although there was general agreement 
that consolidation of controlled departments and ministries and government agencies is 
appropriate, some members were less certain that the cost of preparing consolidated 
financial information was justified for other categories of controlled entities. (ED 49 
paragraphs BC5 and BC6) 

(b) The IPSASB considered arguments in support of consolidation of all controlled entities and 
noted arguments that have been raised in opposition to consolidation of certain controlled 
entities of a government. The IPSASB considered a number of factors when it reflected on 
these arguments, including the objectives of financial reporting in the Conceptual Framework. 
(ED 49 paragraphs BC7 to BC9) 

(c) The IPSASB considered whether consolidated financial statements should be prepared for a 
government’s budget entity only, but agreed that a budget entity approach would not be 
appropriate. (ED 49 paragraph BC10) 

(d) The IPSASB noted concerns about the temporary control exemption in IPSAS 6 and decided 
not to permit such an exemption in ED 49. (ED 49 paragraphs BC 11 and BC12) 

(e) There is limited empirical research on user needs and the usefulness of consolidated whole 
of government financial statements. (ED 49 paragraph BC13) 

(f) The IPSASB considered whether statistical reporting by sector (general government sector, 
non-financial public corporations and financial public corporations) was an alternative to 
consolidated whole of government financial reporting on an IPSAS basis, but decided that it 
was not.  Reasons why it was not an alternative for consolidated whole of government 
reporting included:  

(i) Statistical reporting has a different objective and does not fulfill the role of consolidated 
financial statements in giving an overview of all government activity; and  

(ii) It would be difficult to require statistical information from levels of government other 
than national governments. (ED 49 paragraph BC15) 

(g) Having taken these factors into consideration the IPSASB decided to propose the 
consolidation of all controlled entities other than certain investment entities. The IPSASB also 
agreed to seek respondents’ views on this matter. (paragraph BC16) 

How to proceed 

17. The staff view is that there is sufficient support for the approach taken and the IPSASB’s proposals 
in general to proceed to develop standards. Table 1 indicates the staff view of whether each 
respondent was broadly supportive of the approach taken by the IPSASB. This Table is intended to 
give a broad overview of whether respondents supported the IPSASB’s approach (not to 
summarize agreement or disagreement with each question). It includes references to some, but not 
all, questions where respondents disagreed with proposals. 
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Table 1 Overview of Level of Support  

R# Staff view on level of support  

01 Generally supportive 
Disagrees with ED 49 SMC 5 (re controlling entity that is not an investment entity)  

02 Generally supportive 
Disagrees with ED 49 SMC 5 (re controlling entity that is not an investment entity) 

03 Support approach – limit changes to IFRS to unique public sector circumstances  

04 Support approach – limit changes to IFRS to unique public sector circumstances 
Disagrees with ED 49 SMC 5 (re controlling entity that is not an investment entity) 

05 Generally supportive 

06 Commented on ED 50 only 
Disagrees with ED 50 – the concept of significant influence is not appropriate for the public sector. 

07 Generally supportive 
Reconsider requirements for Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) once GBE project finished 

08 Commented on ED 49 only 
Mixed views – do not disagree with general approach but disagree with some proposals  

09 Strong support for approach 

10 Not supportive of approach 

11 Not supportive of approach  

12 Not supportive of approach  

13 Generally supportive 

14 Generally supportive 

15 Commented on ED 49 only 
Concerns/comments about ED 49 SMC 2 (definition of control) 

16 Generally supportive 

17 Generally supportive 

18 Generally supportive  

19 Generally supportive 

20 Support approach 
ED 49 – some concerns about SMC 4 (investment entities) 

21 Generally supportive  
ED 49 – Provides suggestions for clarification and improvement 

22 Commented on ED 49 only 
Supportive, particularly of investment entity proposals 

23 Support approach – limit changes to IFRS to unique public sector circumstances 
Review “Rules of the Road” approach to developing IPSASs 

24 Generally supportive  
Disagrees with ED 49 SMC 3 (temporary control) 
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R# Staff view on level of support  

25 Generally supportive 

26 Generally supportive 
Provides suggestions for clarification and improvement 

27 Indicates support for project but disagrees with some conclusions 
Disagrees with ED 49 – there should be a distinction between core and peripheral activities  

28 Generally supportive 
Disagrees with structure of EDs 50 and 51 
Comments on ED 49 – allow for exceptions to consolidation 

29 Generally supportive  

30 Generally supportive  
Urges IPSASB to complete the project on public sector combinations 

31 Commented on ED 49 only 
Disagrees with ED 49 guidance on control when more than one entity might have control  

32 Commented on ED 49 only 
Disagrees with ED 49 SM3 (temporary control) 

33 Generally supportive  

18. Those expressing fundamental disagreement with the approach to the project held strong views, 
some of which will be considered in more detail in the context of specific EDs. Their disagreement 
with the approach taken needs to be considered in the context of the widespread support for that 
approach, and the fact that some respondents cautioned the IPSASB against making too many 
changes to the underlying IFRS requirements.  

19. Many aspects of the EDs are similar to existing IPSASs and much of the public sector specific 
guidance in the EDs is based on that in existing standards. Although the proposed definition of 
control differs from that in IPSAS 6, the proposed definition would be expected to lead to marginal 
change, rather than widespread change to those entities identified as controlled.  

Structure of EDs 

20. Some respondents commented on the structure of the EDs and proposed a different way of 
organizing the proposed requirements. Comments on structure included: 

(a) Propose that all requirements on associates be located in one standard, and all requirements 
on joint arrangements be located in another standard (R28); and 

(b) A suggestion that disclosures be located in each ED (R13). 

21. The material in the EDs could be restructured to deal with some of the respondents’ comments. 
There is nothing inherently right or wrong about the location of some requirements (such as the 
location of disclosure requirements in a separate standard). However, staff propose that the 
IPSASB continue with the structure used in the EDs for the following reasons: 

(a) The majority of respondents did not identify concerns with the structure of the EDs; and 

(b) A number of constituents are familiar with the structure of the IASB’s equivalent standards. 
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22. Comments proposing the relocation of guidance within an ED are considered in the context of that 
ED. 

Matter(s) for Consideration 

1. Does the IPSASB agree that there is sufficient support for this project to proceed to develop 
standards based on EDs 48 to 52? 

2. Does the IPSASB agree to develop standards using the same structure as the EDs? 

ED 48 Separate Financial Statements  
Background on ED 48 

23. ED 48 was based on IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (2011), having regard to the public 
sector modifications in IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

24. Some jurisdictions require that entities which have interests in controlled entities prepare both 
consolidated financial statements and separate financial statements. Consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in respect of the economic entity. Separate financial statements are 
prepared in respect of the legal entity.2 ED 48 does not require that separate financial statements 
be produced. It specifies requirements for separate financial statements if they are produced. The 
statements of an entity that has no controlled entities, joint ventures or associates are not referred 
to as separate financial statements.  

25. There is one key difference between ED 48 and IAS 27 (2011).  ED 48 permits investments in 
controlled entities, joint ventures and associates to be accounted for in separate financial 
statements using the equity method, at cost or as financial instruments in accordance with 
IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The reasons for the IPSASB’s 
decision to permit the use of the equity method in separate financial statements are explained in the 
Basis for Conclusions on ED 48 at paragraph BC5. These include meeting user needs, lower cost 
and that the equity method is a well-established method of accounting for certain investments in the 
public sector. 

26. IAS 27 (Amended in 2011) does not permit the use of the equity method in separate financial 
statements. However, the IASB has been reconsidering this matter. The IASB received requests to 
reinstate the use of the equity method in this Standard because the use of the equity method in 
separate financial statements is a regulatory requirement in some jurisdictions. In December 2013 
the IASB issued ED 2013/10 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Proposed 
amendments to IAS 27) which proposed to permit the use of the equity method in separate financial 
statements.   

2  Although the distinction between consolidated and separate financial statements is the most common scenario, the term 
separate financial statements is used to refer to statements in which an entity with interests in associates or joint ventures 
prepares financial statements in which it accounts for its interests in those associates or joint ventures in accordance with 
ED 48 rather than ED 50.  
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Analysis of Responses on ED 48  

27. Specific Matter for Comment 1 (SMC 1) asked for respondents’ views regarding ED 48 generally 
and, in particular, on the use of the equity method in separate financial statements.  The staff 
analysis of comments on ED 48 SMC 1 is shown below.  

ED 48 SMC 1  

Do you agree generally with the proposals for separate financial statements?  In particular, 
do you agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method, in addition to cost or 
fair value, for investments in other entities? 

TOTAL 

A1 – AGREE 16 

A2 – AGREE (SUBJECT TO ALIGNMNENT WITH IFRS) 6 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 2 

C – DISAGREE 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 26 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 1 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 48 27 

28. A majority of respondents supported the proposal to permit the use of the equity method in 
separate financial statements. A subgroup of 6 respondents also supported this proposal, but 
indicated that their support was conditional on the IASB also permitting the use of the equity 
method in separate financial statements. An update on the IASB’s deliberations is provided below. 
As at April 2014 the IASB has tentatively agreed to proceed with its proposal to permit the use of 
the equity method in separate financial statements. 

29. Two respondents (R23 and R29) disagreed with the IPSASB’s proposal to permit the use of the 
equity method in separate financial statements. Comments from these respondents included: 

(a) R23 regards the equity method as a method of consolidation, and therefore inappropriate to 
be used in non-consolidated financial statements. R23 did however, consider that, in the 
absence of cost information, the equity method could be used as a deemed cost amount at 
the point of initial recognition, with either a cost or revaluation model being applied 
subsequently. 

(b) R29 considered that options should be reduced or eliminated where possible in financial 
statements.3  R29 considered that cost or revaluation measures provide the most relevant 
information. R29 also noted that they did not support the IASB’s reasons for proposing to 
reintroduce the equity method.  

3  A related comment was made by another respondent that was classified as supporting the IPSASB’s proposal.  R26 suggested 
that the IPSASB should consider whether the qualitative characteristics would be satisfied if a standard permitted three 
methods of accounting for investments.  
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Update on IASB ED/2013/10 

30. The IASB received strong support from respondents on its proposal to permit the use of the equity 
method in accounting for an entity’s investment in the investees in its separate financial statements.  
The IASB has tentatively decided to proceed with these amendments. More detail about this IASB 
project is set out in Appendix A of this issues paper. 

Use of the equity method to obtain deemed cost 

31. Respondent R23 objected to the unrestricted use of the equity method in separate financial 
statements. Instead, R23 proposed that the equity method be permitted as a deemed cost amount 
on initial recognition.   

32. When the IPSASB agreed to continue to permit the use of the equity method in separate financial 
statements, the difficulty of obtaining cost information was one of the factors that it considered. 
R23’s proposal would address this concern. However, in previous IPSASB discussions, some 
members also expressed the view that the use of the equity method provides useful information in 
separate financial statements. R23’s proposal to limit the use of the equity method to the point of 
initial recognition would not be consistent with this view. 

33. Given the overall level of support for permitting the equity method, R23’s proposal has not been 
further considered.  

Qualitative characteristics  

34. Two respondents (R23 and R26) queried whether permitting three methods of accounting for 
investments in separate financial statements was consistent with the qualitative characteristic of 
comparability. Given that IPSAS 6 currently permits all three methods of accounting and the 
IPSASB indicated a strong desire to retain the equity method as a permitted option, staff have not 
further considered this issue.  

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 48 SMC 1 
2. The IPSASB is asked to:  

(a) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 48 SMC 1, including the high level of support for the 
option to use the equity method in separate financial statements;  

(b) NOTE that (i) some respondents’ support was conditional upon the IASB proceeding to 
reintroduce the equity method in separate financial statements, and (ii) the IASB has 
tentatively agreed to proceed with this proposal;  

(c) NOTE the concerns raised regarding the use of three methods of accounting and the 
qualitative characteristic of comparability; and 

(d) AGREE to continue developing an IPSAS based on ED 48 which permits the use of the 
equity method in separate financial statements. 
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ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements  
Background on ED 49 

35. ED 49 was based on IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the relevant public sector 
modifications in IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and relevant examples 
developed by national standard setters such as the Accounting Standards Board (AASB). The 
IPSASB also reviewed GFS requirements and considered whether further alignment with GFS was 
possible.   

36. The IPSASB had extensive discussions on whether there should be exemptions from consolidation 
and, if so, which entities should be exempted and how they should be accounted for. The Basis for 
Conclusions on ED 49 referred to these deliberations. Agenda paper 3.0 from June 2013 
summarized those discussions. The deliberations from meetings that are particularly relevant to 
ED 49 are summarized here.  

37. In December 2012 the IPSASB considered whether there should continue to be an exemption for 
temporarily controlled entities. The IPSASB did not support keeping the current exception in 
IPSAS 6.  Nor did the IPSASB support having a temporary control exception but making it more 
restrictive than what was in IPSAS 6. The IPSASB agreed to consider removing the temporary 
control exception altogether or possibly requiring that temporarily controlled entities be equity 
accounted. The IPSASB also agreed to consider the possible application of equity accounting to 
various categories of controlled entities, including entities that have been rescued from financial 
distress and Government Business Enterprises. 

38. In March 2013 the IPSASB considered possible exemptions from the consolidation requirements in 
the ED dealing with consolidation and alternative accounting methods for any such entities. The 
IPSASB also considered alternative ways of presenting information on certain controlled entities in 
consolidated financial statements. The IPSASB noted the potential difficulties in operationalizing 
exemptions and the risk that such exemptions could lead to dissimilar accounting treatment for 
similar entities. Some of the options considered in March 2013 were: 

(a) The presentation of two lots of information on the face of the financial statements with one 
column showing the line by line consolidation of all controlled entities and another column 
showing some controlled entities as investments.   

(b) The presentation of consolidated financial statements but with information about certain 
controlled entities being shown in separate line items on the face of those consolidated 
financial statements (for example, presenting the total assets of entities in distress as a single 
line item).   

(c) The presentation of consolidated financial statements together with additional information 
about certain controlled entities (such as entities in distress) in the notes (so that users could 
adjust the consolidated financial statements for those entities if they wished). 

(d) The consolidation of most controlled entities, but with the use of equity accounting for certain 
controlled entities.  

39. Members had mixed views on the various options discussed at that meeting.  None of the options 
had the full support of members. Some members saw equity accounting as being an 
acceptable option in the context of moving towards full consolidation over time. Members also 
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raised other options for consideration, including the separate presentation of consolidated financial 
information by function or by statistical sector such as the General Government Sector. The 
IPSASB agreed to give these matters further consideration at its June 2013 meeting.  

40. In June 2013 the IPSASB considered:  

(a) Whether to include an exception from consolidation for investment entities. The IPSASB 
agreed to require that investment entities account for their investments at fair value. 

(b) Whether to mandate the presentation of consolidated financial information by statistical 
sectors (at a whole-of-government level) and, in conjunction with this, make the presentation 
of consolidated financial statements optional. The IPSASB  

(i) Agreed not to proceed with this option in the context of this project; and 

(ii) Agreed that the issue of whether IPSAS 22 should be mandatory should be considered 
in the context of the project on Alignment of IPSASs with Public Sector Statistical 
Reporting Guidance.  

41. In June 2013 the IPSASB also considered a background paper that discussed possible groups of 
public sector entities, the characteristics of those groups and possible user needs associated with 
those groups.  

42. At the conclusion of its June meeting the IPSASB decided to propose the consolidation of all 
controlled entities, other than the exceptions(s) from consolidation relating to investment entities.  
The IPSASB also agreed to seek the views of constituents as to whether there are any categories 
of entities that should not be consolidated, with any proposals for non-consolidation being justified 
having regard to user needs. 

43. The staff analysis of comments on ED 49 SMCs 1 to 6 follows.  

Analysis of Responses on ED 49 SMC 1 

ED 49 SMC 1 

Do you agree with the proposed definition of control?  
If not, how would you change the definition? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 23 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 1 

C – DISAGREE 5 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 29 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49 31 
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44. The definition of “control” from ED 49 and the related definitions of “benefits”, “power” and “relevant 
activities” are shown below. In addition, the description of returns in IFRS 10 is shown below.  

Extracts from ED 49 

Control: An entity controls another entity when the entity is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable benefits from its involvement with the other entity and has the ability to affect 
the nature and amount of those benefits through its power over the other entity. 

Benefits are the advantages an entity obtains from its involvement with other entities. 
Benefits may be financial or non-financial. Benefits can have positive or negative 
aspects. 

Power consists of existing rights that give the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of another entity, including the right to direct the financial and operating 
policies of that entity. 

Relevant activities (for the purpose of this Standard), are activities of the potentially 
controlled entity that significantly affect the nature or amount of the benefits that an 
entity receives from its involvement with that other entity. 

Extract from IFRS 10 

An investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
when the investor’s returns from its involvement have the potential to vary as a result of the 
investee’s performance. The investor’s returns can be only positive, only negative or wholly 
positive and negative 

45. The key public sector modifications made in developing these definitions were: 

(a) The term “benefits” was used rather than “returns”. The definition in ED 49 highlighted that 
benefits may be financial or non-financial. IFRS 10 did not define the term “returns”. Instead 
IFRS 10, paragraph 15, described returns as shown above. The IPSASB also included 
examples of financial and non-financial benefits in the body of the proposed Standard. 

(b) The IPSASB amended the definition of “power” by adding a reference to “the right to direct 
the financial and operating policies of that entity”. The reason for making this change was not 
discussed in the Basis for Conclusions. Staff’s recollection is that the IPSASB considered 
that one of the most common ways in which a public sector entity would have power over the 
relevant activities of another entity was by directing the financial and operating policies of that 
entity. The IPSASB considered that, for the avoidance of doubt, it would be helpful to include 
this in the definition; and 

(c) The IFRS 10 terms “investor” and “investee” were replaced with references to “the entity”, 
“the other entity” and “the entity being assessed for control” as appropriate.   

46. Sections of the Basis for Conclusions on ED 49 that are relevant to these definitions are: 

(a) Control – paragraphs BC27 and BC28; 

(b) Power – paragraphs BC29 to BC37; and 

(c) Terminology (including the use of the term benefits) – paragraphs BC38 to BC47. 
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47. Comments from respondents that were classified as supporting the proposed definition of control 
included: 

(a) A number of respondents supported the use of terminology appropriate to the public sector, 
and more specifically, the use of term “benefits” rather than “returns”.   

(b) Respondents made various comments about how the discussion of benefits should be 
changed or expanded to address the range of circumstances that can occur in the public 
sector.  For example:  

(i) R17 suggested more emphasis be given to examples of non-financial benefits. 

(ii) Both R16 and R21 suggested that there needed to be explicit discussion of indirect 
complementary benefits.  

(iii) R21 suggested that there needs to be more discussion of the ways in which 
predetermined activities can give rise to control.   

(iv) R21 also suggested that the discussion of benefits should highlight that the 
assessment is based on the benefits that an entity expects to receive rather than the 
benefits that it actually receives.  

(v) R30 queried whether there needs to be additional guidance to assist in making 
assessments of control when more than one entity benefits from the activities of 
another entity. R31 also commented on this point and suggested that the changes 
made to IFRS 10 inadvertently broadened the matters to be considered. R31 
considered that paragraph 24 of the ED needs to be revised. 

(c) R16 was particularly supportive of the IPSASB’s explanation that determination of the 
economic entity will need to be made with regard to user needs, the definition of an economic 
entity and the constitutional arrangements in a jurisdiction. 

(d) R01, R03, R16 and R21 supported the definition of control, but not the addition of the words 
“including the right to direct the financial and operating policies of that entity” in the 
associated definition of power. R16 suggested that this be addressed in the application 
guidance only. However, others, such as R02, supported these words being added to the 
definition. 

(e) A number of respondents expressed support for the addition of public sector examples. Some 
of these respondents suggested improvements to, or clarification of, the examples (see also 
other comments on ED 49). R28 noted the importance of distinguishing between regulatory 
and other forms of control and considered that the examples were necessary for this 
purpose. 

(f) R23 noted that, for practical reasons, the definition of control may be applied, and lists of 
controlled entities may be drawn up. R23 suggested that the standard could refer to the use 
of such lists. 

48. R27, who was classified as partially agreeing with SMC 1, expressed the view that there should be 
a distinction between core activities and other activities. 
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49. Comments from respondents classified as disagreeing with SMC 1 included: 

(a) R10 considered that:  

(i) The identification of the reporting entity should have been a prerequisite for the 
issuance of ED 49. (R13 made similar comments); 

(ii) The concept of control should have been further adapted for the public sector. (R12 
made a similar comment); and 

(iii) Other forms of aggregation, not solely consolidation, should have been explored. 

(b) R11 had fundamental concerns that the notion of control used in the private sector did not 
translate well to the public sector.  

(c) R12 considered that definition of the reporting entity based on areas of responsibility, as in 
the public sub-sectors defined in statistical accounting, would be more appropriate. 

(d) R15 expressed doubts about the concept of control as applied to the domain of sovereign 
governments and concern about the potential differences between assessments of control 
using GFS guidance and the IPSASB’s definition of control.  

50. Staff’s impression is that overall, respondents were very supportive of the proposed definition of 
control. With respect to comments from respondents that were classified as agreeing, or partially 
agreeing, with ED 49 SMC 1 the key issues seem to be: 

(a) Whether the definition of power should include the additional phrase “including the right to 
direct the financial and operating policies of that entity”. This is discussed in more detail 
below; and  

(b) Suggestions for improving the discussion of benefits. At this stage staff are seeking the 
IPSASB’s agreement to consider these suggestions in drafting the standard based on ED 49. 
The revised text would then be considered by the IPSASB at a future meeting.  

Definition of Power 

51. Four respondents recommended removing the phrase “including the right to direct the financial and 
operating policies of that entity” from the definition of power. Most of these respondents stated that 
they could see no public sector reason to depart from the IFRS 10 definition. As staff explained 
above, the IPSASB added the phrase because this was expected to be one of the most common 
ways in which a public sector entity would have power over another entity, and the IPSASB thought 
it would be helpful to readers to make this clear (and these could be regarded as public sector 
reasons for the modification).   

52. R21 recommended removing the phrase for different reasons. R21 considered that:  

(a) The idea is adequately discussed in ED 49 paragraph 19 (shown below); and  

(b) It could be read as implying that, in order to have power, an entity must have the ability to 
direct the financial and operating policies of the other entity (and they did not think the 
IPSASB intended this).  
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Extract from ED 49  

19.  An entity has power over another entity when the entity has existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e., the activities that significantly affect the 
nature or amount of the benefits from its involvement with the other entity. The right to direct 
the financial and operating policies of another entity indicates that an entity has the ability to 
direct the relevant activities of another entity. 

53. Staff seek feedback from the IPSASB on whether it wishes to keep the additional phrase at the end 
of the definition of power. If the IPSASB does wish to keep that phrase, staff suggest the following 
change to avoid the implication that in order to have power, an entity must have the ability to direct 
the financial and operating policies of the other entity. 

Possible change for consideration by the IPSASB: 

Power consists of existing rights that give the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of another entity, and is often indicated by including the right to direct the 
financial and operating policies of that entity. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 SMC 1 
3. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the high level of support for the proposed definition of control in ED 49; 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 49 SMC 1,  

 (c) NOTE that some of the comments by R10, R11 and R12 relate to the overall approach to 
this project and were considered in the general comments section earlier in this issues 
paper;  

 (d) NOTE that the IPSASB did consider forms of aggregation other than consolidation in 
developing ED 49 and AGREE that this should be explained in the Basis for Conclusions; 

 (d) PROVIDE FEEDBACK on which option it prefers for the definition of power: 

  (i) Keep the definition that was in ED 49, with no change; 

  (ii) Delete the phrase about directing the financial and operating policies of an entity from 
the definition; or 

  (iii) Amend the definition to say that power is “often indicated by” the right to direct the 
financial and operating policies of an entity; 

 (e) AGREE that respondents’ suggestions for improving the discussion of benefits be taken into 
account in developing the standard based on ED 49.  
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Analysis of Responses on ED 49 SMC 2 

ED 49 SMC 2 

Do you agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the 
circumstances proposed in this Exposure Draft)?   

If you consider that certain categories of entities should not be consolidated, please justify 
your proposal having regard to user needs and indicate your preferred accounting 
treatment for any such controlled entities.  

If you have any comments about temporarily controlled entities, please respond to Specific 
Matter for Comment 3. 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 22 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 2 

C – DISAGREE 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 27 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 4 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49 31 

54. The Basis for Conclusions on ED 49 (paragraphs BC3 to BC26) summarizes the IPSASB’s 
deliberations on the scope of the proposed Standard. The process followed in developing ED 49 
was discussed earlier in this issues paper and involved consideration of both different possible 
exemptions and different ways of accounting. As noted in paragraph BC16, following these 
deliberations the IPSASB decided to propose the consolidation of all controlled entities, other than 
the exception(s) from consolidation relating to investment entities. The IPSASB also agreed to seek 
the views of constituents as to whether there are any categories of entities that should not be 
consolidated, with any proposals for non-consolidation being justified having regard to user needs.  

55. Comments made by those classified as agreeing with SMC 2 included: 

(a) A number of respondents (for example, R01, R02, R03, R08, R09, R10, R21, R26) noted 
their support for the application of a single control model, with investment entities being the 
only exception to consolidation.  

(b) A number of respondents supported the proposals on conceptual grounds (for example, R02, 
R21, R23). R02 commented that the proposals would be consistent with the objectives of 
financial reporting in the framework. Similarly R21 expressed the view that consolidation of all 
controlled entities improves transparency and assists assessments of accountability. 
R23 expressed similar views. R21 noted that there is a demand for budget sector financial 
statements and statistical reports but did not consider that meeting these needs is the 
objective of general purpose financial statements. Instead R21 considered that there might 
be an opportunity to meet these information needs through supplementary reporting.  

(c) R28 generally agreed with the proposal but expressed the view that there may be exceptional 
cases where consolidation should not be required. R28 considered that such circumstances 
should be addressed through legislation.  
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(d) R02 considered that the focus on control would reduce opportunities to use the way in which 
interests in other entities are structured to achieve desired results. 

(e) Some respondents (R01, R22) noted that the approach taken in the ED was consistent with 
IFRS 10 and they saw no public sector specific reason for divergence. 

(f) Some respondents (R03, R08) took the opportunity to note their disagreement with the 
proposal to extend the exception to the controlling entity of an investment entity that is not 
itself an investment entity. This issue was specifically addressed in ED 49 SMC 5. 

(g) R24 supported the approach taken, subject to there being no dissent from major 
stakeholders. 

56. Comments from respondents who were classified as partially agreeing with SMC 2 included.  

(a) R15 noted agreement in principle but, having regard to the costs of consolidation and their 
view that few decisions are made at a whole of government level, considered that 
consolidation of sectors of government might be more useful. Staff note that the IPSASB 
explicitly considered consolidation of sectors of government when developing ED 49.  

(b) R18 noted their disagreement with the proposal not to exempt temporarily controlled entities 
(discussed further under ED 49 SMC 3). 

57. Comments from those classified as disagreeing with SMC 2 included: 

(a) Three respondents (R07, R12 and R274) considered that a different approach should be 
taken to core state activities and other commercial activities. R07 invited the IPSASB to 
reconsider consolidation of Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) once the project to 
review the current definition of GBEs has been completed. R07 indicated that the use of the 
modified equity method for GBEs was regarded as meeting user needs in Canada. 
R12 proposed that full consolidation be limited to non-business entities, implementing public 
policies, funded mainly by public or sovereign resources, and supervised by the State.  

(b) R11 considered that requiring consolidation of all controlled entities is excessive.  

(c) R12 proposed that only material entities be consolidated and suggested that materiality 
thresholds would be required. Staff note that the Conceptual Framework (paragraph 3.34) 
explains that, subject to the requirements of any IPSAS, entities preparing GPFRs will also 
consider how materiality affects the application of a particular accounting policy. Entities 
applying IPSASs will therefore have determined materiality thresholds for various items. One 
aspect of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project is intended to assist constituents with the 
application of materiality. If, following feedback on its strategy and work program consultation, 
the IPSASB decides to undertake a similar project, the IPSASB could consider whether any 
of the guidance on materiality in various IPSASs should be more explicit.  

58. When the IPSASB was deliberating on ED 49, staff put forward a rebuttable presumption that 
consolidation of controlled entities meets user needs and that an IPSAS should depart from this 
requirement only where it is possible to justify that consolidation does not meet user needs.  

4  R27 did not comment specifically on SMC 2 but, in their response to SMC 1, they expressed the view that only entities that 
perform core activities should be consolidated.  In their opinion controlled entities that do not perform core activities should 
accounted for using the equity method. 
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Investment entities are an example of where this argument has been applied to justify different 
requirements. The IPSASB proceeded on this basis and sought feedback from constituents.  Not 
surprisingly, some respondents consider that consolidation should be restricted to certain types of 
entities (such as core state activities or entities other than GBEs). However, such respondents were 
in a minority and there was considerable support for the proposals in ED 49.   

59. If the IPSASB did wish to consider the suggestions from this subset further, staff note that splitting 
entities into groups according to whether they perform core functions of government or not involves 
judgment and may not lead to consistent treatment of similar entities across different jurisdictions.  
Core functions of government might be regarded as policy advice, delivery of goods and services to 
the public, administration, collection of revenue, distribution of benefits. However, the way in which 
government activities are organized varies between jurisdictions and most spending functions 
performed by government are also performed by the private sector.   

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 SMC 2 
4. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the high level of support for the proposal that an entity should consolidate all 
controlled entities (except in the circumstances proposed in ED 49); 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 49 SMC 2; 

 (c) NOTE that a subset of respondents proposed that full consolidation be limited to certain 
types of entities; and 

 (d) AGREE to proceed to develop a standard based on ED 49 that requires consolidation of all 
controlled entities, except in the circumstances proposed in ED 49. 

Analysis of Responses on ED 49 SMC 3 

ED 49 SMC 3 

Do you agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6, Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements (December 2006) for temporarily controlled entities? If you 
agree with the withdrawal of the exemption please give reasons.   

If you disagree with the withdrawal of the exemption please indicate any modifications that 
you would propose to the exemption in IPSAS 6 (December 2006). 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 20 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 2 

C – DISAGREE 5 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 27 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 4 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49 31 

60. The matters considered by the IPSASB in formulating this proposal were outlined in the Basis for 
Conclusions on ED 49, paragraph BC11. An Alternative View on this proposal was also included in 
ED 49 (following the Basis for Conclusions). There was a strong level of support for the proposal to 
withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 for temporarily controlled entities. 
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61. Comments from respondents classified as agreeing with the proposal included: 

(a) A number of respondents (R09, R14, R21 and R26) noted that even where the intention is to 
have short term control, longer term control is often unavoidable. R12 commented that it can 
be difficult to assess the expected term of control at the beginning of an arrangement. 

(b) A number of respondents (R02, R14, R16, R21, R23 and R29) supported the withdrawal of 
the exemption on the grounds that it would lead to more “complete” reporting. Examples of 
these comments are provided. R02 considered that the withdrawal of the exemption would 
ensure that entities report on all risks to which they are exposed. R09 and R14 commented 
that consolidation is required to fully highlight the risks and costs involved in the public sector 
taking control of entities. R16 considered consolidation is necessary to show all the assets, 
obligations, revenues and expenses of the reporting entity. R29 commented that removal of 
the exemption gives a complete record of all the transactions of the group of entities.  

(c) R02 and R26 commented that the withdrawal of the exemption will remove the difficulties 
associated with identifying temporarily controlled entities.  

(d) Two respondents (R02 and R28) commented on the potential for exemptions to be abused. 
R02 noted that the withdrawal of the exemption will remove the opportunities for entities to 
‘stretch’ the temporarily controlled definition to achieve desired reporting outcomes. R28 
noted the potential for abuse of temporary control exemptions. 

(e) R03 and R22 noted that the withdrawal of the exemption would be consistent with IFRS 10 
and expressed the view that there are no public sector specific issues that would warrant 
divergence from IFRS 10 on this matter. 

(f) R17 and R21 considered that disclosures about temporarily controlled assets are required 
(either by developing a standard based on IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations or by adding disclosures to ED 52). R23 noted that governments 
had the option of using segment information to provide disaggregated information. R26 
proposed additional disclosures (in their response to ED 52). The issue of disclosure is 
addressed in the analysis of ED 52 SMC 1.   

(g) R23 expressed the view that consolidation costs can be overstated.  

(h) R07 and R30 noted their general support for the IPSASB’s rationale in the Basis for 
Conclusions on ED 49 (R07). 

62. Comments from those that disagreed with the proposal included: 

(a) R32 provided a comprehensive response outlining their rationale for the exemption of certain 
temporary controlled entities from consolidation as follows: 

(i) There are exceptional circumstances where a public sector entity may exercise 
regulatory or other sovereign power and intervene in private sector entities and the 
standard should provide for these circumstances; 

(ii) Consolidating financial information related to entities where the public sector entity has 
less than permanent control provides misleading information in the public sector 
entity’s financial statements;  
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(iii) With respect to such non-permanent interventions, the principal users of the public 
sector entity’s financial statements are concerned with the investment recoverability 
and identification of further risks associated with the intervention activity; 

(iv) Note disclosures can provide a comprehensive understanding of the nature, benefits, 
and risks associated with the intervention activity that articulate the economic 
substance of the intervention activity without obscuring the public sector entity’s 
finances;  

(v) There would be significant costs to a public sector entity for the preparation and audit 
of consolidated financial information (including a temporarily controlled private sector 
entity) using IPSASB standards; and 

(vi) Consistent and sufficient criteria can be developed to identify categories of private 
sector entities which should not be consolidated. 

(b) R08 supported the arguments outlined in the Alternative View on ED 49 and considered that 
in certain situations (such as exceptional interventions and short term control) an exemption 
would be appropriate. R20 made similar comments about investments that are for reasons of 
public good. 

(c) R18 and R19 were of the view that costs of consolidating temporarily controlled entities would 
outweigh the benefits.  

(d) R19 and R20 suggested that IFRS 5 type disclosures might be appropriate. Two other 
respondents made general comments that removal of the exemption would not result in 
appropriate disclosure about temporarily controlled entities. The issue of disclosure is 
addressed in the analysis of ED 52 SMC 1.   

63. There are arguments for and against the removal of the temporary control exemption. However, 
there is clearly strong support for the IPSASB’s proposal to withdraw the temporary control 
exemption in IPSAS 6. Staff therefore recommend proceeding on this basis. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 SMC 3 
5. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the strong level of support for the IPSASB’s proposal to withdraw the temporary 
control exemption in IPSAS 6; 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 49 SMC 3;  

 (c) AGREE not to provide an exemption from consolidation for temporarily controlled entities; 
and 

 (d) NOTE that the issue of whether the IPSASB should develop a standard based on IFRS 5 is 
addressed in the analysis of ED 52 SMC 1.  

Analysis of Responses on ED 49 SMC 4 

ED 49 SMC 4  

Do you agree that a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity 
should be required to account for its investments at fair value through surplus or deficit? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 23 
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B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 3 

C – DISAGREE 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 27 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 4 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49 31 

64. The matters considered by the IPSASB in formulating this proposal were outlined in the Basis for 
Conclusions on ED 49, paragraphs BC17 to BC23. The IPSASB concluded that the definition of an 
investment entity in IFRS 10 was appropriate in the public sector, but that the typical characteristics 
of an investment entity from IFRS 10 would not generally be typical characteristics of such entities 
in the public sector and decided not to refer to typical characteristics in ED 49. The IPSASB also 
noted that any requirements for investment entities might apply to a relatively small number of 
public sector entities. 

65. The definition of an investment entity in ED 49 was: 

An investment entity is an entity that:  

(a) Obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those 
investor(s) with investment management services;  

(b) Has the purpose of investing funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, 
investment revenue, or both; and  

(c) Measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments 
on a fair value basis. 

66. Paragraphs AG88-AG105 described aspects of the definition of an investment entity in more detail.  
Illustrative Examples 49 to 53 considered whether entities were investment entities. 

67. Comments from respondents that agreed with the proposal included: 

(a) A number of respondents noted that the proposal was consistent with IFRS 10 and 
expressed the view that there was no public sector specific reason to diverge from the 
IFRS 10 requirements. 

(b) A number of respondents also expressed the view that accounting for such investments at 
fair value produces more useful and relevant information than consolidation. 

(c) R10 and R21 noted that there might be few public sector investment entities in practice. 

(d) R23 suggested that the Application Guidance could more clearly explain that strategic profit-
making investments, such as Government owned national airlines, would not be investment 
entities. Staff agree that this could be included as an additional illustrative example. 

68. Three respondents were classified as being in partial agreement.  

(a) R17 proposed that the permitted objectives of an investment entity should be expanded to 
include fostering entities in specific or regional areas. The proposed definition of an 
investment entity in ED 49 specified that an entity must have “the purpose of investing funds 
solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment revenue, or both”. An entity that has 
the objective of “fostering entities in specific or regional areas” would not meet this criterion. 
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Staff consider that R17’s suggestion would require a fundamental change to the definition of 
an investment entity and, therefore, do not support the proposal.  

(b) R20 supported the proposed requirements for investment entities but had a number of related 
suggestions. These suggestions included (i) extending the investment entity accounting 
requirements to investment entities that are classified as associates or joint ventures and 
(ii) aligning the requirements in ED 49 and ED 50 regarding investments held by, or indirectly 
through, an entity that is a venture capital organisation etc. ED 50 permits such investments 
to be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29. R20’s 
first proposal (regarding extending the investment entity accounting to interests in associates 
and joint ventures held by an investment entity) was supported by R29 (see ED 50 SMC 3). 
These comments are addressed in the analysis of ED 50 SMC 3. 

69. R12 disagreed with the proposal. R12 expressed concern about the potential increase in the 
volatility and pro-cyclicality of surplus or deficit. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 SMC 4 
6. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the strong level of support for the IPSASB’s proposal to require that a controlling 
entity that meets the definition of an investment entity account for its investments at fair value 
through surplus or deficit; 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 49 SMC 4;  

 (c) AGREE to add an additional example of an entity that would not be an investment entity (as 
proposed by R23); and 

 (d) AGREE not to amend the definition of an investment entity (as proposed by R17). 
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Analysis of Responses on ED 49 SMC 5 

ED 49 SMC 5  

Do you agree that a controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, but which 
controls an investment entity should be required to present consolidated financial 
statements in which it: 

(i) measures the investments of the controlled investment entity at fair value through 
surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, and  

(ii) consolidates the other assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses of the 
controlled investment entity in accordance with this Standard? 

Do you agree that the proposed approach is appropriate and practicable? If not, what 
approach do you consider would be more appropriate and practicable? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 20 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 2 

C – DISAGREE 6 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 28 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 3 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49 31 

70. IFRS 10 establishes specific requirements for investment entities, but does not permit those 
requirements to be applied at the next level up (that is, in the financial statements of an entity that 
controls an investment entity, but which is not itself an investment entity). The IPSASB did not 
consider that the IFRS 10 requirements would result in the most useful information for public sector 
users and decided to change those requirements. The IPSASB’s proposal is described in SMC 5 
above. This issue was discussed in ED 49 paragraphs BC24 to BC26.  

71. Respondents that agreed with the proposal noted their agreement with the arguments considered 
by the IPSASB including the IPSASB’s views that there is a lower risk of the structuring 
opportunities in the public sector, and consistent treatment of investments managed by an 
investment entity provides more useful information for users. In addition, R17 suggested that the 
Basis for Conclusions should also explain why the IFRS approach is considered to be impractical 
for public sector entities. 

72. Two respondents were classified as being in partial agreement. 

(a) R10 queried whether it is practicable to distinguish between fund management and ancillary 
services within the same investment entity and suggested that further guidance be provided 
to clarify the requirements for entities dealing with these two types of activities. Staff propose 
that the possibility of providing such guidance be considered further as the standard based 
on ED 49 is finalized. The IASB Interpretations Committee has recently been considering 
similar requests for guidance.   

(b) R08 agreed that the consolidation exception for investment entities should be rolled up to the 
ultimate controlling entity. However, R08 also commented that the accounting treatment of 
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investments of a controlling entity that manages its investments on a fair value basis should 
not depend on the existence of a consolidated investment entity and expressed concern that 
different organization structures in different jurisdictions may lead to different accounting 
outcomes. The possibility of different organization structures leading to different accounting 
outcomes was discussed in ED 49 paragraph BC25 (shown below). The IPSASB 
acknowledged that structuring to achieve different accounting outcomes could occur, but 
considered that this was less of a risk in the public sector than the private sector. The 
question for the IPSASB is the extent to which the definition of an investment entity would 
minimize this risk.   

Extract from ED 49 

BC25 The IPSASB noted that the IASB had concerns that if a non-investment controlling entity were required 
to retain the fair value treatment used by its controlled investment entities, it could achieve different 
accounting outcomes by holding controlled entities directly or indirectly through a controlled investment 
entity. The IPSASB considered that this issue was of less concern in the public sector context. In 
particular the IPSASB noted that ownership interests through shares or other equity instruments are 
less common in the public sector. As a consequence, it is less likely that entities within an economic 
entity in the public sector would hold an ownership investment in the ultimate controlling entity and less 
likely that they would have ownership investments in other entities within the economic entity. 

73. Respondents that were classified as disagreeing with the proposal commented as follows: 

(a) R01 noted their support for the IASB’s arguments for requiring that a non-investment 
controlling entity be required to consolidate controlled entities. That is, R01 considers that the 
requirement to account for investments at fair value should not extend to the controlling entity 
if that controlling entity is not also an investment entity. 

(b) A number of respondents (including R01, R02, R03; R04) considered that there was no 
public sector specific reason identified for the proposed difference from IFRS 10 and a subset 
(being R02, R03, R04) considered that the proposal could lead to accounting arbitrage or 
structuring opportunities. All these respondents come from a jurisdiction where the IASB’s 
investment entity requirements have been extensively debated and where there was concern 
about the appropriateness of the IASB’s proposals for investment entities.   

(c) R12 considered that there could be implementation difficulties and did not support investment 
valuation at fair value.  
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Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 SMC 5 
7. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the strong level of support for the IPSASB’s proposals regarding the accounting by a 
controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, but which controls an investment 
entity; 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 49 SMC 5;  

 (c) AGREE to continue with the proposals set out in ED 49 SMC 5; and  

 (d) AGREE to consider, at a future meeting, whether more guidance could be provided on 
distinguishing between fund management and ancillary services within the same investment 
entity. 

Analysis of Responses on ED 49 SMC 6 

ED 49 SMC 6  

The IPSASB has aligned the principles in this Standard with the Government Finance 
Statistics Manual 2013 (GFSM 2013) where feasible.  
Can you identify any further opportunities for alignment? 

TOTAL 

A – NO (No further opportunities identified) 17 

B – YES (Further opportunities identified) 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 19 

C – DID NOT COMMENT 12 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49 31 

 

74. At its September 2012 meeting the IPSASB considered an analysis of differences between the 
definitions of control in relevant financial reporting standards and the definitions of control and 
indicators of control in the Government Finance Statistics Manual 2013 (GFSM 2013). In ED 49 
paragraph BC27 the IPSASB explained that it had taken note of the approach taken in GFS in 
relation to control over an entity. Overall, it considered that the direction of the statistical indicators 
is on the same line as the approach in ED 49 and therefore the practical results of the respective 
analysis of control will largely coincide. The IPSASB also noted in other BC paragraphs (on 
regulatory control and golden shares) the similarities between the approach in ED 49, SNA 2008 
and GFSM 2013.  

75. At its June 2013 meeting the IPSASB considered a proposal that it mandate the presentation of 
consolidated financial information by statistical sectors (at a whole-of-government level) and, in 
conjunction with this, make the presentation of consolidated financial statements optional. In 
relation to the proposals regarding statistical sector reporting, the IPSASB:  

(a) Agreed not to proceed with the proposal to make the presentation of consolidated financial 
statements optional (in conjunction with mandatory sector reporting) at a whole of 
government level in the context of this project; and 
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(b) Agreed that the issue of whether IPSAS 22 Disclosure of Financial Information about the 
General Government Sector should be mandatory should be considered in the context of the 
project on Alignment of IPSASs with Public Sector Statistical Reporting Guidance. 

76. Two respondents to SMC 6 suggested changes to the ED. 

(a) R10 suggested that the reporting entity should be defined by reference to criteria based on 
area of responsibility (whether territorial (national or local) or social). This suggestion has 
been considered in response to ED 49 SMC 2.  

(b) R15 proposed including an example illustrating how consolidated statements can be 
presented using three columns for the GFS sectors and using the GFS definition of control.  
Staff propose that the Basis for Conclusions on ED 49 explain that, although the IPSASB 
decided not to provide guidance in this ED on the presentation of information on statistical 
sectors, it is possible for a government to present consolidated financial statements that are 
disaggregated by statistical sector. 

77. R10 and R12 noted their general disagreement with the IPSASB’s focus on alignment with 
statistical reporting requirements. R10 also considered that ED 49 did not explain how the IPSASB 
had aligned the ED’s principles with the GFSM 2013. Staff propose that they try to more explicitly 
highlight, in the Basis for Conclusions, ways in which the proposed standard and GFSM 2013 are 
aligned. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 SMC 6 
8. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 49 SMC 5; 

 (b) AGREE to more explicitly highlight, in the Basis for Conclusions, ways in which the proposed 
standard and GFSM 2013 are aligned; and  

 (c) AGREE to note, in the Basis for Conclusions, that although the IPSASB decided not to 
provide guidance in this ED on the presentation of information on statistical sectors, it is 
possible for a government to present consolidated financial statements that are 
disaggregated by statistical sector. 

Other Comments on ED 49 

78. In addition to the comments provided on the SMCs in ED 49, respondents also made a number of 
helpful suggestions and identified aspects of the ED where they considered that the text could be 
clarified or otherwise improved.  In particular there were a number of comments on the examples 
suggesting that they need to be reviewed to make sure that the facts used in the examples support 
the conclusions. It is proposed that staff work through these detailed suggestions for consideration 
by the IPSASB at a future meeting.  
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Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 49 Other comments 
9. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE that staff will consider more detailed comments on ED 49 in the process of revising 
the proposed standard;  

 (b) AGREE to review the examples in ED 49 having regard to:  

  (i) Respondents’ comments;  

  (ii) The final examples in AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured 
Entities [AASB 10, AASB 12 & AASB 1049]; and  

  (iii) Examples from other jurisdictions, such as the United Kingdom, where the application of 
IFRS 10 to public sector entities has been considered. 

ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
Background on ED 50 

79. ED 50 is relatively short and deals with two main topics: (i) the use of the concept of significant 
influence to identify associates and (ii) how to apply the equity method of accounting when 
accounting for associates and joint ventures. ED 50 was based on IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures (Amended in 2011), having regard to the public sector modifications 
that had previously been made in developing IPSAS 7 Investments in Associates. The title of ED 50 
refers to associates and joint ventures because the EDs proposed that the equity method be used 
for both associates and joint ventures. 

80. The scope of IPSAS 7 was limited to investments where there is an “ownership interest in the form 
of a shareholding or other formal equity structure”. The IPSASB agreed that some form of scope 
modification was required to ED 50 but the previous scope limitation in IPSAS 7 could not be used 
because joint ventures can take many forms, including partnership arrangements which do not 
have formal equity structures,. The IPSASB therefore decided to limit the scope of ED 50 to 
“quantifiable ownership interests”. This change was explained in the Basis for Conclusions on 
ED 50 and respondents were asked if the scope modification was appropriate.  

81. The IPSASB also proposed that, if there are no published price quotations for a financial asset that 
is a residual interest in what was previously an investment in an associate or joint venture, the 
carrying amount of the residual interest should be used as the initial cost for the financial asset 
(paragraph 26). There was no equivalent public sector modification in IPSAS 7 because it had less 
guidance on accounting for changes in the classification of an investment.  

82. There were three SMCs in ED 50. The staff analysis of comments on ED 50 SMCs 1 to 3 follows.  
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Analysis of ED 50 SMC 1  

ED 50 SMC 1  

Do you generally agree with the proposals in the Exposure Draft?  
If not, please provide reasons? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 15 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 5 

C – DISAGREE 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 21 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 50 23 

83. Issues raised by respondents to ED 50 SMC 1 included: 

(a) Concerns regarding the scope modification (R10, R12 and R23). These responses are 
considered under SMC 2 below;  

(b) The structure of the EDs. R28 considered that there should be one standard dealing with 
associates and one dealing with joint arrangements. R28’s comment was considered under 
the section on “General Comments” earlier in this paper;  

(c) General disagreement with the use of the equity method in the public sector (R06); and 

(d) Disagreement with the proposal to require that the carrying amount of a retained interest in 
an investment with no published price quotations be used as the cost on initial recognition of 
that retained interest (R01 and R03). 

Investments With No Published Price Quotations 

84. ED 50 paragraph 26 is shown below. The IPSASB’s modification, agreed in March 2013, regarding 
situations where there are no published price quotations is shown as italicized text.  

Extract from ED 50 

Discontinuing the Use of the Equity Method 

26 An entity shall discontinue the use of the equity method from the date when its investment 
ceases to be an associate or a joint venture as follows:  

(a) If the investment becomes a controlled entity, the entity shall account for its investment in 
accordance with the relevant national or international pronouncement dealing with public 
sector combinations and IPSAS XX (ED 49). 

(b) If the retained interest in the former associate or joint venture is a financial asset, the 
entity shall measure the retained interest at fair value. The fair value of the retained 
interest shall be regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in 
accordance with IPSAS 29. If there are no published price quotations, the entity shall 
measure the retained interest at the carrying amount of the investment at the date that it 
ceases to be an associate or joint venture and that carrying amount shall be regarded as 
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its cost on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with IPSAS 29. The entity 
shall recognize in surplus or deficit any difference between: 

 (i)  The fair value (or, where relevant, the carrying amount) of any retained interest and 
any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture; and  

 (ii)  The carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity method was 
discontinued. 

(c) When an entity discontinues the use of the equity method, the entity shall account for all 
amounts previously recognized directly in the entity’s net assets/equity in relation to that 
investment on the same basis as would have been required if the investee had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

85. R03’s comment is shown below. 

“We acknowledge that the IPSASB literature does not include a standard equivalent to IFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement. However, it is our understanding that there are occasions when under IFRS 13 the 
best measure of fair value is cost. Therefore, we consider the words added to paragraph 26(b) simply 
describe fair value in a particular situation where a cost measure is to be used as the input to the 
valuation technique used to measure fair value. We do not see this as a unique public sector issue and 
accordingly we do not believe the final standard should depart from IAS 28. Instead, if the IPSASB 
believed this material was important we would support its inclusion as guidance, to address the issue, 
until the IPSASB releases a fair value measurement standard equivalent to IFRS 13.”  

86. There is no IPSAS equivalent to IFRS 13, but IPSAS 29 does have guidance on assessing fair 
value when there is no active market for equity instruments (see extract from IPSAS 29 below).   

Extract from IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

No Active Market: Equity Instruments 

AG113. The fair value of investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in 
an active market and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an 
unquoted equity instrument (see paragraphs 48(c) and 49) is reliably measurable if (a) the 
variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is not significant for that instrument 
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed 
and used in estimating fair value.  

AG114. There are many situations in which the variability in the range of reasonable fair value 
estimates of investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price and 
derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity 
instrument (see paragraphs 48(c) and 49) is likely not to be significant. Normally it is possible 
to estimate the fair value of a financial asset that an entity has acquired from an outside party. 
However, if the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probabilities of 
the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed, an entity is precluded from measuring 
the instrument at fair value. 

87. As IPSAS 29 paragraph AG114 notes, there will be cases when an entity is precluded from using 
fair value. The question is whether the proposal in ED 50 was too prescriptive. Should ED 50 have 
directed entities to IPSAS 29 paragraphs AG113 and AG114 first, and then required that an entity 
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precluded from using fair value by paragraph AG114 use the carrying amount of the residual as the 
initial cost?   

88. TBG members had differing views on this issue. On the one hand the proposals in ED 50 
paragraph 26 are easier to understand and would lead to carrying amount being used as the initial 
cost of the financial asset.  On the other hand, referring entities to IPSAS 29 first might give a better 
answer for an investment that, although unquoted, is nevertheless profit generating.  Staff therefore 
seek feedback from the IPSASB as to which approach they prefer.   

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 50 SMC 1 
10. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 50 SMC 1; and 

 (b) PROVIDE FEEDBACK on whether to (i) keep the public sector modification in ED 50 
paragraph 26; or (ii) to require that, in the absence of published price quotations, an entity 
should first consider the guidance in IPSAS 29 paragraph AG114 in determining the initial 
cost of the financial asset. 

Scope of ED 50 

89. ED 50 SMC 2 sought views on the scope restriction in paragraph 3 of ED 50. Before considering 
the responses to ED 50 SMC 2, and the concerns identified by respondents, staff thought that it 
would be helpful to consider why the scope modifications to IPSAS 7 and ED 50 were considered 
necessary. Relevant extracts from ED 50 and IPSAS 7 are shown in Table 2 below. 

Table 2 Extracts: ED 50 and IPSAS 7 

ED 50  IPSAS 7  

3. This Standard shall be applied by all 
entities that are investors with significant 
influence over, or joint control of, an 
investee where the investment leads to the 
holding of a quantifiable ownership 
interest.  

1. An entity that prepares and presents 
financial statements under the accrual 
basis of accounting shall apply this 
Standard in accounting by an investor for 
investments in associates where the 
investment in the associate leads to the 
holding of an ownership interest in the 
form of a shareholding or other formal 
equity structure. However, it does not 
apply to ….  

4. This Standard provides the basis for 
accounting for ownership interests in 
associates and joint ventures. That is, the 
investment in the other entity confers on the 
entity the risks and rewards incidental to an 
ownership interest. This Standard applies only 
to quantifiable ownership interests, including 
ownership interests arising from investments 
in the formal equity structure (or its 
equivalent) of another entity. A formal equity 

3.  This Standard provides the basis for 
accounting for ownership interests in 
associates. That is, the investment in the 
other entity confers on the investor the risks 
and rewards incidental to an ownership 
interest. This Standard applies only to 
investments in the formal equity structure (or 
its equivalent) of an investee. A formal equity 
structure means share capital or an 
equivalent form of unitized capital, such as 
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ED 50  IPSAS 7  

structure means share capital or an 
equivalent form of capital, such as units in a 
property trust, but may also include other 
equity structures in which the entity’s interest 
can be measured reliably. Where the equity 
structure is poorly defined, it may not be 
possible to obtain a reliable measure of the 
ownership interest.  

units in a property trust, but may also include 
other equity structures in which the investor’s 
interest can be measured reliably. Where the 
equity structure is poorly defined, it may not 
be possible to obtain a reliable measure of the 
ownership interest. 

5. Some contributions made by public sector 
entities may be referred to as an “investment,” 
but may not give rise to an ownership interest. 
For example, a public sector entity may make 
a substantial investment in the development 
of a hospital that is owned and operated by a 
charity. While such contributions are non-
exchange in nature, they allow the public 
sector entity to participate in the operation of 
the hospital, and the charity is accountable to 
the public sector entity for its use of public 
monies. However, the contributions made by 
the public sector entity do not constitute an 
ownership interest, as the charity could seek 
alternative funding and thereby prevent the 
public sector entity from participating in the 
operation of the hospital. Accordingly, the 
public sector entity is not exposed to the risks, 
nor does it enjoy the rewards, that are 
incidental to an ownership interest.  

4.   Some contributions made by public sector 
entities may be referred to as an “investment” 
but may not give rise to an ownership interest. 
For example, a public sector entity may make 
a substantial investment in the development 
of a hospital that is owned and operated by a 
charity. While such contributions are non-
exchange in nature, they allow the public 
sector entity to participate in the operation of 
the hospital, and the charity is accountable to 
the public sector entity for its use of public 
monies. However, the contributions made by 
the public sector entity do not constitute an 
ownership interest, as the charity could seek 
alternative funding and thereby prevent the 
public sector entity from participating in the 
operation of the hospital. Accordingly, the 
public sector entity is not exposed to the risks, 
nor does it enjoy the rewards, that are 
incidental to an ownership interest. 

Significant Influence 

10. Whether an investor has significant influence 
over the investee is a matter of judgment 
based on the nature of the relationship 
between the investor and the investee, and on 
the definition of significant influence in this 
Standard. This Standard applies only to those 
associates in which an entity holds an 
ownership interest in the form of a 
shareholding or other formal equity structure. 

11.  If an entity holds an ownership interest in the 
form of a shareholding or other formal equity 
structure and it holds, directly or indirectly 
(e.g., through controlled entities), 20 per cent 
or more of the voting power of the investee, it 

Significant Influence 

11.  Whether an investor has significant influence 
over the investee is a matter of judgment 
based on the nature of the relationship 
between the investor and the investee, and on 
the definition of significant influence in this 
Standard. This Standard applies only to those 
associates in which an entity holds an 
ownership interest in the form of a 
shareholding or other formal equity structure. 

… 

13.  If the investor’s ownership interest is in the 
form of shares, and it holds, directly or 
indirectly (e.g., through controlled entities), 20 
percent or more of the voting power of the 
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ED 50  IPSAS 7  

is presumed that the entity has significant 
influence, unless it can be clearly 
demonstrated that this is not the case. 
Conversely, if the entity holds, directly or 
indirectly (e.g., through controlled entities), 
less than 20 per cent of the voting power of 
the investee, it is presumed that the entity 
does not have significant influence, unless 
such influence can be clearly demonstrated. 
A substantial or majority ownership by 
another investor does not necessarily 
preclude an entity from having significant 
influence. 

investee, it is presumed that the investor has 
significant influence, unless it can be clearly 
demonstrated that this is not the case. 
Conversely, if the investor holds, directly or 
indirectly (e.g., through controlled entities), 
less than 20 percent of the voting power of 
the investee, it is presumed that the investor 
does not have significant influence, unless 
such influence can be clearly demonstrated. 
A substantial or majority ownership by 
another investor does not necessarily 
preclude an investor from having significant 
influence. 

90. IPSAS 7 applied only to associates (with associates being defined as “an entity, including an 
unincorporated entity such as a partnership, over which the investor has significant influence, and 
that is neither a controlled entity nor an interest in a joint venture”). IPSAS 7 explained that under 
the equity method “the carrying amount [of the associate] is increased or decreased to recognize 
the investor’s share of surplus or deficit of the investee after the date of acquisition.” IPSAS 7 does 
not have a Basis of Conclusions for its scope modification. However, IPSAS 7 paragraphs 3 and 4 
indicate that the IPSASB was trying to acknowledge that there may be a wide range of 
arrangements between public sector entities, only some of which give an entity significant influence 
over another entity. IPSAS 7 paragraph 3 made the point that the investor’s interest must be 
capable of being measured reliably. The Comparison with IAS 28 at the back of IPSAS 7 reinforces 
this point.  It states that “it is unlikely that equity accounting could be applied unless the associate 
had a formal or other reliably measurable equity”. 

91. To summarize, the scope modification in IPSAS 7 was trying to exclude arrangements whereby: 

(a) An entity contributes funds to another entity but does not obtain an ownership interest as a 
result; and 

(b) An entity has an ownership interest, but that ownership interest is not reliably measureable.  

92. Although IPSAS 7 paragraph 1 used the words “shareholding or other formal equity structure”, 
paragraph 3 explained that “A formal equity structure …may also include other equity structures in 
which the investor’s interest can be measured reliably.” IPSAS 7 was clear that it could be applied 
to arrangements that took the form of a partnership. The definition of an associate was “An 
associate is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership, over which the 
investor has significant influence, and that is neither a controlled entity nor an interest in a joint 
venture”. The definition of an associate in ED 50 does not refer to partnerships. 

93. When the IPSASB developed ED 50 it noted that the ED would be used in accounting for 
associates and joint ventures. The IPSASB noted that joint ventures can take many forms and did 
not want to inappropriately exclude certain joint ventures such as partnerships from the scope of 
the ED. The IPSASB therefore proposed to limit the scope to arrangements which lead to the 
holding of a quantifiable ownership interest.  
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ED 50 SMC 2  

Do you agree with the proposal that the scope of the Exposure Draft be restricted to 
situations where there is a quantifiable ownership interest? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 15 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 3 

C – DISAGREE 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 21 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 50 23 

94. The majority of respondents supported the proposed scope.   

95. Three respondents (R01, R04 and R23) disagreed with the IPSASB’s proposal to permit the use of 
the equity method in separate financial statements. Comments from these respondents included: 

(a) R01 advised caution because other quantifiable economic interests can exist in addition to 
quantifiable ownership interests. Rights to joint venture outputs were cited as an example. 

(b) R04 queried whether this departure from IFRS was warranted and requested that the 
IPSASB reconsider this proposal. 

(c) R23 noted that there can be entities where the equity structure is not formalized, but the 
voting structure is.  In particular, R23 was concerned that the last sentence in paragraph 10 
was too restrictive and further limited the scope to arrangements that required the 
quantifiable ownership interest to be in the form of a shareholding or other formal equity 
structure. R23 noted that there could be other ways of establishing a quantifiable ownership 
interest.  

96. Some respondents that were classified as “agree” or “partially agree” indicated support for the 
IPSASB’s intention in making the modification but felt that further clarification was required. 
Comments from these respondents included: 

(a) R09 suggested that a formal definition of the “quantifiable ownership interest” would be 
helpful.  R09 also suggested that examples of where a quantifiable ownership does and does 
not exist would be helpful. 

(b) R12 considered that the notion of a “quantifiable ownership interest” requires clarification. 

(c) R16 and R26 considered that the IPSASB should provide guidance on how to account for 
entities on which the public sector entity exercises significant influence, without holding a 
quantifiable ownership interest. In a related comment R21 proposed that an entity should be 
required to disclose any unquantifiable ownership interests. 

(d) R26 commented that, as drafted in ED 50, the scope restriction may inappropriately preclude 
application of the standard to joint ventures that do not have formal equity structures (noting 
that joint ventures may be structured as partnerships). R26 proposed more guidance to 
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explain the scope restriction and, possibly, the addition of an example. R26 also proposed 
that the explanation of quantifiable ownership interest be expanded to refer to binding 
arrangements.   

(e) R20 considered that an investment entity with interests in associates and joint ventures 
should account for those investments at fair value. This comment is addressed under ED 50 
SMC 3. 

97. Staff consider that adopting R26’s suggestions would address most of the concerns raised by 
respondents regarding the scope restriction. As R26 pointed out in their comments, paragraph 4 of 
ED 50 notes that a quantifiable ownership interest includes interests that arise from a formal equity 
structure. The problem is that ED 50 (paragraphs 4, 5, 10 and 11) then focused on formal equity 
structures without giving any examples of other types of quantifiable ownership interests. 

98. Staff agree with R21 that disclosure of any non-quantifiable ownership interests (in the disclosure 
standard based on ED 52) would be appropriate. This suggestion is also noted in the analysis of 
ED 52. 

99. Staff considered the suggestions by R16 and R26 that the IPSASB should explain how to account 
for a non-quantifiable ownership interest. If an ownership interest is non-quantifiable it generally will 
not meet the definition of an asset, and therefore should not be recognized.  The question is 
whether there are likely to be any non-quantifiable ownership interests that have a reliably 
determinable fair value or cost and which could be accounted for as an investment in accordance 
with IPSAS 29. Staff seek feedback on this matter from the IPSASB.  

100. In considering respondents’ comments on ED 50 SMC 2 staff considered whether ED 50 (or ED 51) 
should also explain how to determine a joint venturer’s share of a joint arrangement. In considering 
this issue staff noted the following:  

(a) The proportion of an ownership interest in a joint arrangement and the proportion of other 
rights such as rights to outputs can be different.5  Staff have therefore considered how 
different proportions would affect the accounting for joint ventures and joint operations.  

(b) The definition of a joint operation refers to the parties with joint control having rights to the 
assets, and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. The joint operation may or 
may not be structured through a separate vehicle. If an entity has an interest in a joint 
operation it accounts for its share of each aspect of the joint operation (being assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses) in accordance with the terms of the arrangement. The 
terms of the arrangement might specify that the entity’s share is to be calculated in proportion 
to its ownership interest or in proportion to the activity carried out through the arrangement 
that is directly attributed to the entity. So, in the case of a joint operation, different proportions 
for different types of rights can occur without creating a problem. The key thing is that the 
joint arrangement describes how the entity’s share of assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses is determined.  

(c) Rights and obligations in relation to outputs need to be carefully considered because they 
may mean that the arrangement is a joint operation rather than a joint venture. If the parties 
have designed an arrangement structured through a separate vehicle so that the activities 

5  IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements paragraph BC 38 explicitly acknowledges this.   
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primarily aim to provide the parties with an output (that is, the parties have rights to 
substantially all the economic benefits of the assets held in the separate vehicle) then it might 
be a joint operation rather than a joint venture (ED 51 paragraphs AG31 and AG32). 

(d) The definition of a joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. A joint venture 
must be structured through a separate vehicle. Although a partnership could be a joint 
venture, partnerships would often be classified as joint operations.6 Because it is possible 
that a partnership could be a joint venture, the accounting standard dealing with joint 
ventures should acknowledge that a quantifiable ownership interest could be an interest in a 
partnership and should allow for the possibility that an ownership interest may not be linked 
to a formal equity structure.  

(e) How does an entity determine what proportion (for example, 30% or 50%) to use when 
applying the equity method? ED 50 (paragraph 18) states that the proportion is determined 
by reference to existing ownership interests. ED 50 (paragraphs 18 and 19) explains that 
existing ownership rights are determined by reference to voting rights.  

(f) Where an entity has an interest in a joint arrangement and its ownership interest and rights to 
outputs are different proportions it is possible that there might be two arrangements. ED 51 
example 4 (paragraphs IE 21 to IE 35) describes a situation where the joint arrangement is 
actually comprised of a joint operation (the manufacturing arrangement) and a joint venture 
(the distribution arrangement). 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 50 SMC 2 
11. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 50 SMC 2;  

 (b) AGREE to revise the scope section of ED 50 in line with R26’s suggestions;  

 (c) AGREE to revise ED 50 paragraphs 10 and 11 so that they are consistent with the scope 
section; and 

 (d) PROVIDE FEEDBACK on whether there are likely to be any non-quantifiable ownership 
interests that have a reliably determinable fair value or cost and which could be accounted 
for as an investment in accordance with IPSAS 29. 

Analysis of ED 50 SMC 3  

ED 50 SMC 3 

Do you agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for 
investments in joint ventures? If not, please provide reasons and indicate your preferred 
treatment? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 18 

6  The legal status of a partnership is determined by the legislation in a jurisdiction.  Often there is no separation between the 
parties and the partnership.  When there is no legal separation between the partners and the partnership, the partners have 
rights to assets and obligations for liabilities.  
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B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 2 

C – DISAGREE 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 22 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 1 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 50 23 

101. ED 50 SMC 3 was almost identical to ED 51 SMC 2 which asked “Do you agree that joint ventures 
should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity method?” As would 
be expected, the responses for the two questions were fairly consistent.   

102. Two respondents were classified as disagreeing with the proposal: 

(a) R06 considered that equity accounting is not appropriate for the public sector. 

(b) R10 had a general concern that there should have been more debate regarding the 
application of various methods (for example, equity method and consolidation) in various 
circumstances.  

103. Other respondents classified as “agree” or “partially agree” generally supported the use of equity 
accounting for joint ventures, but suggested changes to the proposals for venture capital 
organizations or the inclusion of specific requirements for investments in investment entities.  
Comments from these respondents included: 

(a) R09 considered that an investment in an associate or a joint venture held by, or held 
indirectly through, a venture capital organization, mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity 
should be accounted for at fair value through surplus or deficit. ED 50 paragraph 24 proposed 
that this be an option rather than a requirement. 

(b) R20 and R29 considered that, consistent with the proposals in ED 49, investments made by 
investment entities in associates and joint ventures should be required to be accounted for at 
fair value through surplus or deficit.   

(c) R21 suggested that the IPSASB consider recent implementation issues raised by IASB 
constituents in order to decide whether more guidance is required in respect of accounting for 
investment entities. 

(d) R17 considered that a more detailed rationale should be provided in the Basis for 
Conclusions (for example, regarding the decision not to permit the use of proportionate 
consolidation for joint ventures). This comment has not been addressed in the context of 
ED 50 as it is ED 51 that establishes the accounting requirements for joint arrangements. The 
Basis for Conclusions to ED 51 noted that the IPSASB considered that the accounting 
treatments permitted by ED 51 should be consistent with IFRS 11.  

The Fair Value Option  

104. The comments made by Respondents R09, R20 and R29 are related in that they all concern the 
fair value option set out in ED 50 paragraph 24 (and shown below). ED 50 proposed that entities 
such as venture capital organizations, mutual funds and unit trusts should have the option of 
accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures using the equity method or fair value 
through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29. The option was available to investments 
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held directly by a venture capital organization etc., or by investments held indirectly through a 
venture capital organization etc.  

Extract from ED 50  

24. When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is held by, or is held indirectly through, an 
entity that is a venture capital organization, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities 
including investment-linked insurance funds, the entity may elect to measure investments in 
those associates and joint ventures at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with 
IPSAS 29.  

25. When an entity has an investment in an associate, a portion of which is held indirectly through a 
venture capital organization, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including 
investment-linked insurance funds, the entity may elect to measure that portion of the 
investment in the associate at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29 
regardless of whether the venture capital organization, or the mutual fund, unit trust and similar 
entities including investment-linked insurance funds, has significant influence over that portion 
of the investment. If the entity makes that election, the entity shall apply the equity method to 
any remaining portion of its investment in an associate that is not held through a venture capital 
organization, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked 
insurance funds. 

105. This was not a new option. Venture capital organizations etc., previously had this option under 
IPSAS 7 and IPSAS 8 (and under the equivalent IFRSs), although those standards treated the 
option as a scope exception rather than a measurement exception.7  This accounting option had 
originally been made available in the IASB’s standards on the grounds that fair value measurement 
could provide more useful information in respect of entities such as venture capital organizations. 
The IASB permitted fair value measurement as an option and did not indicate whether it had 
considered making it mandatory.   

Fair Value – Optional or Mandatory?  

106. R09 considered that venture capital organizations etc. should not be given an option: R09 
considered they should be required to use fair value in accounting for associates and joint ventures.  

107. Staff recommend retaining fair value as an option for venture capital organizations etc. on the 
grounds that: 

(a) The option was previously available in IPSAS 7 and IPSAS 8; and 

(b) The option is available in IFRS 11 and staff have not identified any public sector specific 
reason to mandate the use of fair value.  

How does the Fair Value Option in ED 50 Apply to Investment Entities?  

108. R20 and R29 both suggested that the accounting requirements for investments in investment 
entities should be consistent across the various standards. Their verbatim comments are shown 
below. 

7  When the IASB developed IFRS 11 it decided that this accounting option was more appropriately characterized as a 
measurement exception than as a scope exception (IFRS 11 paragraph BC15). 
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Comments by R20 and R29 on ED 50 SMC 3 

R20 …We note that ED 50 permits investments held by, or indirectly through, an entity that is a 
venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity, including an 
investment-linked insurance fund, to be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in 
accordance with IPSAS 29. We consider that the requirements of ED 49 and ED 50 should be 
aligned in relation to this matter. Thus, we consider that ED 50 should refer to investment 
entities and require recognition of investments made by investment entities at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, rather than permitting it as an option. We note that, if this is not done, the 
manner in which an investment is accounted for could change as a result of a very minor 
change in the percentage of ownership, which we consider would undermine the usefulness of 
the financial statements. As the definition of an investment entity includes the requirement to 
manage investments on a fair value basis, if the Board concludes that ED 50 should not be 
amended in the manner that we have suggested, we consider that an entity should not be 
classified as an investment entity in ED 49 if it does not take the option in ED 50 to carry 
investments that would otherwise be classified as associates or joint ventures at fair value 
through surplus or deficit.   

R29 We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments 
in joint ventures, except where that investment is held by an investment entity. We suggest that 
the language in paragraph 24 and 25 is conformed with the investment entity language in ED 49 
paragraph 52. 

109. When the IASB created the exception from consolidation for controlled investment entities8 in 2012 
it did not establish specific fair value requirements for investment entities in relation to accounting 
for investments in associates or joint ventures. At a first glance this might seem to be inconsistent 
with the fact that IFRS 10, and the IPSASB’s ED 49, have specific investment entity requirements 
which require that an investment entity account for controlled entities at fair value through surplus 
or deficit. However, on closer inspection, it appears that the IASB expected that investment entities 
would use the fair value option which is available to venture capital organizations and similar 
entities. The following references are provided in support of this comment: 

(a) IFRS 10, paragraphs B85K and B85L state that to apply the investment entity exemption, the 
entity must also apply the exemption from equity accounting in IAS 28. (The equivalent 
requirements were in ED 49 paragraphs AG103 and AG104). 

(b) IFRS 10, paragraph BC250 states: 

The basis for the exception to consolidation that is provided to investment entities is that 
fair value information is the most relevant for an investment entity’s investments, including 
its investments in subsidiaries. The Board therefore decided that an essential feature of 
the definition of an investment entity is that the entity would use existing IFRS 
requirements or accounting policy options to measure substantially all of its investments at 
fair value. The Board does not think that an entity that fails to elect the fair value 
measurement options available in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures or 
IAS 40, or that accounts for more than an insignificant amount of its financial assets at 
amortised cost under IFRS 9 or IAS 39, should qualify as an investment entity. 

8  IASB Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27), 2012 

Agenda Item 5.1 
Page 38 of 64 

                                                      



EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities – Issues Paper 
IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

(c) The IASB Feedback Statement on the investment entities’ amendment stated:9  

In retaining this option [being the fair value option for accounting for investments in 
associates and joint ventures] the IASB noted that, to meet the definition of an investment 
entity, an entity must elect the fair value option in IAS 28 for any investments in associates 
or joint ventures. 

The IASB decided not to amend the fair value option in IAS 28. The IASB also decided 
that it is not necessary to include a requirement in IAS 28 for investment entities to 
measure their investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value because, to be an 
investment entity, an entity must evaluate the performance of those investments on a fair 
value basis—i.e. using the fair value option in IAS 28.  

110. Effectively the IASB was implying that an investment entity will be a venture capital organization, a 
mutual fund, a unit trust, an investment-linked insurance fund, or a similar entity.  

111. The investment entity requirements in ED 49 mean that an investment entity is required to have 
elected to use the fair value option in ED 50 to account for its investments in associates and joint 
ventures. ED 50 therefore permits the use of the fair value option by the investment entity itself. 
ED 50 also permits the use of the fair value option by the investment entity’s controlling entity (in 
respect of the proportion held indirectly through the investment entity).  

112. Having regard to the way in which ED 49 and ED 50 are intended to work together, staff propose 
no change to ED 50 paragraphs 24 and 25.   

Recent Implementation Issues 

113. The IASB’s investment entity requirements are fairly new and the IASB (mainly via the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee) has received some queries about the application of these requirements. 
Staff agree that it would be sensible to review recent issues when finalizing the standard based on 
ED 50 and propose to do so at a future meeting. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 50 SMC 3 
12. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the strong level of support for the proposal to require the use of the equity method to 
account for investments in joint ventures; 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 50 SMC 3; 

 (c) AGREE to keep the option (in ED 50 paragraphs 24 and 25) for an entity to use fair value 
through surplus or deficit or the equity method in accounting for investments in an associate 
or a joint venture held in a venture capital organization, mutual fund, unit trust or similar 
entity; and 

 (d) AGREE to consider, at a future meeting, recent implementation issues raised by IASB 
constituents. 

9  http://www.ifrs.org/Current-Projects/IASB-Projects/Consolidation/Documents/Investment-Entities-Amdments-to-IFRS-10-12-
and-IAS-27-summary-and-feedback.pdf 
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ED 51 Joint Arrangements 
Background on ED 51 

114. ED 51 was based on IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, having regard to the public sector modifications 
in IPSAS 8 Interests in Joint Ventures. IPSAS 8 included two public sector modifications: it used the 
term “binding arrangements” rather than “contractual arrangements” and included concessions for 
first-time adoption.  

115. Under IPSAS 8 the structure of the joint arrangement determined the classification of the 
arrangements. The IPSAS 8 classifications and requirements are: 

(a) Jointly controlled operations: an entity recognizes the assets that it controls and the liabilities 
that it incurs, the expenses that it incurs and its share of the revenue; 

(b) Jointly controlled assets: an entity recognizes its share of the relevant assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses; and 

(c) Jointly controlled entities: an entity may use proportionate consolidation or the equity method. 

116. ED 51 introduced a new approach to the classification of joint arrangements. ED 51 proposed that 
there be only two types of joint arrangements – joint operations and joint ventures. The difference 
between the two types of arrangements is that a joint operation gives rights to assets and liabilities 
whereas a joint venture gives rights to net assets. In order for there to be a joint arrangement, there 
must be two or more parties which have joint control of the arrangement. The definition of joint 
control in ED 51 requires that decisions about the relevant activities of the arrangement be made by 
unanimous consent.  

117. ED 51 proposed the following accounting requirements: 

(a) Joint operation: A party with joint control over a joint operation would recognize and measure 
the assets and liabilities and recognize the related revenues and expenses arising from its 
interest in the arrangement in accordance with relevant IPSASs; and  

(b) Joint venture: A party with joint control over a joint venture would account for its investment in 
the joint venture using the equity method.  

118. There were two Specific Matters for Comment in ED 51. The first question was about the 
classification of joint arrangements and the second question was about the use of the equity 
method in accounting for joint ventures. The staff analysis of comments on ED 51 SMC 1 and 
SMC 2 follows.   

Analysis of ED 51 SMC 1  

ED 51 SMC 1  

Do you agree that joint arrangements should be classified as joint ventures or joint 
operations based on whether an entity has (i) rights to assets and obligations for liabilities, 
or (ii) rights to net assets? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  - 
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C – DISAGREE 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 21 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 1 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS on ED 51 22 

119. Two respondents were classified as disagreeing with the proposed classifications of joint 
arrangements. R10 and R12 noted that the requirement for unanimous consent was not generally a 
feature of partnerships between a public sector entity and other entities in the public and/or in the 
private sector, in France. In addition R10 commented on the use of the term “binding 
arrangements”. R10 considered that the rationale for using the term “binding arrangements” had not 
been sufficiently explained and that the implications of using this term were not clear. 

120. Some respondents that were classified as agreeing with the proposed classifications of joint 
arrangements commented as follows: 

(a) R21 and R33, for example, noted support for the proposed classifications of joint 
arrangements on the basis of rights and obligations.  

(b) R11 supported the proposed classifications but noted that difficulties could be encountered in 
practice. 

(c) R17 gave an example of joint arrangements in Japanese municipalities and noted that 
accounting for such arrangements as joint operations seemed to be appropriate. 

Binding Arrangement 

121. The term “binding arrangement” was previously used in IPSAS 8. It replaced the term “contractual 
arrangement” when that term was used in IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. When developing 
ED 51 similar changes were made. For example: 

(a) The definition of joint control in paragraph 7 referred to the agreed sharing of control by way 
of a binding arrangement.10 The definition of joint control in IFRS 11 refers to the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement.   

(b) Paragraph 10 which outlines the characteristics of joint arrangements refers to binding 
arrangements. IFRS 11 (paragraph 5) referred to contractual arrangements; and  

(c) Paragraphs AG2–AG4 describe binding arrangements. IFRS 11 (paragraphs B2 to B4) 
described contractual arrangements.  

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 51 SMC 1 
13. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the high level of support for the proposal that joint arrangements should be classified 
as joint ventures or joint operations based on whether an entity has (i) rights to assets and 
obligations for liabilities, or (ii) rights to net assets; 

10  Staff have noted that the definition of joint control in ED 50 needs to be aligned with the definition used in ED 51.  The inclusion 
of definitions in standards based on these EDs will be subject to the usual style guidelines used in finalizing IPSASs.  

Agenda Item 5.1 
Page 41 of 64 

                                                      



EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities – Issues Paper 
IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

 (b) AGREE to retain the term “binding arrangement” in ED 51; and 

 (c) NOTE that unanimous consent is not a common feature of joint arrangements in one 
jurisdiction.  

Analysis of ED 51 SMC 2 

ED 51 SMC 2  

Do you agree that joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  - 

C – DISAGREE - 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 19 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 3 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 51 22 

122. As noted in the discussion of ED 50, ED 51 SMC 2 was almost identical to ED 50 SMC 3. All of 
those that commented on SMC 2 supported the use of the equity method for joint ventures.   

123. Two respondents that disagreed with the use of the equity method when responding to ED 50 
SMC 3 did not respond directly to ED 51 SMC 2. R10 was one of these respondents. R10 reiterated 
their concerns that there had not been sufficient debate about the appropriateness of various 
methods of accounting in various circumstances. This comment was addressed in the analysis of 
general comments section of this paper. 

124. R17 repeated their request (in relation to ED 50) that a more detailed rationale for mandating the 
use of equity accounting should be provided in the Basis for Conclusions (for example, regarding 
the decision not to permit the use of proportionate consolidation for joint ventures). 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 51 SMC 2 
14. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE the strong level of support for the proposal to require the use of the equity method to 
account for investments in joint ventures; and 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 51 SMC 2. 
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ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
Background on ED 52 

125. ED 52 was based on IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. IFRS 12 was a new 
standard, but many of the disclosures in IFRS 12 were based on disclosures previously required in 
other standards.11  

126. As explained in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 52, the IPSASB proposed some changes to the 
requirements of IFRS 12.  

(a) The IPSASB proposed to change the definition of a structured entity. IFRS 12 requires 
disclosures about structured entities that are not consolidated. In the IFRS 12 context, 
structured entities are those where voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in 
deciding who controls the entity. The IPSASB considered that, in order for the disclosures to 
be useful, the public sector definition also needed to exclude entities where administrative 
arrangements or statutory provisions are the dominant factors in determining control of the 
entity. This proposed modification acknowledged that voting or similar rights are not usually 
the dominant way in which control is determined in the public sector. 

(b) IFRS 12 requires that investment entities that account for controlled investments at fair value 
make certain disclosures about those controlled investments. The IPSASB proposed that a 
controlling entity that controls an investment entity, and is not itself an investment entity, 
should disclose information about its unconsolidated controlled investments.  

(c) The IPSASB proposed that an entity be able to disclose the methodology used to decide the 
existence or absence of control, joint control of an arrangement or significant influence, either 
in the financial statements themselves or by way of reference to another publicly available 
document. The IPSASB’s reason for proposing this change was to avoid the unnecessary 
repetition of information and to avoid unnecessary detail in the financial statements. 

127. The staff analysis of comments on ED 52 SMCs 1 and 2 follows. 

Analysis of ED 52 SMC 1  

ED 52 SMC 1  

Do you agree the proposed disclosures in this draft Standard? If not, why?  
Are there any additional disclosures that would be useful for users of financial statements? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 16 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  6 

C – DISAGREE 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 24 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 2 

11  For those interested in identifying which of the disclosures in ED 52 were new and which were based on previous standards, 
agenda paper 3.11 in September 2013 noted the source of each paragraph.  
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TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 52 26 

128. There was a strong level of support for the proposals in ED 52.   

(a) 16 respondents were classified as agreeing with the proposals in ED 52.  Two of these 
respondents, R21 and R26, proposed additional disclosures.   

(i) R21 proposed that the IPSASB require disclosure of any non-quantifiable ownership 
interests.12 Staff agree with this suggestion, but propose that the disclosure be limited 
to non-quantifiable ownership interests other than controlled entities.  

(ii) R26 proposed additional disclosures regarding temporarily controlled entities. This 
proposal has been considered below, together with a related proposal by R17.   

(b) Six responses were classified as partially agreeing with the proposals in ED 52.  

(i) Three of these respondents (being R01, R02, R03) disagreed with the proposal in 
paragraph 34 that a controlling entity that controls an investment entity and is not itself 
an investment entity should disclose information about its unconsolidated controlled 
investments. Their objections were limited to this proposal and were consistent with 
their disagreement with the proposed accounting treatment of such investments in 
ED 49.  They did not object to the other proposals in ED 52. Assuming that the IPSASB 
does not change the proposals in ED 49, no further action is proposed in respect of 
these comments from R1, R2 and R3.  

(ii) R17 considered that some of the disclosures in ED 52 regarding discontinued 
operations could be difficult to comply with and proposed that the IPSASB develop 
accounting and disclosure requirements equivalent to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations. This proposal is discussed below.  

(iii) R17 also proposed explicit reference to “expenses and deferred items” in the detailed 
disclosures in respect of joint ventures and associates (paragraphs AG12 and AG16).  
Staff agree that there should be explicit reference to “expenses” in ED 52 paragraphs 
AG12 and AG16. The reasoning for this recommendation is set out below.  

(iv) R19 disagreed with the proposed disclosures regarding interests in structured entities 
that are not consolidated. R19 considered that these disclosures duplicate some of the 
disclosures required by IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. No further action 
is proposed in respect of this comment. The reasoning for this recommendation is set 
out below. 

(v) R23 considered that it might be difficult for entities to comply with the proposed 
disclosures about restrictions on the use of assets, particularly when these restrictions 
are implicit rather than explicit. No further action is proposed in respect of this 
comment.  The reasoning for this recommendation is set out below. 

12  Following the analysis of ED 50 SMC 2 (which sought feedback on the scope of ED 50) staff recommended that the IPSASB 
“AGREE to require that a non-quantifiable ownership interest (that is not a controlled entity) be accounted for as an investment 
in accordance with IPSAS 29 except where the fair value or cost of the non-quantifiable ownership interest is not reliably 
determinable”. 
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(c) Two respondents were classified as disagreeing with the proposals in ED 52. R10 and R12 
considered that the proposed disclosures were too detailed. Given the overall level of support 
for the proposed disclosures, no further action is proposed in respect of these comments 
from R10 and R12. 

Temporary Control/ Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

129. Some respondents proposed that the IPSASB develop disclosures for temporarily controlled assets 
or assets held for sale. As shown in Table 3 below, some respondents made similar comments in 
the context of ED 49 SMC 3.   
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Table 3 Temporary Control/ Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

Comments on ED 49 SMC 3 Comments on ED 52 SMC 1 

R17 [Agreed with removal of exemption]  

Develop standard based on IFRS 5 (or add disclosures to ED 52). 

R17 See below 

R18 [Disagreed with removal of exemption] 
Disclosures regarding temporarily controlled entities might be appropriate. 

 

R19 [Disagreed with removal of exemption] 

Noted that IFRS 5 permits the disclosure of a disposal group. 

 

R20 [Disagreed with removal of exemption] 
Disclosures regarding temporarily controlled entities might be appropriate. 

 

R21 [Agreed with removal of exemption] 

Develop standard based on IFRS 5 (or add disclosures to ED 52). 

- 

R23 [Agreed with removal of exemption]  

Governments could use segment reporting to provide disaggregated 
information. 

- 

 R26 See below 

130. Comments from R17 and R26 on ED 52 are shown below. 

(a) R17: “When IPSASs are applied to joint ventures or other entities individually material to a 
reporting entity, they may be unable to determine “pre-tax gain or loss recognized on the 
disposal of assets or settlement of liabilities attributable to discontinued operations” as 
required by [ED 52] paragraphs AG12 (b)(vii) and AG16 (c). We suggest that the IPSASB 
develops accounting and disclosure requirements equivalent to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.” 

(b) R26: “We propose that some disclosure requirements should be included for temporarily 
controlled entities held for sale in the absence of an IPSAS that deals with non-current assets 
held for sale. We propose that the following disclosures should be considered for material 
temporarily controlled entities, associates or joint ventures, and in aggregate for immaterial 
temporarily controlled entities, associates or joint ventures:  

(i) A description of the temporarily controlled entity, associate or joint venture and the 
rationale for its acquisition; 

(ii) The carrying value of the assets and liabilities that will be affected by the disposal of 
the temporarily controlled entity, associate or joint venture; and   

(iii) A description of the intended manner of disposal, including the expected sale or 
transfer date.” 

131. Under IFRS 5, if a subsidiary is classified as held for sale, the subsidiary is consolidated, but the 
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale and are presented separately 
(for example as, “non-current assets classified as held for sale” and “liabilities directly associated 
with non-current assets classified as held for sale”). 

132. A brief discussion of previous IPSASB discussions on this topic follows.  
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133. In September 2011 IPSASB staff presented an issues paper on whether the temporary control 
exemption in IPSAS 6 should be retained when developing the Exposure Draft of a revised 
IPSAS 6.  Staff set out three options for discussion. 

(a) Option A: Leave the temporary control exemption in IPSAS 6. 

(b) Option B: Remove the temporary control exemption from IPSAS 6 and include no guidance 
on this topic. 

(c) Option C: Remove the temporary control exemption from IPSAS 6 and commence a project 
to develop an IPSAS based on IFRS 5. 

134. IPSASB members had mixed views on this issue in 2011 and did not make a firm decision at that 
time. A suggestion made in 2011 was that the IPSASB should consider whether the requirements 
in IFRS 5 would result in higher quality information for users.  

135. In June 2012 staff again sought feedback from the IPSASB on a proposal to develop an IPSAS 
equivalent to IFRS 5. The IPSASB decided that IFRS 5 should remain outside the scope of the 
project. Some members commented that although they considered the disclosures regarding 
discontinued operations to be useful, the requirements regarding assets held for sale could be 
difficult to apply in the public sector where assets sales may occur over a period of years.   

136. To conclude, this issue was considered in the development of EDs 48 to 52. At this point it would 
be helpful for the IPSASB to confirm that development of a standard based on IFRS 5 should 
remain outside the scope of the project to update IPSASs 6 to 8.  

Disclosure of Expenses of Joint Ventures and Associates 

137. In considering R17’s suggestion that there should be explicit reference to “expenses and deferred 
items” in the detailed disclosures in respect of joint ventures and associates (paragraphs AG12 and 
AG16) staff noted the following: 

(a) Disclosure of expenses of joint ventures would be consistent with IPSAS 8 Interests in Joint 
Ventures paragraph 63 which requires disclosure of the aggregate amount of expenses 
related to an entity’s interest in jointly controlled operations. 

(b) Disclosure of expenses of associates would not be consistent with IPSAS 7 Interests in 
Associates, paragraph 43, which does not require disclosure of the aggregate expenses of 
associates. However, staff consider that the same disclosures should be required for 
interests in joint ventures and associates.  

(c) The IPSASB is not proposing to define deferred items in the Conceptual Framework. 
Therefore, disclosure of deferred items, as suggested by R17, has not been considered.  

138. Staff propose that disclosure of “expenses” should be required by ED 52 paragraphs AG12 
and AG16.   

Duplication of Disclosures  

139. R19 considered that some of the disclosures proposed in respect of unconsolidated interests in 
structured entities duplicate some of the disclosures required by IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. 
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140. When IFRS 12 was being developed, some IASB’s constituents made similar comments about 
possible duplication of disclosures between IFRS 12 and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. The IASB responded to these concerns in the Basis for Conclusions on IFRS 12 
paragraphs BC72 to BC74 (shown below).   

Extract from IFRS 12 Basis for Conclusions 

BC72 Regarding IFRS 7, the Board agreed with respondents that both requirements will often 
result in disclosure of the same underlying risks. What is different is how the disclosure 
requirements describe an entity’s risk exposure. IFRS 7 requires qualitative and 
quantitative disclosures about the credit, liquidity, market and other risks associated with 
financial instruments. IFRS 12 adopts a different perspective and requires an entity to 
disclose its exposure to risk from its interest in a structured entity.  

BC73 The Board believes that information from both perspectives assists users of financial 
statements in their analysis of an entity’s exposure to risk—the disclosures in IFRS 7 by 
identifying those financial instruments that create risk, and the disclosures in IFRS 12 by 
providing, when relevant, information about:  

(a) the extent of an entity’s transactions with structured entities; 

(b) concentrations of risk that arise from the nature of the entities with which the entity 
has transactions; and 

(c) particular transactions that expose the entity to risk. 

BC74  Accordingly, the Board concluded that although the disclosures in IFRS 7 and IFRS 12 
regarding unconsolidated structured entities might overlap to some extent, they 
complement each other.  

141. Staff consider that similar considerations would apply in the public sector and therefore propose to 
retain the proposed disclosures about unconsolidated structured entities. 

Significant Restrictions  

142. In considering R23’s comment about the disclosure requirements proposed in respect of 
restrictions on assets, staff compared the proposals in ED 52 with similar disclosure requirements 
in existing IPSASs. The following extracts are shown below: 

(a) The proposed disclosure requirement in ED 52;  

(b) The equivalent disclosure requirement in IFRS 12; 

(c) A similar disclosure requirement in IPSAS 6; and  

(d) Similar disclosure requirements in other IPSASs.  

143. The proposed disclosures in ED 52 are almost identical to the disclosure required by IFRS 12. The 
main change is the addition of the words “in binding arrangements” in ED 52 paragraph 20(a). The 
proposals in ED 52 paragraph 20(a) are also similar to an existing disclosure requirement in 
IPSAS 6 paragraph 62(g). Staff acknowledge the point made by the respondent regarding the 
possible difficulty of identifying implicit, as opposed to explicit restrictions, but note that this difficulty 
is already faced by entities complying with IPSASs. Staff therefore propose no change in respect of 
this comment.  
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Extracts from ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

17. An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its consolidated financial 
statements:  

(a) To understand:  

(i)  The composition of the economic entity; and  

(ii)  The interest that non-controlling interests have in the economic 
entity’s activities and cash flows (paragraph 19); and  

(b) To evaluate:  

(i) The nature and extent of significant restrictions on its ability to access 
or use assets, and settle liabilities, of the economic entity 
(paragraph 20);  

The Nature and Extent of Significant Restrictions 

20. An entity shall disclose:  

(a) Significant restrictions in binding arrangements (e.g., statutory, contractual and 
regulatory restrictions) on its ability to access or use the assets and settle the 
liabilities of the economic entity, such as:  

(i) Those that restrict the ability of a controlling entity or its controlled entities to 
transfer cash or other assets to (or from) other entities within the economic 
entity.  

(ii)  Guarantees or other requirements that may restrict dividends and other 
capital distributions being paid, or loans and advances being made or 
repaid, to (or from) other entities within the economic entity.  

(b) The nature and extent to which protective rights of non-controlling interests can 
significantly restrict the entity’s ability to access or use the assets and settle the 
liabilities of the economic entity (such as when a controlling entity is obliged to 
settle liabilities of a controlled entity before settling its own liabilities, or approval 
of non-controlling interests is required either to access the assets or to settle the 
liabilities of a controlled entity).  

(c) The carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements of the assets and 
liabilities to which those restrictions apply.  
[Based on IFRS 12.13. Similar in part to IPSAS 6.62(g)] 

Extracts from IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

10 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its consolidated financial 
statements 

(a) to understand: 

(i) the composition of the group; and 

(ii) the interest that non-controlling interests have in the group’s 
activities and cash flows (paragraph 12); and 

(b) to evaluate: 

(i) the nature and extent of significant restrictions on its ability to 
access or use assets, and settle liabilities, of the group 
(paragraph 13); 

…. 
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The nature and extent of significant restrictions 

13 An entity shall disclose: 

(a) significant restrictions (e.g. statutory, contractual and regulatory 
restrictions) on its ability to access or use the assets and settle the 
liabilities of the group, such as: 

(i) those that restrict the ability of a parent or its subsidiaries to transfer 
cash or other assets to (or from) other entities within the group. 

(ii) guarantees or other requirements that may restrict dividends and 
other capital distributions being paid, or loans and advances being 
made or repaid, to (or from) other entities within the group. 

(b) the nature and extent to which protective rights of non-controlling interests 
can significantly restrict the entity’s ability to access or use the assets and 
settle the liabilities of the group (such as when a parent is obliged to settle 
liabilities of a subsidiary before settling its own liabilities, or approval of 
non-controlling interests is required either to access the assets or to settle 
the liabilities of a subsidiary). 

(c) the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements of the assets 
and liabilities to which those restrictions apply. 

Extract from IPSAS 6 Consolidated Financial Statements  

62. The following disclosures shall be made in consolidated financial statements: 

 …. 

(g) The nature and extent of any significant restrictions (e.g., resulting from 
borrowing arrangements or regulatory requirements) on the ability of 
controlled entities to transfer funds to the controlling entity in the form of 
cash dividends, or similar distributions, or to repay loans or advances. 

Extract from IPSAS 2 Cash Flow Statements  

59. An entity shall disclose, together with a commentary by management in the notes to 
the financial statements, the amount of significant cash and cash equivalent 
balances held by the entity that are not available for use by the economic entity. 

60. There are various circumstances in which cash and cash equivalent balances held by an 
entity are not available for use by the economic entity. Examples include cash and cash 
equivalent balances held by a controlled entity that operates in a country where exchange 
controls or other legal restrictions apply, when the balances are not available for general 
use by the controlling entity or other controlled entities. 

61.  Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding the financial position and 
liquidity of an entity. Disclosure of this information, together with a description in the notes 
to the financial statements, is encouraged, and may include: 

(a) The amount of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be available for future 
operating activities and to settle capital commitments, indicating any restrictions 
on the use of these facilities; 

(b) The aggregate amounts of the cash flows from each of operating, investing, and 
financing activities related to interests in joint ventures reported using 
proportionate consolidation; and 

(c) The amount and nature of restricted cash balances. 

Agenda Item 5.1 
Page 50 of 64 



EDs 48 to 52 Interests in Other Entities – Issues Paper 
IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Extract from IPSAS 16 Investment Property  

86. An entity shall disclose: 

 …. 

(g) The existence and amounts of restrictions on the realizability of investment 
property or the remittance of revenue and proceeds of disposal; and 

Extract from IPSAS 17 Property, Plant and Equipment  

89. The financial statements shall also disclose for each class of property, plant, and 
equipment recognized in the financial statements: 

(a) The existence and amounts of restrictions on title, and property, plant, and 
equipment pledged as securities for liabilities; 

Extract from IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)  

106.  An entity shall disclose either on the face of, or in the notes to, the general 
purpose financial statements: 

 …. 

(d) The amount of assets recognized that are subject to restrictions and the 
nature of those restrictions; 

Extract from IPSAS 27 Agriculture  

47. An entity shall disclose: 

(a) The existence and carrying amounts of biological assets whose title 
is restricted, and the carrying amounts of biological assets pledged 
as security for liabilities; 

(b) The nature and extent of restrictions on the entity’s use or capacity 
to sell biological assets; 

Extract from IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  

18. An entity shall disclose: 

(a) The carrying amount of financial assets it has pledged as collateral for liabilities or 
contingent liabilities, including amounts that have been reclassified in accordance 
with paragraph 39(a) of IPSAS 29; and… 

Extract from IPSAS 31 Intangible Assets  

121.  An entity shall also disclose: 

 …. 

(d) The existence and carrying amounts of intangible assets whose title is 
restricted and the carrying amounts of intangible assets pledged as 
security for liabilities. 

Disclosures in Another Publicly Available Document  

144. Two respondents expressed concern about the proposal in paragraph 13 (shown below) that 
certain disclosures could be provided in another publicly available document. R01 noted that 
statements other than financial statements may be outside the standard-setter/regulators authority 
in a particular jurisdiction. Therefore, R01 suggested that paragraph 13 be removed, or that 
paragraph 13 be changed to acknowledge that the use of cross-referencing may be subject to 
jurisdictional restrictions.  R21’s comment made similar points.  
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Extracts from ED 52 

12. An entity shall disclose the methodology used to determine:  

(a) That it has control of another entity as described in paragraphs 15 and 16 of IPSAS XX 
(ED 49);  

(b) That it has joint control of an arrangement or significant influence over another entity; and  

(c) The type of joint arrangement (i.e., joint operation or joint venture) when the arrangement 
has been structured through a separate vehicle.  

13. The disclosures required by paragraph 12 shall be either given in the financial statements or 
incorporated by cross-reference from the financial statements to some other statement that is available 
to users of the financial statements on the same terms as the financial statements and at the same 
time. Without the information incorporated by cross-reference, the financial statements are incomplete.  

145. It is recommended that paragraph 13 be amended to acknowledge that the use of cross-
referencing may be subject to jurisdictional restrictions. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 52 SMC 1 
15. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 52 SMC 1;  

 (b) AGREE to require disclosure of any non-quantifiable ownership interest other than a 
controlled entity;  

 (c) CONFIRM that development of a standard based on IFRS 5 should remain outside the 
scope of the project to update IPSASs 6 to 8; 

 (d) AGREE to require disclosure of “expenses” of joint ventures and associates in ED 52 
paragraphs AG12 and AG16 (in line with the suggestion by R17); 

 (e) AGREE to retain the proposed disclosures about unconsolidated structured entities; 

 (f) AGREE to retain the proposals in ED 52 paragraph 20 regarding the disclosure of significant 
restrictions on an entity’s ability to access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the 
economic entity; and 

 (g) AGREE that paragraph 13 be amended to acknowledge that the use of cross-referencing 
may be subject to jurisdictional restrictions. 
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Analysis of ED 52 SMC 2  

ED 52 SMC 2  

Do you agree with the proposal that entities for which administrative arrangements or 
statutory provisions are dominant factors in determining control of the entity are not 
structured entities? If not, please explain why and explain how you would identify entities in 
respect of which the structured entity disclosures would be appropriate? 

TOTAL 

A – AGREE 19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  3 

C – DISAGREE 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS 24 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 52 26 

146. The proposed definition of a structured entity in ED 52 is shown below. 

Extract from ED 52 

A structured entity is:  

(a) In the case of entities where administrative arrangements or legislation are normally the 
dominant factors in deciding who has control of an entity, an entity that has been designed so 
that administrative arrangements or legislation are not the dominant factor in deciding who 
controls the entity, such as when binding arrangements are significant to determining control 
of the entity and relevant activities are directed by means of binding arrangements; or  

(b) In the case of entities where voting or similar rights are normally the dominant factor in 
deciding who has control of an entity, an entity that has been designed so that voting or 
similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any 
voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by 
means of binding arrangements.  

147. There was a high level of support for the IPSASB’s proposal to modify the definition of a structured 
entity to make it more appropriate for the public sector. Although 19 respondents have been 
classified as agreeing with the proposal, a number of respondents thought that the proposed 
definition of a structured entity and the associated guidance could be improved and some queried 
the need for the concept.  

148. Comments made by respondents included: 

(a) R02 proposed that ED 52 should clarify that structured entities that meet the control criteria 
set out in ED 49 are to be consolidated, with the controlled entity disclosures in ED 52 
applying to them. Staff propose no change in respect of this comment as the disclosures that 
apply to consolidated structured entities and unconsolidated structured entities are set out in 
separate sections of ED 52, with appropriate sub-headings. In addition, ED 52 paragraph 42 
explained that the disclosures required by paragraph 40 do not apply to a controlled 
structured entity which is not consolidated and in respect of which the disclosures required by 
paragraphs 27–33 have been provided.  
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(b) R04 was supportive of the proposal to include public sector specific guidance on structured 
entities but considered that the IFRS 12 definition should be used without modification. Staff 
consider that this approach would make it more difficult for constituents to understand the 
proposals about structured entities and propose to retain the approach used in ED 52.  

(c) R09 requested that the IPSASB provide examples of structured entities. R16 and R26 also 
requested more guidance and/or illustrative examples. R26 requested clarification on how or 
whether binding arrangements are considered in identifying structured entities.  Staff consider 
that examples could be helpful and propose to try and identify examples for consideration by 
the IPSASB. 

(d) R10 noted that ED 49 proposed a broad notion of control which had regard to the range of 
ways in which control could be exercised in the public sector and queried the need for the 
concept of “structured entity”. Similarly R12 considered that the definition might not be 
required if the IPSASB was clearer about what constituted a quantifiable ownership interest. 
Staff consider that structured entities can occur in the public sector and that the disclosures 
about the risks associated with interests in structured entities could be as useful in the public 
sector as in the private sector. Staff therefore propose that the concept of a structured entity 
be retained.  

(e) R11 was concerned that the definition of a structured entity could be read as suggesting that 
an entity was operating in an unauthorized way or in contravention of laws. Staff note that this 
was not intended and propose to address this issue in the Basis for Conclusions. However, if 
the IPSASB considers that this represents a risk to the application of the proposed standard it 
could be addressed in the standard itself.  

(f) R23 encouraged the IPSASB to seek some form of post-implementation feedback on this 
new disclosure. The IPSASB does not currently have a formal system of identifying projects 
for post implementation reviews and has been cautious about committing to this type of work, 
given the resources that post-implementation review projects can consume. However, this 
suggestion was quite specific – it related only to the disclosures regarding structured entities.  
Feedback is sought from the IPSASB on the respondent’s proposal to seek post-
implementation feedback on the structured entity disclosures. 

Matter(s) for Consideration: ED 52 SMC 2 
16. The IPSASB is asked to:  

 (a) Note the high level of support for the proposals regarding the identification of structured 
entities in ED 52; 

 (b) NOTE respondents’ comments on ED 52 SMC 2;  

 (c) AGREE to retain the concept of a structured entity and the definition of a structured entity 
that was in ED 52; 

 (d) AGREE to consider developing more guidance and/or illustrative examples to illustrate the 
concept of a structured entity; and 

 (e) PROVIDE feedback on the proposal to seek post-implementation feedback on the structured 
entity disclosures.  
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Related IASB Projects 
149. Staff have been monitoring IASB projects that could result in amendments to the IFRSs on which 

EDs 48 to 52 were based. Table 4 summarizes the recommendations for the IPSASB to finalize the 
standards based on EDs 48 to 52, having regard to relevant IASB projects. Appendix A provides 
more detail on each of the IASB projects. 

150. Further updates on issues that the IASB considering and that might lead to amendments to the relevant IFRSs 
(for example, through the IASB’s Annual Improvements process) will be provided as this project 
progresses. 

Table 4 Summary Recommendations for IPSASB on Related IASB Projects 

List of IASB Projects Recommendations 

IASB ED/2012/3 Equity 
Method: Share of Other 
Net Asset Changes 
(Proposed 
amendments to IAS 28) 

(a) Note that the IASB’s proposals in ED/2013/3 were not included in IPSASB ED 50 
because of uncertainty about the outcome of the IASB project and this was noted 
in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 50; and 

(b) Note that the IASB decided in May 2014 NOT to proceed with the proposed 
amendments to IAS 28 paragraph 10. 

ED/2012/6 Sale or 
Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor 
and its Associate or 
Joint Venture 
(Proposed 
amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28) 

(a) Note that the IASB is proceeding with the proposals in ED/2016/6 and plans to 
issue amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in 2014 Quarter 3; 

(b) Confirm its previous decision to consider clarification of the recognition of gains 
and losses of assets other than businesses (as proposed in IASB ED 2012/6) in 
the context of drafting standards level requirements for public sector combinations; 
and 

(c) Note that the IASB also proposes to clarify the requirements of IAS 28 
paragraph 31 in its ED entitled Elimination of gains from 'downstream' transactions 
(see explanation of that IASB project below) and agree to monitor that project (as 
this proposal could be relevant for ED 50 paragraph 34). 

IASB ED/2012/7 
Acquisition of an 
Interest in a Joint 
Operation (Proposed 
amendment to IFRS 11) 

(a) Note that the IASB issued Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11) in May 2014; and 

(b) Confirm its previous decision that it would be more appropriate to consider how to 
account for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a 
business (as required by Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)) in the context of drafting standards level 
requirements for public sector combinations. 
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List of IASB Projects Recommendations 

ED/2013/10 Equity 
Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 
(Proposed 
amendments to IAS 27) 

(a) Note that the IASB has decided to proceed with its proposals to permit the use of 
the equity method in separate financial statements (the amendments are expected 
to be issued in the third quarter of 2014); and  

(b) Agree to update the Basis for Conclusions on the standard based on ED 48 to 
reflect this fact. 

Elimination of gains or 
losses arising from 
transactions between 
an entity and its 
associate or joint 
venture (Proposed 
amendments to IAS 28) 

(a) Note that the IASB plans to issue an ED clarifying the accounting for a 
‘downstream’ transaction between an entity and its associate or joint venture (in the 
third quarter of 2014); and  

(b) Agree to monitor the IASB’s project. 

Equity method research 
project 

(a) Note that the IASB has commenced its research project on the usefulness of the 
equity method of accounting; 

(b) Note that this project is still at an early stage – no decisions are expected this year; 
and 

(c) Note that the IPSASB has previously agreed to monitor the IASB’s research 
project on the equity method and, in the context of the liaison meetings with the 
IASB, to indicate the IPSASB’s interest in this project. 

Investment Entities: 
Clarifications to the 
accounting for interests 
in subsidiaries and 
applying the 
consolidation 
exemption (Proposed 
amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28) 

(a) Note that the IASB intends to propose further narrow scope amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (an ED is expected in June 2014); and 

(b) Agree to monitor this project. 

Issues being 
considered, or to be 
considered, by the 
IFRIC 

(a) Note that the IFRIC is considering, or is about to consider various implementation 
issues related to IFRS 11; and 

(b) Agree to monitor the IFRIC deliberations. 

 

Matter(s) for Consideration: Related IASB Projects 

17. Does the IPSASB agree with the recommendations set out in Table 4 above?  
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APPENDIX A Related IASB Projects  

Staff have been monitoring IASB projects that could result in amendments to the IFRSs on which EDs 48 
to 52 were based. Table 5 provides an update on relevant IASB projects. 

Table 5 Background on Related IASB Projects  

IASB Project Update 

ED/2012/3 Equity 
Method: Share of 
Other Net Asset 
Changes (Proposed 
amendments to 
IAS 28) 

The IASB issued ED/2012/3 in November 2012 (comments were due 22 March 2013). 
ED/2012/3 proposed to clarify how an investor should account for other net asset changes 
of the investee (that is, changes other than profit or loss or other comprehensive income 
and distributions received). The ED proposed that an investor should recognize its share 
of the investee’s other net asset changes in the investor’s equity. 

The IFRS Interpretations Committee (the Interpretations Committee) considered feedback 
from constituents in July 2013. A considerable number of respondents disagreed with the 
IASB’s proposals, for various reasons, and there was no dominant view of how to account 
for the other net asset changes. Despite widespread disagreement with aspects of the 
proposal, the staff paper proposed that they proceed, as a stop gap measure to reduce 
diversity in practice. The Interpretations Committee did not agree.  

The Interpretations Committee observed that, under the equity method, the investor 
accounts for the share of the other net asset changes in the carrying amount of its 
investment if such changes arise. A change in the carrying amount of the investment 
caused by the other net asset changes is an increase or decrease in the investor’s assets 
and is not related to contributions from, or distributions to, equity participants. 
Consequently, the Interpretations Committee noted that, from an investor’s perspective, 
other net asset changes of an investee meet the definition of income and expenses as set 
out in the Conceptual Framework. In addition, the Interpretations Committee noted that 
the other net asset changes represent performance of the investor’s investments.  

The Interpretations Committee observed that the other net asset changes of the investee 
are economically similar to direct acquisitions or disposals of investments and considered 
that they should be accounted for similarly. The Interpretations Committee tentatively 
decided to resubmit its original proposal to the IASB. The Interpretations Committee’s 
original proposals had been that:  

(a) where an investor’s ownership interest in the investment is reduced, whether 
directly or indirectly, the impact of the change should be accounted for as a partial 
disposal and recognized in profit or loss of the investor; 

(b) where an investor’s ownership interest in the investment increases, whether directly 
or indirectly, the impact of the change should be accounted for as an incremental 
purchase of the investment and recognized at cost; and 

(c) call option transactions entered into by an investee over its own equity (such as 
share-based payments) would be excluded from the scope of the proposal. 

If the IASB was not persuaded by the original proposal again, the Interpretations 
Committee indicated that its preference would be to recognize all types of other net asset 
changes in the investor’s profit or loss, because, in its view, they are income and 
expenses.  
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IASB Project Update 

IASB staff conducted more analysis of various options for consideration by the IASB, 
including an analysis of various ways of accounting for the impact of share-based 
payment transactions.  

In December 2013, IASB staff presented four different models as alternatives to the 
proposals in the Exposure Draft (to assist the IASB in considering the impact of various 
accounting options). The IASB observed that each model presented has challenges. The 
IASB noted that the proposed amendments are a short term solution to address diversity 
in practice until the IASB revisits the principles of the equity method of accounting. 
Consequently, the IASB tentatively decided to finalize the amendments based on the 
proposals in the Exposure Draft, (subject to further work to check for any unintended 
consequences).  

In February 2014 the IASB considered an analysis of the proposals to some specific fact 
patterns and was satisfied that the analysis did not reveal any unintended consequences. 
At that stage the IASB agreed to proceed with the amendments. 

In March 2014 two IASB members communicated their intention to dissent from the 
proposed amendments. In May the IASB noted that more IASB members had indicated 
their intention to dissent, and that there were insufficient members still in favor of the 
proposals to proceed.  The IASB decided not to proceed with the proposed amendments. 

Impact on IPSASB’s EDs  

The IASB’s proposals in ED 2012/3 were not included in IPSASB ED 50 because of 
uncertainty about the outcome of the IASB project.  

Now that the IASB has decided NOT to proceed with the amendments to IAS 28 
paragraph 10, there is no impact on ED 50.  

Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB’s proposals in ED/2013/3 were not included in IPSASB ED 50 
because of uncertainty about the outcome of the IASB project and this was noted 
in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 50; a 

(b) Note that the IASB decided in May 2014 NOT to proceed with the proposed 
amendments to IAS 28 paragraph 10. 

ED/2012/6 Sale or 
Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor 
and its Associate or 
Joint Venture 
(Proposed 
amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28) 

The IASB issued ED/2012/6 in December 2012 (with comments due 23 April 2013). The 
ED was intended to address a conflict between the guidance in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 
(Amended in 2011). IFRS 10 requires recognition of a full gain or loss on the loss of 
control of a subsidiary, whereas IAS 28 (Amended in 2011) requires recognition of a 
partial gain or loss in transactions between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  

ED/2012/6 proposed to amend IFRS 10 so that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or 
contribution of a subsidiary that does not constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3 
Business Combinations, between an investor and its associate or joint venture is 
recognized only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint 
venture. Therefore the full gain or loss would be recognized on the loss of control of a 
subsidiary that constitutes a business, as defined in IFRS 3, including cases in which the 
investor retains joint control of, or significant influence over, the investee. 
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IASB Project Update 

ED/2012/6 also proposed to amend IAS 28 (Amended in 2011) so that:  

(a) The current requirements for the recognition of a partial gain or loss for 
transactions between an investor and its associate or joint venture apply only to 
the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not 
constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3; and 

(b) The gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a 
business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture is recognized in full (i.e. the investor’s interest in the gains or losses 
resulting from these transactions is not eliminated). 

In October 2013 the IASB considered comments received from respondents and the 
recommendations of the Interpretations Committee. The IASB tentatively decided to 
finalize the proposed amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011). 

The IASB tentatively decided to finalize the proposed amendments with the following 
additional clarifications:  

(a) The proposed amendments to IFRS 10 should refer to the loss of control of a 
subsidiary, rather than to the sale or contribution of a subsidiary; 

(b) The gain or loss resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary should include 
any reclassification adjustments, as described in paragraph B99 of IFRS 10; 

(c) The requirement to eliminate part of the gain or loss as proposed in 
paragraph B99A of IFRS 10 applies only when the investor accounts for its 
investment in the associate or joint venture using the equity method. 

In February 2014 the IASB noted a perceived conflict between IAS 28 (2011) 
paragraph 31 with other requirements in IAS 28 and with amendments under 
consideration in this project. Paragraph 31 of IAS 28 came from SIC–13 Jointly Controlled 
Entities—Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers, which was withdrawn in 2011.   

In March 2014 the IASB considered a proposed clarification to the wording of IAS 28 
paragraph 31 and decided to: 

(a) Propose to amend paragraph 31 of IAS 28 so that the portion of the gain or loss 
relating to the assets received in exchange for the contribution of an asset should 
be recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or 
joint venture; and 

(b) Include this amendment in the forthcoming Exposure Draft Elimination of gains from 
'downstream' transactions. 

The IASB intends to issue the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in 2014 Quarter 3. It 
also intends to publish the ED Elimination of gains from 'downstream' transactions in 2014 
Quarter 3.  
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 Impact on IPSASB’s EDs 

The IPSASB did not incorporate the proposals in ED/2012/6 in EDs 48 to 52 on the 
grounds that it would be more appropriate to consider the recognition of full or partial 
gains and losses in the context of drafting standards level requirements for public sector 
combinations. This decision was noted in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 50. 

Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB is proceeding with the proposals in ED/2016/6 and plans to 
issue amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in 2014 Quarter 3; 

(b) Confirm its previous decision to consider clarification of the recognition of gains and 
losses of assets other than businesses (as proposed in IASB ED 2012/6) in the 
context of drafting standards level requirements for public sector combinations; and 

(c) Note that the IASB also proposes to clarify the requirements of IAS 28 paragraph 31 
in its ED entitled Elimination of gains from 'downstream' transactions (see 
explanation of that IASB project below) and agree to monitor that project (as this 
proposal could be relevant for ED 50 paragraph 34). 

ED/2012/7 Acquisition 
of an Interest in a Joint 
Operation (Proposed 
amendment to 
IFRS 11) 

The IASB issued ED/2012/7 in December 2012 (with comments due 23 April 2013).  

The objective of the proposed amendment was to introduce guidance on the accounting, 
by a joint operator, for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation, as defined in 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a 
business, as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations. IFRS 11 (Amended in 2011) did 
not provide guidance on this issue. The IASB proposed that acquirers of such interests 
should apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting in IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations, and other IFRSs, that do not conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11 and 
disclose the information that is required in those IFRSs in relation to business 
combinations. 

In October 2013 the IASB considered the comments received from respondents on this 
Exposure Draft and the feedback from the Interpretations Committee. The IASB tentatively 
decided to finalise the proposed amendment with the following additional clarifications:  

(a) The guidance on the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation applies to both:  

i. The acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation; and 

ii. The acquisition of additional interests in the same joint operation; 

(b) The relevant principles on business combinations accounting in IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations and other IFRSs are all the principles on business combinations 
accounting in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs unless they conflict with the principles in 
IFRS 11; and 

(c) The final sentence of paragraph BC10 in the Exposure Draft is added to the 
application guidance in paragraph B33B of the amendment. This sentence 
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specifies that the amendment does not apply if no existing business is contributed 
to the joint operation on formation of that joint operation and the formation of the 
joint operation therefore coincides with the formation of the business. 

The IASB also discussed two further issues relating to this project and tentatively decided 
that: 

(a) The amendments to IFRS 11 should clarify that a previously held interest in a joint 
operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the 
same joint operation while retaining joint control; and 

(b) A scope exclusion should be added to specify that the amendments to IFRS 11 do 
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are 
under the common control of the same ultimate controlling party. 

The IASB issued Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 
(Amendments to IFRS 11) in May 2014. 

Impact on IPSASB’s EDs 

The IPSASB did not incorporate the proposals in IASB ED/2012/7 in ED 51 on the 
grounds that it would be more appropriate to consider the proposals in that ED in the 
context of drafting standards level requirements for public sector combinations. This 
decision was noted in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 51. 

Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB issued Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11) in May 2014; and 

(b) Confirm its previous decision that it would be more appropriate to consider how to 
account for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a 
business (as required by Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 
(Amendments to IFRS 11)) in the context of drafting standards level requirements 
for public sector combinations.  

ED/2013/10 Equity 
Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 
(Proposed 
amendments to 
IAS 27) 

The IASB issued ED/2013/10 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Proposed 
amendments to IAS 27) in December 2013 (with comments due 3 February 2014).   

The ED proposed to amend paragraph 10 of IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements to 
allow an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
using the equity method in its separate financial statements.  

In April 2014 the IASB tentatively decided to finalize the amendments as originally 
proposed. The final amendments are expected to be issued in 2014 Quarter 3. 

Impact on IPSASB’s EDs 

Consistent with the requirements of IPSAS 6, IPSASB ED 48 proposed to permit the use 
of the equity method in separate financial statements. The IPSASB’s rationale for this 
decision was outlined in the Basis for Conclusions on ED 48.  
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 Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB has decided to proceed with its proposals to permit the use of 
the equity method in separate financial statements (the amendments are expected 
to be issued in the third quarter of 2014); and  

(b) Agree to update the Basis for Conclusions on the standard based on ED 48 to 
reflect this fact. 

Elimination of gains or 
losses arising from 
transactions between 
an entity and its 
associate or joint 
venture (Proposed 
amendments to 
IAS 28) 

The objective of this project is to clarify the accounting for a ‘downstream’ transaction 
between an entity and its associate or joint venture when the gain from the transaction 
exceeds the carrying amount of the entity’s interest in the associate or joint venture. 

Specifically, the issue is about whether: 

(a) The gain from the transaction should be eliminated only to the extent that it does 
not exceed the carrying amount of the entity’s investment in the joint venture, or 

(b) The remaining gain in excess of the carrying amount of the entity’s investment in 
the joint venture should also be eliminated and if so, what it should be eliminated 
against. 

The Interpretations Committee had noted that the issue applied to an entity’s downstream 
transactions with both associates and joint ventures. The Interpretations Committee 
recommended that a gain from a downstream transaction should be eliminated to the 
extent of the related investors’ interest in the associate or joint venture, even if the gain to 
be eliminated exceeds the carrying amount of the entity’s investment in the associate or 
joint venture, in which case any excess of the carrying amount of the entity’s investment in 
the entity would be presented as a deferred gain. 

The Interpretations Committee recommended that the IASB should amend IAS 28 through 
a narrow-scope project to clarify that the eliminated gain that exceeds the carrying amount 
of the entity’s investment in the associate or joint venture should be presented as a 
deferred gain. The IASB tentatively agreed with the Interpretations Committee’s 
recommendation and added this project to its agenda in 2013. 

An exposure draft is expected in 2014 Quarter 3.  

 Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB plans to issue an ED clarifying the accounting for a 
‘downstream’ transaction between an entity and its associate or joint venture (in the 
third quarter of 2014); and  

(b) Agree to monitor the IASB’s project. 
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Equity method 
research project  

The IASB has tentatively decided (May 2014) to review the circumstances in which the 
equity method is applied in current IFRS, with the objective of identifying the financial 
reporting problem or problems in the application of the equity method. The IASB has 
emphasized that it intends to focus on identifying problems related to the equity method, 
to ensure that it does not attempt to resolve problems that are not clearly identified. 

Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB has a research project on the usefulness of the equity method 
of accounting; 

(b) Note that this project is still at an early stage – no decisions are expected this 
year; and 

(c) Note that the IPSASB has previously agreed to monitor the IASB’s research 
project on the equity method and, in the context of the liaison meetings with the 
IASB, to indicate the IPSASB’s interest in this project.  

Investment Entities: 
Clarifications to the 
accounting for interests 
in subsidiaries and 
applying the 
consolidation 
exemption (Proposed 
amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28) 

The IASB proposes to issue an ED, in June 2014, to address the following three issues. 

Amendments to IFRS 10—an investment entity subsidiary that also provides investment-
related services 

The IASB proposes to amend IFRS 10 by confirming that an investment entity parent 
should measure all of its subsidiaries at fair value, including those that are themselves 
investment entities. The proposed amendment will also clarify that the limited exception to 
this fair value requirement applies only to those operating subsidiaries whose only 
substantive purpose is to provide support services for the investment entity’s activities 
(including providing investment-related services to third parties) and, as such, act as an 
extension of the operations of the investment entity. The limited exception to the fair value 
requirement does not apply to subsidiaries that both perform investment-related services 
and have a more than insignificant amount of direct investing activities.  

 Amendments to IFRS 10—exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements 
requirements in IFRS 10: Applicability to a subsidiary of an investment entity 

The IASB proposes to amend IFRS 10 to confirm that the exemption from preparing 
consolidated financial statements set out in paragraph 4(a) of IFRS 10 should be available 
to an intermediate parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity but that is not 
an investment entity itself. 

 Amendments to IAS 28—application of the equity method by a non-investment entity 
investor to an investment entity investee 

The IASB proposes to amend IAS 28 by: 

(a) Requiring a non-investment-entity investor to retain, when applying the equity 
method, the fair value accounting applied by an investment entity associate; and 

(b) Clarifying that a non-investment-entity investor that is a party to an investment entity 
joint venture cannot, when applying the equity method, retain the fair value 
accounting applied by that investment entity joint venture.  

(source: IASB agenda paper 12G April 2014) 
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 Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IASB intends to propose further narrow scope amendments to 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (an ED is expected in June 2014); and 

(b) Agree to monitor this project. 

Issues being 
considered, or to be 
considered, by the 
IFRIC  

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements—analysis of implementation issues 

The Interpretations Committee is currently considering, or is about to consider various 
implementation issues relating to IFRS 11.  These include: 

(a) Whether an assessment of ‘other facts and circumstances’ should take into account 
facts and circumstances that do not involve contractual and (legal) enforceable 
terms;  

(b) The accounting by a joint operation that is a separate vehicle; 

(c) How the parties to a joint operation should recognize assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses, especially if the parties’ interests in the assets and liabilities differ 
from their ownership interest in the joint operation; and 

(d) The classification of a common joint arrangement structure (the so-called ‘project 
entity’). 

The next steps will be decided when the IFRIC has completed its consideration of these 
issues.   

Recommendation for IPSASB June 2014: that the IPSASB:  

(a) Note that the IFRIC is considering, or is about to consider various implementation 
issues related to IFRS 11; and 

(b) Agree to monitor the IFRIC deliberations. 
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List of Respondents on EDs 48 to 52 Interests Other Entities: 
Respondents have been given a single Response Number (R#) for analysis.   

The Submitted Comment Letter Numbers (CL#) on the IPSASB website are also shown by ED.  

R# Respondent Country Function ED 48 
CL# 

ED 49 
CL# 

ED 50 
CL# 

ED 51 
CL# 

ED 52 
CL# 

01 Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) Australia Standard Setter/Standards 
Advisory Body 

23 27 18 17 22 

02 Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG) Australia Audit Office 07 09   07 

03 Joint Accounting Bodies (CPA Australia and the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia) 

Australia Member or Regional Body 17 20 11 11 16 

04 Heads of Treasuries Accounting and Reporting Advisory 
Committee (HoTARAC) 

Australia Preparer 05 06 04 04 05 

05 Denise Silva Ferreira Juvenal Brazil Other 19 22 14 13 18 

06 Ministry Finance, Quebec  Canada Preparer   12   

07 Public Sector Accounting Standards Board staff (PSAB) Canada Standard Setter/Standards 
Advisory Body 

09 11 06 06 09 

08 European Commission Accounting Officer Europe Other  31    

09 Federation of European Accountants (FEE) Europe Member or Regional Body 20 23 15 14 19 

10 Conseil de Normalisation des Comptes Publics (CNOCP) France Standard Setter/Standards 
Advisory Body 

03 04 04 03 04 

11 Cour des comptes France Audit Office 08 10 05 05 08 

12 Direction Générale des Finances Publiques France Preparer 02 03 02 02 02 

13 JB Mattret France Individual 16 19   15 

14 Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) International Member or Regional Body 04 05    

15 International Consortium on Governmental Financial 
Management (ICGFM) 

International Other  01    

16 PwC International Accountancy Firm 18 21 13 12 17 

17 Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (JICPA) Japan Member or Regional Body 14 16 09 09 13 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 2 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# Respondent Country Function ED 48 
CL# 

ED 49 
CL# 

ED 50 
CL# 

ED 51 
CL# 

ED 52 
CL# 

18 Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya (ICPAK) Kenya Member or Regional Body 10 13 07 07 10 

19 Accountant General Office of Malaysia (AG Office) and the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) 

Malaysia Member or Regional Body 27 24 22 22 20 

20 Auckland Council New Zealand Preparer 26 15 23 20 26 

21 New Zealand Accounting Standards Board (NZASB)  New Zealand Standard Setter/Standards 
Advisory Body 

25 29 20 19 24 

22 New Zealand Superannuation Fund New Zealand Preparer  07    

23 The Treasury New Zealand Preparer 24 28 19 18 23 

24 Association of National Accountants of Nigeria (ANAN) Nigeria Member or Regional Body 06 08   06 

25 Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN) Nigeria Member or Regional Body 13  08  12 

26 Accounting Standards Board  South Africa Member or Regional Body 22 26 17 16 21 

27 Swedish National Financial Management Authority (ESV) Sweden Standard Setter/Standards 
Advisory Body 

11 14  08 11 

28 Swiss Public Sector Financial Reporting Advisory 
Committee (SRS-CSPCP) 

Switzerland Standard Setter/Standards 
Advisory Body 

21 25 16 15 03 

29 Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority United Arab 
Emirates 

Audit Office 01 02 01 01 01 

30 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) 

United Kingdom Member or Regional Body 12 30 21 21 25 

31 Ichabod’s Industries United Kingdom Accountancy Firm  12    

32 Government Accountability Office (GAO) United States Preparer  17    

33 Zambia Institute of Chartered Accountants (ZICA) Zambia Member or Regional Body 15 18 10 10 14 

 Total Number of Responses for each ED   27 31 23 22 26 
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General Comments on EDs 48 to 52: 

R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON EDs 48 TO 52 

STAFF COMMENTS 

01 Overall, the AASB is generally supportive of the proposals in the EDs and the move towards convergence with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as we consider that differences between IFRSs and IPSASs should be minimised to 
the extent possible, and divergence should only occur when there are specific public sector reasons for doing so. 

However, the AASB has concerns with a number of aspects of the proposals. These areas are expanded on in the attached 
Appendix. We recommend that: 

• the definition of power be aligned to that in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (ED 49); 

• controlling entities that are not investment entities should fully consolidate their controlled investment entities (ED 49); 

• a retained interest in a former associate or joint venture that becomes a financial asset should be measured at fair value 
(ED 50); and 

• disclosure requirements not be fulfilled by cross-referencing to reports outside the financial statements (ED 52). 

 

02 ED 48 Separate Financial Statements (ED48) 
ACAG believes that, as far as possible, the requirements of International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) should 
align with those of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Therefore, ACAG generally support the IPSASB’s 
proposals in ED 48 as they are consistent with the corresponding proposals by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) to amend IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements. ACAG recommends that the IPSASB monitor this IASB project and 
proceed accordingly. 

Please refer to Attachment 1 for responses to the specific matters for comment. 

ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements (ED49) 
ACAG agrees with most of the proposals raised by IPSASB in relation to ED 49.  

ACAG believes the proposals are consistent with meeting the overall objectives of financial reporting outlined in the Conceptual 
Framework. The definition of control and the consolidation requirements will promote consistent and comparable public sector 
financial information. ACAG has reservations about some of the proposals regarding investment entities as they are not 
consistent with the IASB’s equivalent standard IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and ED 51 Joint Arrangements. 
ACAG has no comment to make on these exposure drafts. 

ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. 
ACAG has reservations about some of the proposals raised by the IPSASB in relation to ED 52. 

Consistent with our comments on ED 49, ACAG does not support the divergence from IFRS in relation to investment entities. 
Further, ACAG believes an investment entity should be required to disclose information about significant judgements and 
assumptions it has made in determining its investment entity status regardless of whether it meets the investment entity criteria 
outlined in ED 49. 
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON EDs 48 TO 52 

STAFF COMMENTS 

03 ED 48 
We were pleased to read that the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) has reaffirmed its policy of 
converging the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), to the extent appropriate, with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Therefore, it is our expectation 
that IPSASB will only modify IFRS when there are unique public sector issues that would warrant such modifications. This 
approach promotes the goal of global standard setting and provides national standards setters such as Australia with financial 
reporting standards that can be used to support their reporting frameworks for both ‘non-profit’ entities and ‘for profit’ entities. 

We generally support the proposals in the ED. However, in the absence of unique public sector issues that would warrant a 
divergence from IFRS, we would prefer the IPSASB to delay any revision to the standard so that its decision on its proposal to 
permit the use of the equity method in separate financial statements is aligned with the final decision of the IASB on its 
proposals to change its standard. The current proposal in the IPSASB ED is not consistent with current IFRS. We do 
appreciate that the IASB is currently reviewing IAS 27 with a view to changing the requirements in this same area. However, 
the IPSASB should not pre-empt these changes and should wait until the IASB has finalised any changes before incorporating 
them into a final standard. 

 

 ED 49 
[Repeated comment about convergence with IFRS to the extent appropriate]. 

We generally support the proposals in the ED. However, we do not support the proposal that a controlling entity that is not itself 
an investment entity does not consolidate controlled investment entities. Our rationale is based on consistency with IFRS 10, 
as well as our concern about the proposed exemption presenting possible structuring opportunities. 

 

 ED 50 
[Repeated comment about convergence with IFRS to the extent appropriate]. 

We generally support the proposals. However, we recommend that guidance is developed for use when an entity retains an 
interest in a former associate or joint venture that is a financial asset and published quotations are not available. This guidance 
could be used on an interim basis, until the IPSASB decides to incorporate IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement into its standards. 

ED 51 
[Repeated comment about convergence with IFRS to the extent appropriate]. 

We support the proposals contained in the ED. 

ED 52 
[Repeated comment about convergence with IFRS to the extent appropriate]. 

We generally support the proposals in the ED. However, we do not support the disclosures in relation to the controlling entity of 
an investment entity disclosing information about unconsolidated investment entities. Our rationale for not supporting these 
disclosures is because we do not support the associated accounting treatment as proposed in ED 49 Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON EDs 48 TO 52 

STAFF COMMENTS 

04 The Heads of Treasuries Accounting and Reporting Advisory Committee (HoTARAC) welcomes the opportunity to provide 
comments to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) on the Exposure Drafts: ED 48 Separate 
Financial Statements (ED 48), ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements (ED 49), ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (ED 50), ED 51 Joint Arrangements (ED 51) and ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (ED 52).   

HoTARAC is an intergovernmental committee that advises Australian Heads of Treasuries on accounting and reporting issues.  
The Committee comprises the senior accounting policy representatives from all Australian States, Territories and the Australian 
Government. 

HoTARAC commends the IPSASB’s efforts in developing International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for 
reporting on interests in other entities, specifically controlled entities, associates and joint arrangements. HoTARAC strongly 
supports the strategy to converge IPSASs with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and acknowledges the need to consider issues that are specific and unique 
to the public sector. However, HoTARAC has concerns on some of the proposed accounting treatments that in our view would 
significantly depart from the IFRS requirements without achieving significant improvements in financial reporting for public 
sector entities. 

In particular, HoTARAC does not support the proposed requirement in ED 49 for extending the consolidation relief to a 
controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity (that relief proposing that such a controlling entity would measure its 
investments held by a controlled investment entity at fair value).  

General comments 
HoTARAC strongly supports the IPSASB’s strategy to converge IPSASs with IFRSs in developing accounting standards for 
public sector entities and to only consider modifications for unique issues that are specific to the public sector. 

While HoTARAC agrees on most of the proposals in the EDs, HoTARAC has some concerns about the proposed accounting 
treatments that in our view would significantly depart from the IFRS requirements without achieving significant improvements in 
financial reporting by public sector entities.   

In particular, HoTARAC does not support the proposed requirement in ED 49 requiring a controlling entity that is not itself an 
investment entity to account for its investments held by a controlled investment entity at fair value through profit or loss.  In 
most other instances, HoTARAC considers that the proposed additional or alternative requirements are unnecessary and/or 
potentially confusing. 

The following comments set out HoTARAC’s detailed responses on those EDs. Given HoTARAC only has a limited number of 
concerns, comments contained in this attachment do not address each Specific Matter for Comment outlined in each of the 
EDs. 

 

05 I suggest for the board, if agrees, that observes this discussion about Evaluation Report Impact and Effectiveness of EU Public 
Procurement Legislation  of The European Commission, I know that do not have direct impact, however, this results can be 
improve this discussion. 

 

06 ED 50  
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON EDs 48 TO 52 

STAFF COMMENTS 

In our opinion, we think that the concept of significant influence is not appropriate for the public sector. This concept is more 
linked to the private sector. The reason is when an entity has significant influence over an investee it would normally expect to 
get benefits from that investment. 

Also, even if, by laws, rules or contracts, governments have powers to influence financial and operating policies of many 
entities, a government’s interest is limited only to the regulation aspect. The ability of a government to regulate those entities 
doesn’t represent a form of control neither significant influence. 

Moreover, in the public sector it is very difficult to make a distinction between a situation when a government has significant 
influence and not. Besides, significant influence is not a relevant concept in the Canadian accounting standards for the public 
sector both in the government reporting entity and in the future standard on related parties. 

07 Overall, we welcome the changes proposed in Exposure Drafts (EDs) 48 to 52 to replace IPSASs 6 to 8. We found the public 
sector terminologies, examples and paragraphs appropriate modifications to the related IFRSs. 

Regarding the proposed requirement to consolidate all controlled entities except the investment entities in ED 49 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements,” we understand that IPSASB came to the conclusion of not exempting government business enterprises 
(GBEs) from line-by-line consolidation after deliberation of both sides of the argument.    

Our experience indicates that consolidating GBEs using a modified equity method works well in practice. Given the business 
and self-sustaining nature of GBEs in Canada, this method of consolidating GBEs produces useful information in the 
consolidated financial statements for users to assess accountability.  

We understand that the definition of GBEs in our standards differs from IPSASB’s definition. We suggest that IPSASB 
reconsider whether consolidating GBEs on a line-by-line basis remains the best solution once the project to review the current 
definition of GBEs is completed.  

We thank you for the opportunity to comment and look forward to the publication of the final IPSASs of these EDs. Please note 
that the views in this letter and the appendices are those of staff and do not represent the views of the Public Sector 
Accounting Board. 

 

08 Thank you for giving me the opportunity to comment on the Exposure Draft 49 on consolidated financial statements. The 
following comments are made in my capacity as Accounting Officer of the European Commission responsible for, amongst 
other tasks, the preparation of the annual consolidated accounts of the European Union which comprise more than 50 
European Agencies, Institutions and other Bodies with an annual budget of more than EUR 140 billion. These consolidated 
financial statements are drawn-up following IPSAS based accounting rules. 

As a general comment, I am pleased to note that the current proposal contains even more public sector related terminology 
and guidance on the control concept in the public sector. Please find my comments on specific matters of this exposure draft in 
the Annex to this note. 

I look forward to our continued co-operation in the area of public sector accounting and remain at your disposal for any 
questions that you may have on these comments. 

 

09 ED 48  
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(2) We strongly support IPSASB’s programme which helpfully combines IFRS converged IPSASs on matters which are 
common to both private and public sectors, public sector specific IPSASs on matters which are unique to the sector, and 
conceptual work which will inform the development of standards in future, seeking to achieve the optimum balance between 
maintaining comparability and addressing sector specific issues. 

(3) We have reviewed the changes in terminology between this Exposure Draft and its donor Standard, IAS 27, and agree that 
the revised terminology better represents the position of public sector bodies. 

(4) We have also considered the IPSASB’s decision to replace references to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments contained in IAS 27 
with references to the IPSASs dealing with financial instruments. As the IPSASB has not yet considered the applicability to the 
public sector of this standard, and also in view of the fact that the IASB’s proposed amendments to this standard are not 
complete, we agree with the IPSASB’s decision to remove references to it in this Exposure Draft. 

(5) We also agree with the proposal that if an investment entity measures its investments in a controlled entity at fair value 
through surplus or deficit in its consolidated accounts it should also account for those investments in the same way in its 
separate financial statements. 

ED 49 
(2) We strongly support IPSASB’s programme which helpfully combines IFRS converged IPSASs on matters which are 
common to both private and public sectors, public sector specific IPSASs on matters which are unique to the sector, and 
conceptual work which will inform the development of standards in future, seeking to achieve the optimum balance between 
maintaining comparability and addressing sector specific issues. 

(3) We have reviewed the changes in terminology between this Exposure Draft and its donor Standard, IFRS 10, and agree 
that the revised terminology better represents the position of public sector bodies. We also agree with the inclusion of 
additional commentary and illustrative examples in the Exposure Draft to clarify the applicability of the proposed Standard to 
accounting by public sector entities. 

(4) We have also considered the IPSASB’s decision to replace references to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments contained in IAS 27 
with references to the IPSASs dealing with financial instruments. As the IPSASB has not yet considered the applicability to the 
public sector of this standard, and also in view of the fact that the IASB’s proposed amendments to this standard are not 
complete, we agree with the IPSASB’s decision to remove references to it in this Exposure Draft. 

Likewise, we also agree with the IPSASB’s decision to replace references with IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations, with those of relevant IPSASs on the grounds that IPSASB has not yet considered this standard for 
applicability to the public sector. 

ED 50 
(2) We strongly support IPSASB’s programme which helpfully combines IFRS converged IPSASs on matters which are 
common to both private and public sectors, public sector specific IPSASs on matters which are unique to the sector, and 
conceptual work which will inform the development of standards in future, seeking to achieve the optimum balance between 
maintaining comparability and addressing sector specific issues. 

(3) We have reviewed the changes in terminology between this Exposure Draft and its donor standard, IAS 28, and agree that 
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the revised terminology better represents the position of public sector bodies. We also agree with the inclusion of additional 
commentary in the Exposure Draft to clarify the applicability of the proposed Standard to accounting by public sector entities. 

(4) We have also considered the IPSASB’s decision to replace references to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments contained in IAS 27 
with references to the IPSASs dealing with financial instruments. As the IPSASB has not yet considered the applicability to the 
public sector of this standard, and also in view of the fact that the IASB’s proposed amendments to this standard are not 
complete, we agree with the IPSASB’s decision to remove references to it in this Exposure Draft. 

(5) In accordance with ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements, we agree with the IPSASB’s decision not to include a 
temporary control exemption in this standard for the same reasons as quoted in our response letter to that Exposure Draft. 

ED 51 
(2) We strongly support IPSASB’s programme which helpfully combines IFRS converged IPSASs on matters which are 
common to both private and public sectors, public sector specific IPSASs on matters which are unique to the sector, and 
conceptual work which will inform the development of standards in future, seeking to achieve the optimum balance between 
maintaining comparability and addressing sector specific issues. 

(3) We have reviewed the changes in terminology between this Exposure Draft and its donor standard, IFRS 11, and agree that 
the revised terminology better represents the position of public sector bodies. We also agree with the inclusion of additional 
commentary in the Exposure Draft to clarify the applicability of the proposed Standard to accounting by public sector entities. 

ED 52 
(2) We strongly support IPSASB’s programme which helpfully combines IFRS converged IPSASs on matters which are 
common to both private and public sectors, public sector specific IPSASs on matters which are unique to the sector, and 
conceptual work which will inform the development of standards in future, seeking to achieve the optimum balance between 
maintaining comparability and addressing sector specific issues. 

(3) We have reviewed the changes in terminology between this Exposure Draft and its donor standard, IFRS 12, and agree that 
the revised terminology better represents the position of public sector bodies. We also agree with the inclusion of additional 
commentary in the Exposure Draft to clarify the applicability of the proposed Standard to accounting by public sector entities. 

10 The Council welcomes the IPSAS Board’s initiative in working on the consolidation issue, a project that is conceptually 
challenging and is likely to raise major practical difficulties. The Council notes that the IPSAS Board’s approach has been to 
rely on the work of the IASB and to try to adapt it to public sector features. The Council regrets that this attempt to adapt to the 
public sector has not succeeded and considers in particular that the definition of control proposed by the Exposure Draft ED 49 
should be reviewed. Indeed, in the public sector, the control does not usually result from ownership interests.  

This project should therefore be investigated further to determine the appropriate criteria to assess the control when the 
potentially controlled entity does not have any equity instruments and when the benefits from such entity do not correspond to 
cash flows. 

In this context, it is likely that governance should play a major role in the assessment of control. The Council stresses that the 
governance of public entities can not be compared to the governance of private entities insofar as it does not stem from 
uniform and homogeneous legal provisions but from specific legislation or regulations, statutory provisions or other 
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administrative arrangements with little common characteristics. 

The Council also regrets that the publication of the five EDs has not been accompanied by discussions on the proposed 
consolidation methods (full combination of like items of the financial statements and equity method) and their relevance 
regarding the characteristics and activities of consolidated entities. 

Moreover, the objective of alignment with the principles of GFSM 2013 may be interpreted as aiming to the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements of the public sector as a whole and / or of all sub-sectors (such as local governments or 
national social security). The Council considers that the control model as defined in ED 49 can not be the basis for such 
consolidated financial statements given the difficulties that may arise to identify the parent entities in such sectors or sub-
sectors. In this respect, the Council notes that other kinds of aggregation of accounts have not been considered by the EDs. 

Given the importance of these topics, the Council regrets that no Consultation Papers have been published prior to the 
Exposure Drafts which would have allowed constituents to benefit from a longer period of thinking and to provide more in-depth 
contributions. The purpose of consolidated financial statements could have been usefully discussed during this first phase for 
example. 

The Board also regrets that the comment period was too short while much less important topics benefit from an equivalent 
comment period. 

11 The French Cour des comptes is the superior audit institution in charge of external audit and control of public sector entities 
according to the constitution of the French Republic. The Advisory Committee on Public Sector Accounting Standards prepares 
its statements, answers and advices on  public sector accounting standards matters, relating to entities from the three sub 
sectors (Central Government, Local Authorities, and Social Security). 

The present consultation gives the opportunity for the Cour des comptes  to express its views on the EDs 48 to 52 on "Interests 
in other entities". 

1. The Cour des comptes wishes at first to underline the strong complexity of consolidation matters in the public sector. The 
notion of "group" is less intuitive than in the private sector, especially because of the specific role of the Central 
government, which, at least in France, but also within a large number of other countries, takes a preeminent part in 
macroeconomics steering and surveillance, in parallel with its status as a "leader" of the large group of entities that are 
components of the national public sector. Its influence is also increased by the prerogatives of the central state and its 
role in the preparation and execution of the budgets submitted to the Parliament. 

It is then very reductive to deal with consolidation in the public sector only from a simple attempt to update IPSAS 
because of changes introduced in IFRS, which are standards for consolidation in the private sector where capitalistic and  
economic controls are emphasized. 

Complexity in the public sector is also impacted by larger numbers of entities. In France, for example, there are about 
170,000 public divided into national, local or social security sectors where financial statements and accounting operations 
are conducted by services depending from the central government, according to the legal rules on public accounting. The 
consolidation of such a large collection would obviously bring considerable operational difficulties. 

2. The Cour des comptes observes that the EDs introduces a rewriting of a lot of IPSAS without any other justification but 

 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 10 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON EDs 48 TO 52 

STAFF COMMENTS 

changes  in IFRS. The Cour  acknowledges here again a negative effect of the strategic priority of a convergence 
between IPSAS and IFRS, rather than the building of a set of standards adapted to the specificities of the public sector. 
The proposals mentioned in the EDs never appear to be motivated by an evaluation of the strengths and weaknesses of 
existing IPSAS that would be backed by an analysis of the feedback from entities having implemented them (or having 
decided not to implement them). The Cour cannot approve a method ignoring the lessons of practice of IPSAS in the 
name of a systematic follow up of IFRS, whose suitability for the public sector remains to be demonstrated. 

3. The EDs illustrate, furthermore, the obstacle attached to the obligation, in order to be able to claim a full compliancy with 
IPSAS, to produce consolidated financial statements. Such a constraint only adds a difficulty that increases the 
reluctance of entities to adopt IPSAS. It appears even more rigid than what is settled for the private sector, in the 
European Union, where consolidated  financial  statements under IFRS are mandatory only for groups tapping the 
international financial markets. Private entities produce separate financial statements under the local GAAP (in France: 
the Plan Comptable General), and only a minority of them match the legal criteria to produce consolidated financial 
statements, or choose to do so. The dogma of a systematic convergence with IFRS would lead, as a paradox, to 
establish for the public sector a consolidation requirement that would be exhaustive and therefore more rigid than in the 
private sector. 

4. The EDs, as in other consultations, avoid to propose any distinction between entities according to their size or their 
nature, although these are substantial factors or issues in the field of consolidation. In the area of central government or 
social security, the opportunity and the feasibility of a consolidation as defined would be at huge costs and would need to 
be challenged, taking into account the previous existence of solid GFS frameworks and practices, founded on stable 
international standards, especially in the EU, which already produce a wide range of information for transparency and 
surveillance. 

5  The EDs do not provide evaluations of existing practices implemented in the public sectors in various jurisdictions that 
could have increased the relevance  of the proposals, now too much focused on following the moves in IFRS. For 
example, the French Social Security uses "combination", very close to consolidation techniques, but providing solutions 
relevant in that field. The Social security has also established a "Patrimony table" that determines the net asset of the 
global system, which appears to be a useful and reasonable substitute for a consolidated balance sheet. Such a 
statement would have been be hard to build otherwise according to the organization of the Social security branches and 
regimes, without any unique "mother entity". It is unfortunate that the alignment of IPSAS on IFRS leads to ignore the 
progresses and good practices implemented in some jurisdictions on the basis of an actual knowledge of the specificities 
of their public sectors. 

As a conclusion, the Cour des comptes regrets that the IPSAS Board method is only focused on the transposition of IFRS 
evolutions into IPSAS through a kind of up- dating that does not take into account the specificities of the public sector, 
when the ability of IFRS to give a faithful picture of them has not been demonstrated. The Cour deems that the exigency 
of a consolidation in the public sector as a condition to claim full compliance with IPSAS will discourage its diffusion, 
without any actual added value in countries already submitted to a solid system of GFS and its benefits in terms of 
macro-economic pilotage and transparency. 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 11 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON EDs 48 TO 52 

STAFF COMMENTS 

12 The “Direction générale des finances publiques” (The French Directorate of Public Finances), or “DGFIP”, considers that the 
issue of consolidating the financial statements of the whole public sector needs to be addressed but that in doing so due 
consideration should be given to the specific characteristics of the public sector. 

In this respect, we find it regrettable that fundamental issues such as the objectives and the meaning of consolidated financial 
statements in the context of the public sector are not dealt with in the exposure drafts published by the IPSASB, namely ED 48, 
ED 49, ED 50, ED 51 and ED 52, hereafter referred as the “consolidation package”. In our view, for the sake of coherence an 
overall approach is required to the issue of consolidating public sector financial statements. Indeed, an examination of the 
exposure drafts shows that the issues raised therein are closely related. Consequently, to ensure a coherent approach, the 
DGFiP is making an overall reply rather than one for each exposure draft. Nevertheless, we answer all the questions. 

In our view, dealing with these issues, relating to the purposes and usefulness of consolidated financial statements, is a pre-
requisite as they fashion the definition of the “reporting entity”, meaning the “consolidating entity” or “parent entity” 
corresponding to the reporting entity and its controlled entities. In this respect, the notion of “economic entity” appears unclear 
and unsuitable as a definition of the consolidated group comprising the controlling and controlled entities.  

Moreover, it is infortunate that these reflections do not draw more on the established practices of governments that currently 
produce consolidated financial statements, especially for the definition of “reporting entity” and the scope of consolidation. On 
this subject, we note that there is diversity of practice and that the scope of consolidation is not only based on control as in New 
Zealand and Canada. In the United Kingdom, for example, the scope of consolidation is close to the definition of the public 
sector in the National Accounts. In the case of Australia a mixed approach has been adopted combining control and other 
criteria specific to the public sector. 

In our view, the relevance of preparationof consolidated financial statements for the public sector as a whole requires further 
consideration in order to ensure these statements are meaningful and usefulness for users. In this respect, the application of 
the single control criterion (as defined in the “consolidation package”) would not permit coverage of the whole public sector and 
in particular of the local public sector. In France, central government does not exercise control over local authorities because of 
their self-governing status guaranteed by the Constitution. In addition, no control relationship exists between local authorities. 
Consequently, the control criterion is inappropriate for preparing consolidated financial statements for the public sector as a 
whole. Similarly, the control criterion applied to local authorities would not permit the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements for the whole sub-sector local authorities. 

As a result, we recommend studying the relevance and feasibility of preparing consolidated financial statements by sub-sector 
of level of government (as defined in the National Accounts). In France, the public sector has its own specific organisation by 
area of responsibility in line with the Constitution. Hence, there are three areas of responsibility:  

- Central government and public bodies; 
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- Social security organisations; 

- Local government with independent status for the exercise of their responsibilities and administration of their resources1 
guaranteed by the Constitution.   

This breakdown of the public sector based on areas of responsibility, would also have the advantage of being a basis 
consistent with that of the Statistics of Public Finance (SPF) which also have a structure based on areas of government 
responsibility whether territorial (national or local)2 or social. 

In fact, we consider that convergence between the two system of reporting, IPSAS and SPF, is not appropriate because they 
have different objectives and a different purpose3. This would be even more evident if convergence were to lead to an increase 
in reporting options in the IPSASs: the increase of reporting options which would tend to reduce the comparability of public 
accounts.  

Where the preparation of consolidated financial statements is relevant, for example in the case of the group “State and public-
bodies 4“, the control criterion is essential but nevertheless requires clarification. In our view, the assessment of control is 
based firstly on an examination of the entities’ governance in order to determine the scope of the reporting entity (in our 
example, the State is the reporting entity of the “State Group”). Indeed, “power” in the public sector, does not always take the 
form of voting rights and, when it does, the latter do not always represent ownership interests in the capital of the entity.  

In addition, the notion of non-financial benefits is inadequate and unsuitable given the nature of public action, the main purpose 
of which is to supply goods and services to the community within the framework of public policies financed by different forms of 
taxation. Indeed, this is what differentiates the public from the private sector, the main purpose of the latter being to make 
profit. 

In the separate financial statements of the French Central Government, a distinction is made between investments in controlled 
and non-controlled entities. This distinction provides the foundations for a future consolidation of the “State Group” in the 
medium term.  

In this respect, we agree with the IPSASB that IPSASs should not apply to Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) which 
are, moreover, according to the circumstances, already subject to either national or Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the application of international accounting standard, says “IFRS 
regulation”. However, we believe that the IPSASB does not draw the necessary conclusions regarding the method of 
consolidating these business entities in the consolidated financial statements of public entities. 

Thus, it does not seem relevant to adopt the same treatment for entities with different legal status and activities, that is non-

1 Article 72 of the Constitution stipulates that “these communities are self-governing through elected councils and shall have powers to make regulations for matters coming within 
their jurisdiction” and that “territorial communities enjoy revenue of which they may dispose freely in the conditions determined by statute”.  

2 A fourth level of government is included in the National Accounts: federal government which only exists in those countries with a federal system of government such as Germany, 
Austria and Belgium. Spain is also considered to be a Federal State in its National Accounts. 

3 As stated in our response to the consultation paper of the IPSASB, in October 2012, « IPSASs and Government Finance Statistics Reporting Guidelines ». 
4 Hereafter referred to as the “State Group”. 
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business and business entities (Government Business Enterprises, or GBEs). 

Consequently, consolidation methods must be adapted to reflect the nature of the entity, so that only non-business entities are 
fully consolidated and the others are accounted for on an equity basis (as indicates in the answer n° 2 of ED 49). 

This guidance would also have the advantage of avoiding any possible confusion with the concepts and rules used in statistical 
accounting, in particular considering the method of determining public debt according to the terms of the European Union 
Treaty, which excludes the debts of Government Business Enterprises. 

13 No general comments.  

14 ED 48 
Overall, we are highly supportive of the work of the IPSASB and developments in international public sector accounting 
standards. We believe that the proposed standard for separate financial statements has practical use for prescribing the 
accounting and disclosure requirements for investments when a public sector entity prepares separate financial statements.  

ED 49  
We are highly supportive of the work of the IPSASB and developments in international public sector accounting standards. We 
believe that ED 49 for consolidated financial statements is helpful in setting out a definition of control for public entities and for 
clarifying matters in respect to the consolidation of temporarily controlled entities.  

We are pleased to see a close alignment to IFRS 10 for consolidated financial statements and changes to the terminology to 
make ED 49 public sector friendly.  

 

15 International Consortium on Governmental Financial Management (ICGFM) 

ED 49 
1. The International Consortium on Governmental Financial Management (ICGFM) welcomes the opportunity to respond to 

Exposure Draft (ED) 49 distributed by the IPSASB on Consolidated Financial Statements. We are extremely pleased that 
the IPSASB is working with the IMF to harmonize the standards in both reporting systems to the maximum extent possible. 

2. Working globally with governments, organizations, and individuals, ICGFM is dedicated to improving financial 
management by providing opportunities for professional development and information exchange. ICGFM conducts two 
major international conferences each year and publishes an international journal twice each year. Services are provided to 
its membership through an international network. ICGFM represents a broad array of financial management practitioners 
(accountants, auditors, comptrollers, information technology specialists, treasurers, and others) working in all levels of 
government (local/municipal, state/provincial, and national).  Since a significant number of our members work within 
government and audit institutions around the world, our response to this exposure draft is one from an international 
perspective. 

3. We believe that the following should have been emphasized to lay the foundation for the discussion in the ED: 

a. The Scope (para. 3) limits this Standard to those entities that apply the accrual basis of accounting. The principles in 
this Standard should also apply to those entities adhering to the Cash Basis IPSAS. 
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b. A reference to the information in statistical reports published by the International Monetary Fund and the United 
Nations in the Government Finance Statistic Manual (GFSM) should be included. 

16 PwC welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Exposure Drafts on Interests in Other Entities, which address fundamental 
questions of public sector accounting and financial reporting: 

- ED 48, Separate Financial Statements, 

- ED 49, Consolidated Financial Statements, 

- ED 50, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, 

- ED 51, Joint Arrangements, 

- ED 52, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. 

We also support the IPSASB’s approach which aligns IPSAS with IFRS where appropriate, and adequately addresses the 
specific characteristics of the public sector in the standards developed.  

Our response summarises the views of firms in the PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC’) network that commented on the 
consultation paper. ‘PwC’ refers to the network of member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, each of 
which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

 

17 No general comments.  

18 ED 48 
We agree with the proposal to proposal to permit the use of the equity method, in addition to cost or fair value, for investments 
in other entities. This is consistent with the recently issued ED 2013/10 – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
(Proposed Amendments to IAS 27) by the IASB. We believe the equity method provides information that is reliable and useful, 
and possibly at a lower cost than either the cost method or the fair value method. It is more relevant in the case of public sector 
where investment entities are often used more as “instruments” to enable service provision, rather than as a holding for 
investment purposes. 

ED 49 
We agree with the new definition of control and investment entity as provides more clarity to the preparers and users of 
financial statements. We however dissent to the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6, Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements (December 2006) for temporarily controlled entities. Governments will always have temporarily controlled 
entities because of its overall responsibility to the public consolidating them; from a cost perspective far outweigh the benefits 
when there are very many temporarily controlled entities and may mislead the users of financial statements as it may misstate 
the reality. 

ED 50 
We acknowledge the Boards initiative to align the IPSAS along the basis on IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). We believe the proposals in the exposure draft; proposed scope is limited to investments where there 
are “quantifiable ownership interests” and exclusion of special treatment for temporary control/ significant influence reduces the 
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element of subjectivity and ambiguity while accounting for investment in Associates and Joint Ventures. 

ED 51 
We agree with the definitions of joint operation and joint venture, and accounting for investment in a joint venture in 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method as it also aligns IPSAS with the provisions in IFRS 11 – Joint 
Arrangements. 

ED 52 
The Institute believes that the proposed standard on Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities provides a single reference to 
disclosure requirements thus making it easier for prepares of financial statements as is the case with IFRS 12 - Disclosure of 
Interest in Other Entities as issued by the IASB. The proposed Standard brings together the disclosure requirements in IPSASs 
6 - 8, it sets the threshold that should be attained to ensure that the financial statements are fairly represented. The 
Introduction of new disclosure requirements and definition of disclosure objectives and structured entity for the purpose of 
consolidation provides clear guidance to the preparers of financial statements. 

19 We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs 
except as set out below. 

 

20 Introduction  
1. Auckland Council (“the Council”) is the local authority for Auckland, which is New Zealand’s largest city and commercial 

hub.  Approximately 1.5 million of New Zealand’s total population of approximately 4.5 million reside within the Council’s 
boundaries. 

2. The Council has responsibility for local governance activities within its boundaries, including waste collection and disposal, 
recycling and waste management, parks, sports fields and community facilities, street cleaning, food safety and 
environmental improvements. The strategic role of the Council is to promote the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Auckland’s residents and communities.   

3. Subsidiaries of the Council are responsible for the provision of a number of additional services, including water and 
wastewater services, roads and public transport, property development and economic development.  

4. The External Reporting Board, which is responsible for promulgating financial reporting standards in New Zealand, has 
determined that New Zealand’s public sector and not-for-profit entities will report under standards based on International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (“IPSAS”), while for-profit entities will continue to report under New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”). Apart from some very minor New Zealand-specific 
additional disclosure requirements, NZ IFRS is identical to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for for-
profit entities. NZ IFRS is largely identical to IFRS for public sector and not-for-profit entities.  

5. The Council will adopt standards based on IPSAS in the annual period ending 30 June 2015. The Council currently reports 
under the requirements of NZ IFRS.   

6. The purpose of this submission is to provide the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (“the Board”) with 
our comments on ED 48 Separate Financial Statements, ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements (“ED 49”), ED 50 
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Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (“ED 50”), ED 51 Joint Arrangements and ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities (collectively “the EDs”).  The Council has a complex group structure and the EDs are consequently of 
significant relevance to the Council. 

General comments  
7. The Council is supportive of the Board’s stated objective of converging IPSASs, to the extent possible, with IFRS.  We 

consider that IFRSs are developed through a robust process and have been adopted by a significant number of 
economies and that these factors mean that they form a high quality and well understood base for setting accounting 
standards for public sector entities.   

8. However, we note that public sector entities operate under different objectives, and in different environments, to private 
sector entities, and that consequently appropriate public sector guidance is required to assist public sector entities with the 
implementation of IPSAS. We note the Board’s inclusion of considerable public sector guidance in the EDs, but consider 
that, in some instances, additional guidance is required. We suggest that additional guidance is particularly important 
where the requirements of an IPSAS will differ from the requirements of the IFRS on which it is based.    

9. The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs. There are, however, some matters that we consider require 
further examination. Rather than providing responses to each of the questions in each of the EDs, this submission will 
focus on those specific issues.  

21 We are pleased that the IPSASB has undertaken to update a number of key IPSASs and are generally supportive of the 
proposals in the EDs.  Most of our comments relate to the proposals in ED 49, particularly with respect to the definition of 
benefits and the application of the proposals to entities with pre-determined activities. In our experience the identification of 
benefits and assessments of control in relation to entities that have pre-determined activities are the most difficult aspects of 
assessing whether control exists. We therefore propose including additional guidance to more explicitly deal with situations 
where entities have congruent activities and where entities operate on auto-pilot.  

In addition to commenting on the specific matters for comment we have provided some additional suggestions to clarify 
requirements or to provide more guidance. 

 

22 The Guardians of New Zealand Superannuation (Guardians) and the New Zealand Superannuation Fund (Fund) were 
established by the NZ Superannuation and Retirement Income Act 2001 (the Act) to reduce the tax burden on future New 
Zealand taxpayers of the cost of New Zealand Superannuation. 

The Act established two entities: 

• The Fund, a pool of assets consolidated into the New Zealand Government’s balance sheet; and 

• The Guardians, a Crown entity, charged with managing and administering the Fund. 

In New Zealand the External Reporting Board (XRB) is responsible for establishing the accounting standards framework to be 
applied by entities that have a legislative requirement to prepare general purpose financial reports. It has established a new 
multi-standards and multi-tiered framework whereby the particular suite of accounting standards to be applied by a particular 
entity depends on whether the entity is a ‘for-profit’ entity or a public benefit entity (PBE) and the size of the entity. Some public 
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sector entities will be members of ‘mixed groups’ where the parent/group is a PBE but the parent has subsidiaries that are ‘for-
profit’ entities. 

The Guardians meets the criteria as a public benefit entity (PBE) and under the proposals will be categorised as a Tier 1 PBE. 
It will report under PBE accounting standards with effect from 1 July 2014. PBE standards are based on IPSAS.  

The Fund, on the other hand, meets the criteria as a ‘for-profit’ reporting entity but is also consolidated into the New Zealand 
Government’s financial statements. As a consequence, the Fund will be required to present individual financial statements as a 
Tier 1 ‘for-profit’ entity reporting under NZ IFRS but it will also be required to provide information for consolidation by the 
Government as a Tier 1 PBE under the PBE accounting standards framework.  

ED 49 General Comments 

As a member of a mixed group, we are particularly concerned with transaction neutrality under a multi-standards approach in 
New Zealand. We have expressed our concerns in prior submissions to the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board at the 
time and cost of maintaining two sets of financial information when required to report under two frameworks where the 
accounting requirements differ.  

The definition of ‘control’ has significant relevance for the Fund and it is an area that creates a great deal of concern as the 
Fund is prohibited from controlling other entities under New Zealand legislation. NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements establishes a new control model with a mandatory application date of 1 January 2013 and, as a Tier 1 ‘for-profit’ 
entity, the Fund’s financial statements will be required to comply with this standard for the 30 June 2014 year end. The 
definition of control incorporated in ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements is aligned with the definition included in 
NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and therefore, as a member of a mixed group, we fully support the approach 
taken under ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

We also welcome alignment of the provisions relating to investment entities. We have previously submitted to the IASB in 
support of the IASB’s approach that investment entities measure all investments at fair value. It is our view that fair value 
measurement provides the most relevant and useful information to users of an investment entity’s financial statements. The 
Fund meets the investment entity criteria contained in NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and will be exempted 
from presenting consolidated financial statements under the ‘for-profit’ framework in New Zealand. We fully support having the 
same exemption available under the PBE framework.  

Finally, we welcome and fully support the proposition that a non-investment entity parent should measure the investments of a 
controlled investment entity at fair value. In our view, fair value accounting continues to be relevant at the non-investment entity 
parent level, the cost savings and benefits of more relevant reporting would be lost if fair value accounting was not retained and 
the retention of fair value is consistent with the accounting treatment for non-investment entity parents’ interests in associates 
and joint ventures. It is a pragmatic approach that provides significant cost relief for the Fund. Also, the potential for ‘abuse’ by 
non-investment entity parents structuring investment entities to achieve certain accounting outcomes is unlikely to occur in the 
public sector.   

23 IPSASB is to be commended for its efforts in developing International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) these 
standards covering issues that are often contentious. 
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The Treasury particularly applauds the proposed stipulation that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities. It 
is critical for transparency, accountability and well informed decision making that all controlled entities are incorporated in the 
consolidated financial statements of a reporting entity. 

The Treasury strongly supports the IPSASB's strategy to converge IPSASs with IFRSs in developing these particular 
standards. Most consolidated government financial statements are likely to comprise of groups containing both for profit and 
not-for-profit groups. It would be disastrous for such consolidations if there were unnecessary differences between the 
approaches for reporting as a single reporting entity between such sub-groups and the consolidated economic entity. 

That however does not mean that appropriately justifi ed differences should not exist. Treasury notes with approval the more 
stringent requirements on defining an investment entity in the public sector context (and provides suggestions that they be 
strengthened) as well the approach to investment entity accounting to be "rolled up" in the controlling entity's consolidated 
financial statements. 

Treasury notes that the issue (of differing treatments) is likely to become more prevalent as both IPSAS and IFRS develop.We 
consider that the requirement of paragraph 34 in ED 49 that  

a controlling entity shall prepare consolidated financial statements using uniform accounting policies for like transacti 
ons and other events in similar circumstances . 

... places not just an onus on preparers, but also an onus on the Board itself to ensure that different requirements are not 
prescribed for "like transactions and other events in similar circumstances". The corollary is that when the IPSASB sets 
different requirements than the IASB for recognition or measurement, it must also explain how the transactions, events or 
circumstances are different, to assist in the judgements required by preparers and auditors in ensuring this requirement is met. 

The Treasury recommends this issue be considered in more depth the next time the "Rules of the Road" for harmonising with 
IFRS are updated. 

24 No general comments.  

25 The Institute is particularly pleased to note the increased attention by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
Board (IPSASB) being paid to development of more transparent and widely acceptable accounting standards for the public 
sector, particularly at this time when concerns are growing for a more robust system and standards of accounting in the public 
sector across the world. 

 

26 Overall, we support the development of the Exposure Drafts as we believe that they provide a comprehensive set of principles 
to be used by entities in accounting, reporting and disclosing their interests in other entities. 

Some of our stakeholders noted that the IASB has a number of projects on its work programme that consider amendments to 
its suite of Standards that deal with interests in other entities, which may impact the IPSASB’s project. An example is the recent 
Exposure Draft that requested comment on reinstating the option to use the equity method to account for investments in 
controlled entities, associates and joint ventures in an entity’s separate financial statements. We propose that the IPSASB 
consider the outcome of these amendments before finalising its project on interests in other entities.  

Our comment to you is set out in two parts: Part I outlines comment to the specific matters for comment and Part II outlines 
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general comment on some of the principles included in the Exposure Drafts.    

The comment on the Exposure Drafts is that of the Secretariat of the Accounting Standards Board and not that of the Board. In 
formulating our comment on the Exposure Drafts, the Secretariat consulted with a range of stakeholders including auditors, 
preparers, consultants, professional bodies and other interested parties. 

27 ED 49 
In our opinion the IPSASB has performed a good and interesting work on the issues in concern. The ED is a thorough survey 
of the matters and we find it comprehensive. However we don’t agree with all conclusions and we would like to add some as 
well as suggests a change to the accounting treatment recommended. 

We agree that there are public sector “groups” that consist of a number of entities controlled by a controlling entity, and that 
they may be of different legislative and contractual status.  

We also agree with the basis in the ED that these groups are delimited by the control concept defined and described in the ED. 
We however see a need to divide the groups further, on the basis of what activities the entities perform. 

The main reason for our deviation from the suggested treatments in the ED is our views on the aims of group accounting in the 
public sector. From the ED itself we can conclude that the purpose of consolidation is not given as the users’ needs are 
uncertain. We however believe that there are core activities as well as peripheral activities seen from a purpose view. These 
activities may be performed in different legal forms. The delimitation of the two types of activities may differ between 
jurisdictions and can therefore not be defined in a general way. It should be the entities in the public sector that are to decide 
on the delimitation in a way that corresponds to core and peripheral purposes and aims of that entity. As a consequence there 
can be different delimitations for different entities. In our opinion it only reflects the different purposes and aims of entities in 
one jurisdiction compared to another. The problem the IPSASB has seen in defining, i.e. situations mentioned in the alternative 
view, is with our suggested treatment not a definition problem. Instead it will be the entities decisions to delimitate entities and 
the delimitations depending upon what the entities want to show to the recipients of its financial reports as core and peripheral 
activities. 

We do not, however, suggest a complete exclusion of the controlled entities that perform peripheral activities from the group 
accounts. In our opinion it should be sufficient to account for them with the equity method. In that way the relevant parts of the 
peripheral entities should be included in the group accounts in a way relevant to the constituents. 

In Sweden the recipient of the annual report of central government is the Parliament, according to the Budget Act. The main 
purpose is to determine the stewardship of assets and resources etc., that is if the operations have been accomplished 
according to legislation. The accounts should also be used to support management and reporting by result. Consolidation of 
the wealth of the controlling entity or the fair value of specific assets and liabilities are considered to have a subordinate role in 
Sweden, because assets are normally used in operations to give service potential.   

… 

We hope the comments given will be useful in your continuing work with accounting standards. We would like to take this 
opportunity to express our support for the development of International Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

Consider in context of 
ED 49 
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ED 52 
We share the views expressed in paragraph 10 and 11 and Aggregation 2 in Appendix A. ESV consider that this is very 
important and that it should be included in all the IPSAS Standards. 

“It is necessary that the preparers of financial statements strike a balance between burdening financial statements with 
excessive detail that may not assist users of financial statements and obscuring information as a result of too much 
aggregation. They shall aggregate or disaggregate disclosures so that useful information is not obscured by either the 
inclusion of a large amount of insignificant detail or the aggregation of items that have different characteristics.” 

28 The Swiss Public Sector Financial Reporting Advisory Committee (SRS-CSPCP) was established in 2008 by the Swiss Federal 
Ministry of Finance together with the Ministers of Finance at the cantonal level. One of its aims is to provide the IPSAS Board 
with a consolidated statement for all the three Swiss levels of government (municipalities, cantons and Confederation).  

The SRS-CSPCP generally welcomes the drafting of 5 new standards on investments to replace the present Standards 6 – 8. 

ED 49 
The SRS-CSPCP wishes that the purpose of consolidation is clearly stated in the Introduction to the Standard: what is the 
purpose of the consolidation, what does consolidation provide in addition to the GPFS. For example it would be possible to 
include part of Sections BC 5 and BC 7 a in the Introduction to the Standard; of course with the necessary adjustments and 
additions. 

ED 51 
As already mentioned in the comments on ED 50, all Joint Arrangements should be treated in this Standard. All the elements of 
ED 50, which concern Joint Arrangements, should be included in this Standard. 

ED 52 
The SRS-CSPCP notes that the demarcation of this ED (Paragraph 11, AG 6) from IPSAS 18 (Segment Reporting) is not clear.   
It would also be desirable to add an illustrative example. 

 

29 [General comment on all 5 EDs] We are fully supportive of the IPSASB’s objectives to enhance the quality and consistency of 
financial reporting of Public Sector Entities (PSEs) and improve the transparency and accountability of government reporting. 

ED 48 
IPSAS 1.1 states: “The objective of this standard is to prescribe the manner in which general purpose financial statements 
should be presented to ensure comparability…” 

Most asset accounting standards have two methods of accounting; cost, or revaluation. Introducing a third method of 
accounting for an asset would seem counter intuitive to the comparability objective of IPSAS 1. 

ED 49 
We welcome the change to the scope exemptions from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements, and the 
focus on the information needs of users. 
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30 As noted in successive responses, CIPFA strongly supports IPSASB’s development of high quality standards for public sector 
financial reporting, whether through the Board’s project to develop and maintain IFRS converged IPSASs or through wholly 
public sector specific IPSASs.  

The proposals in these ED IPSASs have the effect of maintaining up to date standards in respect of interests in other entities, 
having regard to the IASB initiatives in this area including new standards IFRS 10-12 and amended standards IAS 27 and 28. 
Responses to the IPSASB consultation on its workplan also identified a need to review the concept of control as used by public 
sector entities for the purpose of determining entity accounting boundaries and categorising relationships for reporting 
purposes. 

The proposals mainly echo the changes and the logic of the IFRS developments. While the IASB pursued these as part of a 
convergence project with US GAAP, they also reflected a concern that the standards had been developed in a way that led to 
inconsistencies in application, particularly in the determination of the existence of control. In some cases the reporting and 
disclosure focused on legal form rather than the substance of the arrangement. 

CIPFA generally supports the proposals. 

Comments on issues not covered by IPSAS standards 
The proposed IPSAS XX (ED 49) notes that guidance is not provided on public sector combinations. Unlike IFRS 10, it does 
not cross-refer to a relevant standard, because the body of IPSASs currently lacks a standard on public sector combinations. 
Reporting on these needs to follow the same principles for determination of the entity boundary and reporting on interests in 
related entities. We would urge the Board to complete its project on public sector combinations as soon as possible. 

We also note that much of the discussion in the Basis of Conclusions for proposed IPSAS XX (ED 49) relates to whole of 
government accounts (WGA), but that there is no mention of whole of government accounts in the body of the proposed 
standard. While the material in the Basis of Conclusions sets out the reasons why IPSASB has elected not to allow alternative 
approaches to be used for consolidation of WGA, we nevertheless consider that Whole of Government Accounts are an 
important and distinctively public sector topic, and that it would be helpful for more information on their characteristic features to 
be provided in this IPSAS or in other guidance. 

 

31 ED 49 
Ichabod’s Industries is an accountancy consulting firm that provides technical accounting support to a number of local 
government bodies in the United Kingdom. We have recently been commissioned by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy to draft guidance for their consideration on the application of IFRS 10 by UK local authorities. 
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32 ED 49 
The Consolidated Financial Statements ED 49 is drawn primarily from the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. Once approved, ED 49 
will supersede International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 6 entitled Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements which was developed specifically to address public sector issues or circumstances surrounding consolidations.  It 
is our view that certain key aspects of IPSAS 6 should be retained, with some modifications, in the IPSASB’s new standard for 
Consolidated Financial Statements as there are unique considerations and transactions that occur exclusively in the public 
sector which warrant a different accounting treatment to accurately portray the economic substance of these transactions.   

 

33 No general comments.  
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ED 48 Separate Financial Statements 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1:  

Do you agree generally with the proposals for separate financial statements?  
In particular, do you agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method, in addition to cost or fair value, for investments in other 
entities? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A1 – AGREE 01, 05, 07, 13, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30, 33 16 

A2 – AGREE (SUBJECT TO ALIGNMNENT WITH IFRS) 02, 03, 04, 09, 14, 26 6 

B – PARTIAL AGREEMENT 10,12 2 

C – DISAGREE 23, 29 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  26 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 11 1 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 48  27 

 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 48 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A1 Whilst the AASB generally disagrees with the use of the equity method for investments in other entities in 
separate financial statements, on the basis that this method is already permitted in IPSAS 6 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements – we can agree with this proposal.  

However, the AASB suggests that the wording in paragraphs 7 and 16 of ED 48 be aligned to the proposed 
wording in paragraphs 6 and 12 of IASB ED/2013/10 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (once 
finalised), to help avoid any confusion and unintended accounting outcomes that are not in line with the 
principles of the equity method as explained below. 

If the ED 48 proposals (and ED 50 Investments in Associated and Joint Ventures) become standards without 
any change to the definition in paragraph 7, there is potential for confusion when identifying separate financial 
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statements of an entity with associates and joint ventures, but no subsidiaries. Consequently, an entity would 
use the equity method for associates and joint ventures in its financial statements prepared in accordance 
with ED 50 and could also use the equity method for such investments in separate financial statements. 

To help avoid any confusion arising, the AASB suggests that the proposed definition of ‘separate financial 
statements’ be amended to be consistent with the definition in paragraph 6 of IASB/2013/10 (once finalised):  

Separate financial statements are those presented in addition to consolidated financial 
statements or in addition to financial statements of an entity that does not have 
investments in subsidiaries, ie investor in an associate or joint venture, other than in the 
circumstances set out in paragraphs 8-8A.  Separate financial statements need not be 
appended to, or accompany those statements. 

 

 

 

Agree: Clarify definition of 
separate financial 
statements having regard to 
(finalized) IASB ED/2013/10.  

  Paragraph 16 of ED 48 requires a distribution to be recognised in surplus or deficit (directly) regardless of the 
method used to account for subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (equity method, cost or fair value).  
However, if the equity method is used to account for an investment, recognising the distribution directly in 
surplus or deficit would result in double counting (unless the asset was impaired at the same time) as the 
entity would recognise its share of surplus or deficit of the investment (from which the dividend is distributed).  
Under the equity method, when a right to a dividend is established, the carrying amount of the investment is 
reduced and the current receivables of the investor are increased. 

The AASB recommends that paragraph 16 of ED 48 be amended in line with paragraph 12 of IASB/2013/10 
(once finalised), which states:  

[A] dividend from a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate is recognised in the separate 
financial statements of an entity when the entity’s right to receive the dividend is established.  
The dividend is recognised: 

(a) in profit or loss if the entity elects to measure the investment at cost or in accordance 
with IFRS 9; or 

(b) as a reduction from the carrying amount of the investment if the entity elects to use the 
equity method.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Agree: Clarify treatment of 
distributions if equity method 
used. 

02 A2 ACAG generally agrees with the proposals for separate financial statements and in particular with the 
proposal to permit the use of the equity method, in addition to cost or fair value, for investments in the 
prescribed entities, in order to align with IFRSs. 

ACAG believes that, as far as possible, the requirements of IPSASs should align with those of IFRSs. ACAG 
acknowledges that, as stated in paragraph BC4, the IASB has signalled its intention to amend IAS 27 
Separate Financial Statements to restore the option to use the equity method in separate financial statements 
due to its use being required by corporate law in some countries (The IASB Exposure Draft ED/2013/10 
Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Proposed amendments to IAS 27) has recently been 
issued). Therefore, ACAG recommends that the IPSASB monitor this IASB project and proceed accordingly. 
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In addition, ACAG agrees with the reasons stated in paragraph BC5 for the IPSASB to continue to permit the 
use of the equity method in separate financial statements. The equity method is a well-established method 
that can provide information that is reliable and useful in a cost-effective and easily understood manner. 

  ACAG supports the use in ED 48 of substantially the same structure and wording (subject to some specific 
IPSAS terminology changes) as in IAS 27. However, we have the following comments: 

• ACAG notes that paragraph 14 includes a second sentence reproduced below that results from 
IPSASB’s proposal in ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements to extend the fair value treatment for 
investments of controlled investment entities by a controlling entity that is not itself an investment 
entity. Consistent with our comments on ED 49 not supporting this divergence from IFRSs, ACAG 
recommends this second sentence be omitted. However, should the IPSASB decide to proceed with 
the proposal, ACAG suggests the marked-up amendments: 

If a controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity is required, in accordance with 
paragraph 54 of IPSAS XX (ED 49), to measure its investment in the investments of a controlled 
investment entity at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29, it shall also 
account for those investments its investment in the controlled investment entity in the same way in its 
separate financial statements. 

This is because: 

• In respect of the deletion of ‘its investment in’, this phrase is redundant (Refer to the wording in 
paragraph 54 of ED 49). 

• In respect of the second amendment – In its separate financial statements, the controlling entity only has 
a direct investment in the investment entity (and not in the investments held by the investment entity). 

Consider when finalizing. 

  ACAG suggests that the phrase ‘(and its proportion of the voting rights, if different)’ be added just after 
“proportion of the ownership interest” in both paragraphs 20(b)(iii) and 22(b)(iii), to reflect the corresponding 
IAS 27 requirements. 

Consider when finalizing 

03 A2 IPSASB ED 48 proposes to replicate the existing IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
options.  An entity would be allowed to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
either at cost, as a financial instrument in accordance with IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, or using the equity method in the entity’s separate financial statements. 

We note that this proposal is not consistent with the current version of IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements, 
as IAS 27 does not currently allow the equity method to be adopted in the entity’s separate financial 
statements. However, the IASB has recently proposed that a revised IAS 27 include this equity method option 
(IASB ED /2013/10). 

The reasons for the IPSASB decision to permit the use of the equity method in separate financial statements 
are explained in the Basis for Conclusions to ED 48 at paragraph BC5. These include meeting user needs, 
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lower cost and that the equity method is a well-established method of accounting for certain investments in 
the public sector. 

While the IPSASB has identified some reasons to permit the use of the equity method option, the reasons 
given are not unique to the public sector and are equally relevant to the private sector since the IASB has 
already exposed an amendment to the standard, with comments closing on this proposal 3 February 2014. In 
the absence of any identified unique public sector reasons for the use of the equity method option, we 
consider that the IPSASB, should not pre-empt decisions of the IASB and should wait until the IASB has 
finalised any changes before incorporating them into a final standard. In this way, the wording can be aligned 
to the IASB wording to avoid confusion and any unintended accounting outcomes that are not aligned to the 
principles of equity accounting. 

04 A2 HoTARAC notes that the IPSASB has added an option allowing the use of the equity method in separate 
financial statements. HoTARAC generally agrees with the IPSASB’s view that as well as the existing cost and 
fair value options, the equity method could also be used to faithfully reflect the underlying circumstances of 
certain investments held by public sector entities. As a related note, HoTARAC notes the IASB has also 
issued an ED that proposes to restore the equity method option to account for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates in an entity’s separate financial statements. Subject to the final IASB 
determination, HoTARAC supports the proposal to permit, but not require, the use of the equity method in 
separate financial statements for investments in other entities. 

 

05 A1 Yes, I agree with the proposals for separate financial statements. I agree with the proposal to permit the use 
of the equity method, in addition to cost or fair value, for investments in other entities. I suggest for the board, 
if agrees, observe the results of discussion about Hierarchy for State and Local Governments and Exposes 
Entire Implementation Guide for Public Comment of the GASB5, can be improve this discussion. 

 

06 - Did not submit on ED 48.  

07 A1 Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 48..  

09 A1 (7) We agree in general with the proposals dealing with separate financial statements. We also agree that 
permitting the use of the equity method in addition to cost and fair value is appropriate for this sector and will 
enhance the usefulness of the separate financial statements in certain circumstances. 

 

10 B The Council agrees generally with these proposals. However, the Council considers the fair value option as 
being not so relevant regarding the public sector. Actually, when a public sector entity has holding interests in 
other public sector entity the main purpose is not to realize gains from capital divestments or to obtain returns. 

Note disagreement with 
permitting FV. 

5 http://www.gasb.org/cs/ContentServer?c=GASBContent_C&pagename=GASB%2FGASBContent_C%2FGASBNewsPage&cid=1176163861100 
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The underlying purpose of such holdings is more generally driven by public policy objectives. 

11 D No specific comment.  

12 B Measurement of investments, either on an equity basis or at cost as applicable, appears appropriate in the 
separate accounts of an entity that is not required to produce consolidated financial statements. In these 
circumstances, in the separate financial statements of the French Central Government, a distinction is made 
between investments in controlled entities (measured on an equity basis) and non-controlled entities 
(measured at cost). This distinction provides the foundations for a future consolidation of the “State Group” in 
the medium term.  

However, as stated in our reply to the exposure draft on the conceptual framework, we are not in favour of 
measuring investments at fair value.  

Note disagreement with 
permitting FV. 

13 A1 I agree because they are not differences with IAS 27 (amended in 2011).  

In particular, do you agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method, in addition to cost or fair 
value, for investments in other entities? 

I agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method because is coherent in relation, particularly, 
with ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Venture. 

 

14 A2 We generally agree with the proposals in ED 48 for separate financial statements. 

ED 48 is now being discussed so as to align with Exposure Draft (ED/2013/10), Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). There is no need to 
differentiate between the public sector and the private sector with regard to accounting for investments in 
controlled entities, joint ventures, and associates in separate financial statements. ED 48 should follow the 
same direction as the amendments to the IFRSs.  

 

  Paragraph 14 of ED 48 states that paragraph 54 of Exposure Draft 49 (ED 49), Consolidated Financial 
Statements, could also apply to separate financial statements. This approach differs from that taken in the 
IFRSs. Since the basis for the conclusion drawn in the ED is unclear in this respect, we suggest that the ED 
should include descriptions equivalent to BC24 to BC26 in ED 49 or descriptions that refer to those BCs in 
ED 49. 

Consider when finalizing. 

15 A1 We agree with the proposals for separate financial statements.  

With respect to Public sector entities, equity method and cost method are ideally more relevant than the fair 
value since they are primarily not for profit entities and by nature would mostly want to avoid fair value 
adjustments and unrealized gains attributable to fair valuations and as such equity method is appropriate to 
them in addition to cost.  

Majority of public sector entities especially governments are in place for a short period of time. Unwinding of 
fair value adjustments may not be reflective of the performance of the current government. 
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It may be a challenge for most public sector institutions to arrive at fair values that can be relied on. As 
mentioned in the ED, in most cases there are no active markets. In addition, most public sector institutions 
would be in existence for a long period of time and cost basis may not provide relevant information to the 
users of the financial statements. 

16 A1 We agree with the proposals set out in ED 48. We understand the rationale for the proposal to allow the use 
of the equity method, particularly as a number of countries continue to use this established method of 
accounting for certain investments in the public sector. We agree with the supporting rationale that 
investments in most cases are used to enable service provision rather than for investment purposes, and 
there are likely to be a higher proportion of investments in the public sector for which there are no active 
markets and in respect of which fair values are not readily observable.  

 

17  Did not submit on ED 48.  

18 A1 Yes. We agree in general with the proposals for separate financial statements. 

In particular, we agree with the Board’s decision to retain the option to use the equity method for investments 
in other entities for the reasons set out in the basis for conclusions. We also note that the IASB has proposed 
introducing this option to IFRS and we have supported this proposal.   

 

19 A1 See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter 
for Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A1 See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A1 We support this proposal.  We acknowledge the reasons given by the IPSASB for proposing to continue to 
permit the use of the equity method in separate financial statements.  

We also note that the IASB has proposed to restore, in IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements, the option to 
use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in an entity’s 
separate financial statements. 

 

22  Did not submit on ED 48.  

23 C Disagree. The Treasury considers the equity method to be a method of consolidation, and therefore 
inappropriate to be used in non-consolidated financial statements . Also, the Treasury considers that options 
should be reduced or eliminated where possible in financial statements. We would however be relaxed about 
allowing the equity method to be used in the absence of cost information, as a deemed cost amount. This 
appears to be the main reason for justifying an equity-based approach. 

Once initially reported in the financial statements then a cost model, or a revaluation to fair value model 
should be applied as for other assets. 

 

24 A1 Yes, we agreed with the proposal for separate financial statements for the following reason:   
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due to different objectives of entities, Separate accounts should  be prepared. 

Yes, we agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method with fair value because government 
has investment in other entities.  

Since IFAC recommends fair value on which IPSAS is based, we cannot recommend otherwise. The best 
approach is to adopt fair value which we considered to be most appropriate for stakeholders. 

25 A1 Yes, we agree generally with the proposals for separate financial statements. 

In line with the spirit of IAS 27 (as amended in 2011) for private sectors, separate financial statements will 
enable the stand-alone assessment of the financial status or affairs of government entities. Given the general 
custodial roles of government entities, their citizenry or other stakeholders should be able to evaluate 
specifically what any government organization financial performance as a unit is over any given period of 
time. 

It would remove the cover-up effect of government economic entities where consolidated statements are 
prepared alone without any separate financial statements. It will also deepen transparency reporting of 
government entities that use the accrual basis of reporting as such entities can be seen singly as they stand 
in their financial position. 

The proposal to use the equity method in addition to cost or fair value measurement options should be 
sustained based on the basis of conclusions BC5 considered in proposing the use of equity method. This 
background for the proposal makes provision for ease of compliance even countries whose corporate laws 
require the use of equity method in measuring investment. 

The equity method would also provide a ground for any varied form of investment measurement which cannot 
be objectively or relevantly captured by the cost or fair value method. Given the varying nature of financial 
transactions, making provisions for numerous options that can be found would be generally helpful for 
financial reporting. 

 

  However certain observations for enhancements are important for a clearer standard. There are two 
observations that need to be considered by the committee. (refer editorial comments on ED 48) 

 

26  We agree with the proposals for separate financial statements as included in Exposure Draft 48. We are of 
the view that the Exposure Draft provides adequate guidance with regards to accounting and disclosure 
requirements when an entity prepares separate financial statements.   

 

 A2 Use of the Equity Method 

The equity method is a well-established, acceptable method of accounting. As the equity method represents a 
valuation methodology for investments based on increases, or decreases, of the assets and liabilities of the 
controlled entity, associate or joint venture, it provides useful information to the users of the financial 
statements about the performance of these investments. We therefore agree with the proposal to permit the 
use of the equity method in addition to cost or fair value, in accounting for investments in controlled entities, 
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associates and joint ventures in an entity’s separate financial statements.  

However, the IPSASB should consider the extent to which comparability between entities may be impaired 
when allowing three methods to present information about an investment in other entities in an entity’s 
separate financial statements. In particular, the IPSASB should consider whether the qualitative 
characteristics in the Conceptual Framework, specifically comparability, will be met.  

In addition, as mentioned in the covering letter, we recommend that the IPSASB consider the outcome of the 
IASB’s project before approving the Standard. 

27 A1 We do agree that the equity method should continue to be permitted for investments in other entities in the 
public sector. As the IPSASB indicates investment entities in the public sector often are used more as an 
“instrument” to enable service provision, rather than as a holding for investment purposes. The equity method 
may therefore be better suited to meet users’ needs in the public sector, as it shows the fluctuations in the 
equity of an investment over time. This method is probably also a more cost effective method than cost or fair 
value, especially because there also are more likely that there are no active markets for investment to enable 
service provision.    

 

28 A1 The SRS-CSPCP generally agrees with the content of this ED.   In Switzerland the demand for a uniform 
accounting method for all „investees” is hardly applicable because frequently the entities being consolidated 
draw up their annual accounts in accordance with Swiss GAAP. In case the consolidated entities draw up 
their annual accounts in accordance with IFRS, a problem also arises when the chosen accounting options 
are different or if the entities chose very different Accounting Policies. However the issue may be the same if 
IPSAS are used. Therefore the SRS welcomes the proposal that in addition to valuation at cost or market 
value the equity method can be applied. 

 

29 C We do not agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method for investments in other entities. 

An entity that determines to provide separate financial statements presumably does so to focus on its own 
financial performance and its stewardship of the assets it owns. We consider that the most relevant measures 
therefore to assess, is what the cost of those assets were and what are the economic benefits, or amount of 
service provision, that they can deliver. These considerations we feel lead one to a cost or revaluation 
measure for the asset.    

The basis of conclusions paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 set out the rationale of the IASB for withdrawal of the equity 
method from IFRS in 2003. It also sets out that the rationale of the IASB for potentially re-introducing it back 
into IFRS is due to the legal requirement of its use in certain countries. We consider such a reason for re-
introduction to be a mistake. Accounting standard setters have a duty to set the best possible standards that 
they can and should not seek to appease countries by making changes because of local legislation.  

It is not certain that the IASB will re-introduce equity accounting and if they conclude not to then IPSAS will be 
out of step with IFRS.   

BC5 sets out the IPSASB’s rationale for including the use of the equity method. We agree that investment 
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entities are used as ‘instruments’ to enable service provision and we agree that in the public sector there are 
likely a higher proportion of investments for which there is no active market. Our view is that this means it is 
even more important therefore to measure either the consumption of the asset or its remaining service 
provision. 

IPSAS 1.15 states that “The objectives of general purpose financial statements are to provide information 
about the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a wide range of 
users in making and valuating decisions about the allocation of resources. Specifically…to provide information 
useful for decision making and to demonstrate the accountability of the entity for the resources entrusted 
to it...”  

If the investments in the separate financial statement are recorded using the equity method, the same 
information is provided in the consolidated financial statements, and therefore would not provide any 
additional useful information. 

30 A1 CIPFA generally agrees with the proposals in ED 48, including the proposal to permit the use of the equity 
method. 

We note that the proposal to permit the use of the equity method is aligned with the proposal recent IASB 
Exposure Draft ED/2013/10 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements which was issued after the 
issuance of this IPSASB ED.  

 

31  Did not submit on ED 48.  

32  Did not submit on ED 48.  

33 A1 Generally, we do agree with the proposed accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in 
controlled entities, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements.  

Further, we do agree with the proposal to permit the use of the equity method, in addition to cost or fair value, 
for investments in other entities. The proposed amendments would promote harmonization with some local 
regulations which may require the use of the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates.  

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has also proposed to amend IAS 27 in order to restore 
the option to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 
in the entity’s separate financial statements.  

Therefore, the proposed approach is the way to go. 
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04 ED 48 – Pargaraph 21 

Given paragraph 21 also discusses relevant disclosure requirements for an investment entity that prepares separate financial 
statements, HoTARAC believes that paragraph 19 should refer to ‘requirements in paragraph 20 and to 22’.  

 

25 ED 48 – Paragraph 12 

Paragraph 12 for ED 48 is being proposed to be rephrased from “The entity shall apply the same accounting for each category 
of investments” to “The entity shall apply the same investment accounting measurement option for each category of 
investments”. This rephrasing will make it clearer that options of measurements are what are being referred to. The use of “… 
the same accounting for each category of investments” gives room for incompleteness in the line of the readers thought 
intended to be created in the paragraph. 

Defer consideration until 
September. Consider in 
context of finalization of 
IASB ED 2013/10. 

25 ED 48 – Definitions 

The term “Investment Entity” was used throughout in paragraphs 6-10,21 and 23-28 but the specific definition of what 
“Investment Entity” in the parlance of this particular ED 48 was not given. While it points to assumption that the meaning of the 
term must have been known from other glossary of terms or definition, this creates ambiguity for non-technical readers of the 
standard. There is need for a specific definition of what “Investment Entity” is in this standard. The definition or meaning may 
be put in the same paragraph where “Consolidated Financial Statement”, “Separate Financial Statements” etc. were defined in 
the standards. 

 

Agree. Review location of 
definitions in accordance 
with IPSAS policy when 
finalizing standards. 

26 ED 48 – Definitions 

We agree with the definitions that have been included in the Exposure Draft, but propose that the following additional 
definitions, which are currently only included in Exposure Draft 49, also be included in this Exposure Draft:  

• Controlled entity,  
• Controlling entity, 
• Equity method; and  
• Investment entity.  

Because the scope of this Exposure Draft is limited to an entity that prepares and presents separate financial statements, we 
are of the view that including these definitions will be useful to the preparers of the financial statements, specifically in those 
circumstances where an entity does not present consolidated financial statements.  

This Exposure Draft includes transitional provisions for  investment entities, and in understanding, from a preparer’s 
perspective, whether these provisions should be applied or considered, preparers will find an explanation of the term 
“investment entity” useful.  

 

Agree to reconsider 
application of the IPSASB’s 
policy on definitions when 
finalizing the standards. 
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26 ED 48 – Transitional relief relating to an investment entity 

The IPSASB’s Exposure Draft on Consolidated Financial Statements (ED 49) introduced the concept of investment entities. 

This Exposure Draft [ED 48] requires an investment entity to retrospectively adjust the measurement of its investment entity 
that was previously measured at cost, to fair value through surplus and deficit. In considering the cost-benefit criterion, and 
based on the availability of information on the date adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, we are of the view that relief should be 
provided to first-time adopters in accounting for their investments entities by allowing them to determine fair value on the date 
of transition to accrual basis IPSASs.  

 

Reconsider transitional 
requirements having regard 
to possible IASB 
amendments (refer April 
2014 IASB papers) and 
project on First Time 
Adoption.  

26 ED 48 – Initial application  

Paragraph 23 of this Exposure Draft includes the transitional requirements that should be applied on initial application of this 
pronouncement. The term used in the heading “initial application” is, however, not consistent with the terminology usually used 
in other IPSASs. We therefore propose that the heading to paragraph 23 should be amended to “transitional provisions” to 
achieve consistency. 

In addition, we also propose that the paragraph should be clarified to require that an investment entity that is a controlling entity 
(as envisaged in Exposure Draft 49.52) and an investment entity that is a controlled entity (as envisaged in Exposure Draft 
49.54), apply these transitional provisions.   

 

Reconsider transitional 
requirements having regard 
to possible IASB 
amendments (refer April 
2014 IASB papers) and 
project on First Time 
Adoption. 

26 Cross reference to information dealing with separate financial statements in other Exposure Drafts 

Paragraph .41 of Exposure Draft 51 sets out the transitional provisions to be applied in an entity’s separate financial statements 
for interests in joint operations.  We propose that the IPSASB should reconsider the positioning of this guidance as in our view, 
it should be included in the pronouncement that provides guidance on separate financial statements. This will also ensure that 
the IPSASB meets its objective of presenting all the requirements relating to separate financial statements, in one IPSAS. 
Alternatively, the IPSASB could include a cross reference between Exposure Draft 51 and Exposure Draft 48 so that preparers 
could consider all the applicable principles in presenting its separate financial statements.  

Reconsider transitional 
requirements having regard 
to possible IASB 
amendments (refer April 
2014 IASB papers) and 
project on First Time 
Adoption. 
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ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1:  

Do you agree with the proposed definition of control? If not, how would you change the definition? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 02, 03, 05, 07, 08, 09, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24,  
26, 28, 29, 30, 33 

23 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  27 1 

C – DISAGREE 10, 11, 12, 15, 31 5 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  29 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 32 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49  31 

 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB agrees with the proposed definition of control. 

However, we query the alteration to the definition of ‘power’ in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements to 
add the words “including the right to direct the financial and operating policies of that entity”.  We cannot see 
any valid reason (including a public sector specific reason) for diverging from the IFRS 10 definition of power. 

 

02 A ACAG agrees with the proposed definition that control occurs “when an entity has exposure to, or rights to, 
variable benefits from its involvement with another entity and through its power over that entity has the ability 
to affect the nature and amount of those benefits”.  

This definition is largely consistent with the interpretation of the IASB’s corresponding standard, IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

The new definition will require significantly more judgement in determining whether control exists, as it is 
based on the power to direct the relevant activities that significantly affect benefits rather than only the ‘power 
to govern the financial and operating policies’ currently under IPSAS 6. ACAG supports the IPSASB’s 
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decision to expand the definition of power to include the right to direct the financial and operating policies of 
an entity. ACAG agrees that in the public sector, this ability can demonstrate power over relevant activities. 
The proposed standard provides detailed application guidance and provides a number of illustrative examples 
relevant to the public sector to assist entities in applying the new definition of control. 

ACAG supports the use of the term ‘benefits’ as opposed to ‘returns’ currently used by the IASB when 
defining the concept of control. One of the IASB’s concerns was that the term ‘benefits’ could be 
misconstrued as relating only to financial benefits. ACAG believes the term ‘benefits’ implies benefits from 
both a financial and non-financial perspective whereas the term ‘returns’ implies a financial measurement. 
Regardless, the proposed standard clarifies that benefits ‘may be financial or non-financial’ and can include 
both ‘positive and negative aspects’. 

The proposed standard defines power as the existence of rights and goes on to add that voting rights are not 
necessarily the only way to obtain power. This is particularly applicable to the public sector where rights are 
often created from statutory arrangements and enabling legislation. The proposed standard appropriately 
acknowledges this. In addition, the proposed standard provides that rights must be substantive (practical 
ability to exercise), not be protective, and relate to relevant activities. The proposed standard provides 
detailed application guidance and a number of illustrative examples which will help entities exercise the 
judgement required to determine whether rights are substantive or protective and whether they relate to 
relevant activities.  

ACAG agrees with the IPSASB’s position that: 

• an entity does not have power over another entity solely from regulatory control or economic 
dependence, and 

• the existence of statutory powers to operate independently does not preclude an entity from being 
controlled.  

The illustrative examples are relevant to public sector entities and in most cases provide appropriate 
guidance to illustrate the concept of control. However, ACAG notes that for some of them, there is scope to 
expand on the discussion of the relevant principles in reaching the conclusions made. For instance, to help 
illustrate the concept articulated in paragraph 21 of the proposed standard, Example 35 should be expanded 
to include a clear conclusion (with reasoning) that the public sector entity and government department are 
controlled by the provincial government. Example 28 should also include a clear conclusion (with reasoning) 
that the local government can appoint the majority of the directors and therefore can direct the relevant 
activities of the leisure trust. Similarly in Example 34B, in reaching the ‘no control’ conclusion, the final 
paragraph should explain that the University does not have power over the incorporated society and outline 
the reasons why this is the case. ACAG recommends the IPSASB revisit the illustrative examples in light of 
these comments. 

ACAG also notes that some of the illustrative examples are based on draft guidance developed by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and may have to be updated following their finalisation by the 
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AASB (e.g. Examples 8, 8A, 8B, 37, 38). 

The proposed standard also provides that, where decision making authority has been delegated by a 
principal to an agent, an agent in such a relationship does not control the entity. The principal that has 
delegated the decision-making authority would consolidate the entity. This is relevant to the public sector and 
will continue to address reasons why some entities are excluded from consolidation. 

ACAG supports the IPSASB’s decision to align this standard with that of the IASB and believes the definition 
of control, the criteria and the additional application guidance will help to ensure there is consistent 
application and comparability between entities.  

03 A Yes, we agree with the proposed definition of control. However, within the definition of control is the term 
‘power’, and we have concerns with the proposed definition of power, as it has been amended from IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The amended words in the definition are highlighted below in bold: 

“consists of existing rights that give the current ability to direct the relevant activities of another entity, 
including the right to direct the financial and operating policies of that entity.” 

We do not consider that a significant public sector issue has been identified that would require the 
modification. Therefore, we propose the removal of the additional words in the definition. 

 

04 D No comment.  

05 A Yes, I agree with the proposed definition of control.  

06 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

07 A Agree.  

08 A Yes, we do agree.  

09 A (6) We agree with the definition of control in the Exposure Draft being based around the concept of an entity 
being exposed to or having rights to variable benefits from its involvement in another entity and having the 
ability to affect the nature and rights over those benefits as a result of its power over that entity. 

 

10 C Do you agree with the proposed definition of control? If not, how would you change the definition? 
The Council considers that addressing the reporting entity issue should have been a prerequisite for the 
issuance of the Exposure Draft ED 49.  

In the meantime, once the reporting entity is identified the control principle is the appropriate basis for 
consolidation. Therefore, in order to insure a relevant accounting outcome, the definition of control should 
undergo a fundamental review and be adapted to public sector features.  

1° The identification of the reporting entity is a prerequisite 
The Council notes that the publication of the Exposure Draft ED 49 was not preceded or accompanied by 

 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 37 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

reflections and detailed analysis to define the entity that should prepare consolidated financial statements (i.e. 
to define the reporting entity). 

If the objective of ED 49 is to allow the whole public sector and / or the sub-sectors to set up consolidated 
financial statements, then the control model is irrelevant. Indeed in a perspective where consolidation is 
based on the control, entities that form a cohesive circumscribed economic area but have no control 
relationships  will not be able to prepare general purpose consolidated financial statements.  

The Council regrets that the Exposure Drafts deal only with consolidation since other forms of aggregation 
could have been analysed with the objective of giving a better picture of the whole public sector.  With this 
regard, the Council notes that some "aggregation" of private sector entities can be carried out in the absence 
of control and ownership interests, in order to give an overall picture with a benefit to users of financial 
statements. 

2° The definition of control should be adapted 
Once the reporting entity is identified, the Council agrees that the control model is the relevant model to 
prepare consolidated financial statements. However, the definition of control provided by the Exposure Draft 
should be adapted in order to grasp the specific features of the public sector. 

Indeed, the Council considers that the amendments to IFRS 10 specially developed to reflect these 
specificities of the public sector, should be expanded. 

The Council acknowledges that large changes have already been made such as the identification of 
administrative arrangements or legislation as dominant factors to assess the control, the replacement of the 
term “returns” by the term “benefits” and the addition of several examples based on public sector fact 
patterns.  

However, the Council thinks that these changes are insufficient and would like to point out the following 
remarks: 

- The governance set up by the legislation, statutory provisions, by-laws or other administrative 
arrangements, enables the identification of control in the public sector. Therefore, the requirements of 
the (draft) standard should narrow and clarify further this notion of governance, in particular due to the 
fact that the governance of public entities can not be compared to governance in the private sector. 

- Conversely, the Exposure Draft unduly puts emphasis on voting rights attached to equity instruments 
and contains too long developments on potential voting rights. 

- The Exposure Draft provides for the case where the power over an entity can be obtained without 
holding any equity instruments of that entity which is common in the public sector. However, the 
Council considers that clarification is needed in this regard to account for an entity’s share in the 
assets, liabilities, equity and results of a controlled entity. Clarification is also needed regarding the 
presentation of equity. Under the provisions envisaged by the IPSAS Board, the consolidation of 
controlled entities in the absence of equity instruments triggers the presentation of non-controlling 
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interests as opposed to group equity which is not relevant. 

- The Exposure Draft is rather silent regarding local government entities. However, the coexistence of 
both a central government and local governments is common in several countries. Freedom enjoyed 
by the local government sector and the conditions of its supervision by the central government should 
have been more thoroughly analyzed. 

- The concept of non-financial benefits is not defined positively, but is simply illustrated in the Exposure 
Draft by a series of examples (§ 29). In addition, these examples are paradoxically defined with 
reference to financial benefits. 

- In the case where the expected benefit is not financial, but corresponds to the implementation of a 
public policy, it may be difficult to identify the relevant activities of the controlled entity. 

- The numerous examples added to the text of IFRS 10 with the view to address public sector features 
are generally too simple. 

3° Consolidation methods should have been discussed further 
The Exposure Draft ED 49 does not consider other methods of consolidation of controlled entities except the 
method of combining like items of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, expenses and cash flows of the 
controlling entity with those of the controlled entities. The Council considers that the relevance of this method 
deserves careful attention regarding the characteristics and activities of controlled entities especially when it 
comes to combine elements of central government financial statements with those of a government business 
enterprise.  

11 C The definition of control is founded on schemes transposed from the private sector, through notions such as 
ability of an entity to exert power on another, interests in benefits produced by the controlled entity, ability to 
affect the nature or amount of those benefits through power on the controlled entity. These criteria misjudge 
the specificities of the public sector. In France, for example, the law has settled principles to secure the 
permanency of public services, in central, local or social fields, which guarantees the stability and the 
independence of the managers and teams among entities that could be assimilated to "controlled entities" at 
short view, in order to protect them from changes that would be consequences of political changes in the 
"mother entities". The focus made on the ability to receive benefits do not adapt to public sector context 
where "mother entities" are more likely to be requested to cover deficits in "subsidiaries" or "controlled 
entities''. 

 

12 C The control criterion is essential but non appropriate to define, in the public sector, the reporting entity 
required to prepare consolidated financial statements. The definition of the reporting entity based on areas of 
responsibility, as in the public sub-sectors defined in statistical accounting, appears more appropriate as 
stated in our general comments. 

Where the preparation of consolidated financial statements is relevant, for example for the State Group, the 
control criterion is essential but nevertheless requires clarification.  
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The assessment of control is based firstly on an examination of governance. Indeed, power in the public 
sector, does not always take the form of voting rights and, when it does, the latter do not always represent 
ownership interests in the capital of the entity.  

13 A I agree because the definition seems to European definition (commission directive of 25 June 1980 
(80/723/EEC) on the transparency of financial relations between Members States and public undertakings) of 
public company: “any undertaking over which the public authorities may exercise directly or indirectly a 
dominant influence by virtue to their ownership of it, their financial participation therein, or the rules govern it. 

A dominant influence on the part of the public authorities shall be presumed when these authorities, directly 
or indirectly in relation to an undertaking: 

(a) Hold the major part of the undertaking’s subscribed capital;   

(b) Control the majority of the votes attaching to shares issues by the undertakings; or 

(c) Can appoint more than half of the members of the undertaking’s administrative, managerial or supervisory 
body.” 

 

14 A We support the proposed definition of control set out in ED 49, which sets out three elements of control to be 
considered by public entities – exposure to, or rights to variable benefits – power over an entity – the ability to 
use its power over an entity. Also, we agree that at the outset a public entity should consider all facts and 
circumstances when assessing whether it controls another entity. It should routinely reassess whether it 
controls another entity, if one of the three elements of control change.  

 

15 C Agree with clearly defining control except we would like to have seen the application of control as expressed 
in Chapter 2 of GFS: Compilation Guide for Developing Countries and Chapter 2 of GFSM 2013 (draft).  The 
new definition of control is very prescriptive and quite narrow.  It is easy to envisage situations where de facto 
control exists, but one of the conditions is not met. The IMF definition is much less prescriptive. Reporting will 
become very complex if an entity is controlled for GFS reporting but not for IPSAS reporting.  More 
fundamentally we have doubts about the whole concept of control as applied to the domain of sovereign 
governments.  Both by law and in practice a sovereign government controls everything within its domain 
subject to constitutional limits. This was demonstrated in the UK during the banking crisis when the 
government simply took control of private sector banks to avert a financial disaster. 

 

16 A We agree with the proposed definition of control. 

We welcome the statement that determination of the economic entity will need to be made with regard to user 
needs, the definition of an economic entity and the constitutional arrangements in a jurisdiction. We believe 
that this is of particular importance to link the preparation of consolidated financial statements to the 
accountability process applicable in the public sector. 

Complementary benefits 

We also welcome the use of the term “benefits” in the public sector context, as opposed to the term “returns” 
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used in IFRS. We would however recommend providing additional guidance and/or examples where one 
entity establishes another entity and receives indirect complementary benefits from the activities of this entity.  

Public sector entities commonly set up entities to supply goods and services to third parties that meet their 
operating objectives. In such circumstances the public sector entity may benefit from these complementary 
activities as opposed to receiving direct benefits from the other entity. We believe that the standard should 
clarify under what circumstances benefits from complementary activities would establish an entitlement to 
receive benefits. Our view is that the public sector entity’s entitlement to benefits is established (1) if the 
supply of goods and services by the other entity is directly consistent with the operating activities of the public 
sector entity; (2) the goods and services supplied are determined by the public sector entity; and (3) the 
public sector entity is relieved from an actual or a constructive obligation to provide such supply/public sector 
entity has a right to receive a service delivery from the other entity.  

Definition of power 

In the definition of “power” the phrase "...including the right to direct the financial and operating policies of that 
entity" does not seem to add to the first part of the definition and therefore seems to be superfluous - giving 
examples of what relevant activities might include is not the purpose of a definition. In fact, the inclusion of 
these words may mean to some that there is something special about these activities and, as a result, may 
be considered in different ways to other relevant activities. We recommend that examples of what constitutes 
power are added to the guidance material and removed from the proposed definition.  

17 A We agree with the proposed definition of control.  

In the definition of control in ED 49, “benefits” includes non-financial benefits, and so this may require certain 
considerations specific to the public sector. If illustrative examples based on actual practices were provided 
for the purpose of the requirements in paragraph 29, we believe that preparers would more easily understand 
the non-financial benefits arising from involvement with public sector entities. These examples could be given 
in the Basis for Conclusions. Similarly, we think that it would be useful if paragraph 28 contained practical 
examples of what situations would involve “financially control an entity.” For example, such practical 
examples could facilitate discussion as to whether or not to consolidate central banks or local governments in 
the consolidated financial statements of the national governments. 

We think that it would be difficult to determine consolidating accounting treatment based on the proportion of 
voting rights because ownership interests could not exist in public sector entities. It would be necessary in 
practice to assume the share of equity by using a certain ratio such as the share of funding or the share from 
the controlling entity to the total revenue of the controlled entity.  

 

18 A Yes. We agree with the proposed definition. However, most public sector bodies especially government 
institutions follow the legal aspect which is based on quantifiable ownership interest. This needs to be clear in 
the definition of control in the IPSAS. 
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19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter 
for Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 B We support the proposed definition of control.  

However, we propose some changes to the definitions of “benefits” and “power”, both of which are key 
aspects of the definition of control. We also propose providing more guidance in respect of entities operating 
on auto-pilot. 

Definition of “benefits” 

We note that the IPSASB has chosen to use the term “benefits” rather than the term “returns” which was used 
in IFRS 10.  We support the use of the term benefits on the grounds that returns could be narrowly construed 
as relating to financial returns.  

We recommend amending the definition of benefits to refer to the advantages that an entity seeks to obtain. 
Our reason for recommending this change is that the actual impact of having an interest in another entity may 
be better or worse than anticipated. Entities obtain interests in other entities because they hope to obtain 
benefits (both financial and non-financial) from the arrangement. Although the ED does explain that an entity 
may also be exposed to risks, we are concerned that some readers could read the definition of benefits in the 
ED as requiring that there be a net positive impact. For the same reason we also recommend that 
paragraph 26 distinguish between expectations and actual outcomes. We suggest that it contrasts 
expectations which are generally of a positive nature (having regard to both financial and non-financial 
benefits), with actual outcomes which may be positive or negative (having regard to both financial and non-
financial benefits). 

The proposed changes to the definition of benefits are shown as marked up text below. 

Benefits are the advantages an entity obtains or seeks to obtains from its involvement with other 
entities. Benefits may be financial or non-financial. The actual impact of an entity’s involvement with 
another entity Benefits can have positive or negative aspects. 

26. An entity is exposed, or has rights, to variable benefits from its involvement with an entity being 
assessed for control when the benefits that it seeks from its involvement have the potential to vary 
as a result of the other entity’s performance. Entities become involved with other entities with the 
expectation of positive financial or non-financial benefits over time. However, in a particular 
reporting period, the actual impact of an entity’s The entity’s benefits from its involvement with the 
entity being assessed for control can be only positive, only negative or a mix of both positive and 
negative. 
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We note that only the first sentence in the definition of benefits is essential. Although the additional 
explanation in the remainder of the definition is also addressed elsewhere in the ED, we can appreciate that 
the IPSASB wanted to highlight key ideas for readers and, on balance, we support the fuller definition. 

Definition of “power” 

We recommend removing the reference to directing financial and operating policies from the definition of 
power (as shown below) because:  

(a) it is adequately discussed in paragraph 19 (shown below); and  

(b) it could be read as implying that, in order to have power, an entity must have the ability to direct the 
financial and operating policies of the other entity (and we do not think the IPSASB intended this).  

Power consists of existing rights that give the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
another entity, including the right to direct the financial and operating policies of that entity. 

Paragraph 19  

19.  An entity has power over another entity when the entity has existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e., the activities that significantly affect the 
nature or amount of the benefits from its involvement with the other entity. The right to direct 
the financial and operating policies of another entity indicates that an entity has the ability to 
direct the relevant activities of another entity. 

We suggest that all references to power over financial and operating policies through the document be 
reviewed to make sure that they consistently express the idea that power to direct financial and operating 
policies is an indicator of power, not a requirement for power. 

Autopilots 

We are requesting additional guidance on autopilot arrangements because we consider this is a reasonably 
common scenario in the public sector. We have a number of entities in New Zealand, including charitable 
trusts, which are established with the specific purpose of providing services that would otherwise have to be 
provided by a central or local government. Sometimes they are regarded as a way of obtaining community 
involvement, both in terms of finding out what services the community needs, and in involving communities in 
the delivery of services. Once these entities are established, typically they operate in the manner determined 
at inception, with little on-going substantive decision-making, and they may not require ongoing funding from 
the central or local government. In such cases it is essential to pay close attention to the objects and purpose 
of the entity being assessed for control. These may be far more important than the ongoing arrangements. 
Indeed, there may be little evidence of control on a day to day basis.  
We are concerned that the guidance in ED 49 might not lead to assessments of control in all circumstances 
where it would be appropriate. We consider that there should be more emphasis in the guidance on the fact 
that entities can be established with predetermined activities and the possibility that such arrangements might 
mean that power has already been exercised at the time an entity was established.  
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Paragraph 23 of the ED states that “An entity with the current ability to direct the relevant activities has power 
even if its rights to direct have yet to be exercised.” The paragraph also refers to evidence of powers being 
exercised on an ongoing basis. We consider that it would be appropriate to acknowledge that rights might 
(i) already have been exercised; (ii) be exercised on an ongoing basis; or (iii) be yet to be exercised.   

Paragraph AG53 does discuss purpose and design, but we consider that more emphasis should be given to 
the possibility that the ability to determine the purpose and design of an entity may give rise to control and 
that it is necessary to consider more than decision-making rights. 

Our suggestions in relation to paragraphs 23 and AG53 are shown as marked up text below. 

23.  An entity with the current ability to direct the relevant activities has power even if its rights to direct 
have yet to be exercised. Evidence that the entity has been directing the relevant activities of the 
entity being assessed for control can help determine whether the entity has power, but such 
evidence is not, in itself, conclusive in determining whether the entity has power over the entity 
being assessed for control. In the case of an entity established with predetermined activities, the 
right to direct the relevant activities may have been exercised at the time that the entity was 
established.  

AG53. In assessing the purpose and design of another entity (see paragraphs AG5–AG8), an entity shall 
consider the involvement and decisions made at the inception of the other entity as part of its 
design and evaluate whether the transaction terms and features of the involvement provide the 
entity with rights that are sufficient to give it power. Being involved in the design of another entity 
alone is not sufficient to give an entity control of that other entity. However, involvement in the 
design of the other entity may indicate that the entity had the opportunity to obtain rights that are 
sufficient to give it power over the other entity and hence the ability to determine the purpose and 
design of an entity may give rise to power. In the case of an entity established with most (or all) of 
its relevant activities predetermined at inception, assessing the impact of having the ability to 
determine the purpose and design of an entity may be more relevant to the control assessment 
than any on-going decision-making rights. 

If more discussion of autopilot arrangements is included in the document, the paragraphs dealing with the link 
between power and benefits will need to be revised. An expanded discussion of benefits (as suggested 
below) should assist the discussion of the link between power and benefits. 

Issues in applying IFRS 10 guidance to autopilot arrangements 

In addition to our comments above about autopilot arrangements in the public sector, we are aware that 
issues have also been raised regarding the application of the guidance in IFRS 10 to certain structured 
entities. The European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) has published a document entitled 
Supplementary study – Consolidation of Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) under IFRS 10 which focused on 
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how the requirements of IFRS 10 would affect the consolidation of special purpose entities (SPEs) as 
described in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. Participants indicated that they expected the 
change in the scope of consolidation of SPEs to be relatively small compared to the total population of SPEs 
and total assets of SPEs, with the overall impact being a small net increase in the total number of SPEs being 
consolidated.  

Although some changes in the entities that would, or would not be, consolidated is an expected outcome of 
changing the accounting requirements, we are concerned that some entities on autopilot might be 
inappropriately deconsolidated as a result of applying the requirements in IFRS 10. The EFRAG study noted 
that participants might not have power over certain vehicles when there are no ongoing decisions over the 
relevant activities or such ongoing decisions are made by third parties (as this would mean that the 
participants cannot significantly affect the returns, as defined by IFRS 10, of the SPEs). The EFRAG study 
noted that this would be the case of SPEs that run on autopilot, since all decisions are determined at 
inception and detailed in the legal agreements, or SPEs where the counterparty can only direct the relevant 
activities (for example, if the counterparty could select a special servicer which could not be removed by 
participants). 

Expand the discussion of benefits  

We consider that it would be helpful if the ED provided more discussion of benefits.  For example:  

(a) Paragraph 27 refers to “congruent activities”. Paragraph 29(b) also gives an example of non-financial 
benefits, being the value to an entity of another entity undertaking activities that assist the entity in 
achieving its objectives. It would be helpful for the standard to provide more detailed discussion of 
congruent activities and the fact that the existence of congruent activities might relieve an entity from 
an obligation to provide services. Suggestions are shown below as marked up text. 

27.  The entity’s benefits from its involvement with the entity being assessed for control can be only 
financial, only non-financial or both financial and non-financial. Financial benefits include 
returns on investment such as dividends or similar distributions and are sometimes referred to 
as returns.  Non-financial benefits include advantages arising from scarce resources that are 
not measured in financial terms and economic benefits received directly by service recipients of 
the entity.  Non- financial benefits can occur when the activities of another entity are congruent 
with, (that is, they are in agreement with), the objectives of the entity and support the entity in 
achieving its objectives.  For example, an entity may obtain benefits when another entity with 
congruent activities provides services that the first entity would have otherwise been obliged to 
provide.  Congruent activities may be undertaken voluntarily or the entity may have the power 
to direct the other entity to undertake those activities.  Non-financial benefits can also occur 
when two entities have complementary objectives (that is, the objectives of one entity add to, 
and make more complete, the objectives of the other entity). 
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  29. Examples of non-financial benefits include: 

(a) The ability to benefit from the specialized knowledge of another entity; 

(b) The value to the entity of the other entity undertaking activities that assist the entity in 
achieving its objectives, including providing services that the entity would otherwise 
have been obliged to provide; 

(c) Improved outcomes; 

(d) More efficient delivery of outcomes; 

(e) More efficient or effective production and delivery of goods and services; 

(f) Having an asset and related services available earlier than otherwise would be the 
case; and 

(g) Having a higher level of service quality than would otherwise be the case. 

 

  (b) There could be clearer acknowledgement in the standard that an entity may obtain benefits from 
services being provided to a third party.  

(c) Benefits may be direct or indirect. Paragraph 27 refers to benefits received directly by service 
recipients of the entity. We consider that it would be helpful for the standard to acknowledge that 
benefits are often indirect and to give examples of indirect benefits.  

(d) Paragraph 27 refers to a residual interest in an entity’s assets and liabilities as an example of benefits.  
Additional discussion of this possible benefit would be helpful. 

 

22 A Yes, we agree with the proposed definition as it is aligned with the definition of control under NZ IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

In New Zealand, the External Reporting Board (XRB) has established a new multi-standards framework 
whereby the particular accounting standards to be applied by an entity depends on whether it is a ‘for-profit’ 
entity or a public benefit entity (PBE). PBE standards are based on IPSAS. There are some public benefit 
entities that are members of ‘mixed groups’ that will be required to report under both frameworks and for 
which alignment between IFRS and IPSAS is preferable due to the time and cost of maintaining two sets of 
financial information.  

The definition of control has significant relevance for the Fund and it is an area that creates a great deal of 
concern as the Fund is prohibited from controlling other entities under New Zealand legislation. For this 
reason, and because the Fund will be required to report under two sets of accounting standards in New 
Zealand it is imperative that the definition of control is consistent with NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements to avoid unnecessary differences.  
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23 A Agree - the IPSASB should note that in the public sector context particularly, where entities operate with 
varying degrees of autonomy, the definition of control requires judgement in its application. In the public 
sector context, in the application of this judgement, it is likely to be necessary to prepare a list of entities 
'deemed' to be controlled by a Government in accordance with these principles. This not only makes 
transparent the judgements made, but provides necessary clarity for budgeting and reporting purposes. Such 
"deemed lists" are also critical in managing disputes on which entities should be consolidated.  It would be 
helpful to have recognition that, when such lists are drawn up in accordance with the principles in the 
standard, they may be considered authoritative. 

 

24 A ANAN agree with the proposed definition of control in this exposure draft.  

25 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

26 A We agree with the proposed definition of control as included in the Exposure Draft. We do, however, have a 
few suggestions in applying the definition to specific circumstances. These are included in Part II.   

 

27 B In our opinion the proposed definition is an appropriate definition of control that takes more concern of 
substance than form. It leaves to the accountant to determine whether or not there is control rather than look 
for voting rights etc. The suggested procedure in the ED will give good guidance in that process. 

As we have already addressed, we do not consider it appropriate to consolidate only from the perspective of 
controlled entities. The controlled entities should, as we see it, be divided into entities that perform core 
activities and entities that don’t. The latter should be included with the equity method. 

ESV has done a number of studies of the matter in the Swedish central government. In the preparatory work 
for the budget act definition of core government and the government group was analyzed. We considered 
three main possible principles to delimitate core government (as a group):     

• Control as in the private sector 

• The definition of  the government sector in the National Accounts  

• The legal definition of the government  

The Parliament decided that the legal definition of the government should be the basis for consolidation of the 
core government. The main reason was that consolidation principles should correspond to the financial 
management of the operations and the accountability. The equity method should be used for group accounts 
including other entities that the government controls. These principles have been used for many years and 
seem to fulfill user’s needs.  

Our conclusions are based on the fact that the costs to prepare consolidated financial statements including 
peripheral entities would probably be very large, e.g. for elimination of transactions between entities, 
adjustment for different accounting principles etc. These costs would outweigh the benefits. In Sweden the 
state owned companies are followed up in a special report every year. We also consider that full 
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consolidation of these entities could obstruct the evaluation of financial management and is of limited use. 

A consequence of our suggestions is that it will be necessary to extend the demand for disclosures to include 
presentation of grounds for the delimitation between core and peripheral entities in the group accounts, as 
well as a list of the entities concerned. 

28 A The SRS-CSPCP generally agrees with this definition. It notes, however, that the third criterion (the ability to 
use its power over the other entity to affect the nature or amount of the benefits from its involvement with the 
other entity) causes some uncertainty, because a given tier of government can have only a regulatory control 
over an entity, but otherwise does not control the entity. 

This makes the examples provided at the end of the exposure draft are very useful and helpful for the 
understanding of this ED. They should be retained without fail. 

 

29 A We agree with the proposed definition and welcome the additional guidance given in the public sector 
context. 

 

30 A CIPFA agrees with the proposed definition of control, but we suggest that some additional clarification would 
be useful. 

We agree that it is helpful to confirm that public sector entities obtain value from their assets both through 
conventional monetary returns and through wider benefits achieved through service provision in line with 
entity objectives. The proposed IPSAS XX (ED 49) achieves this by using a definition based on rights or 
exposure to ‘benefits’ rather than the IFRS 10 term ‘returns’. It is very important to communicate the fact that 
‘benefits’ may be negative as well as positive, and we note that this is addressed  in the definition of ‘Benefit’. 

The focus on benefits ‘from’ the potentially controlled entity may be more subjective than that in IFRS 10, 
which considers the share of the total returns ‘of’ the entity. It is therefore particularly important to prove the 
link between benefits and the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. The ED IPSAS does this at 
paragraphs 31-32, but we are not sure this fully outlines the principles by which a decision could be made as 
to which of two competing entities with similar objectives has control.  

 

31 C Following the work that we have done to date on the application of IFRS 10 to the public services, we are not 
convinced that ED 49 is successful in the use of “benefits” instead of “returns” in its definition of control.  The 
reason given on page 62 is that “benefits” gives a better emphasis that returns might be non-financial. 

The immediate point to make is that “benefits” reduces the emphasis in IFRS 10 that returns can be positive 
or negative. 

But more widely, the wish to focus on non-financial benefits is questionable when there is no current proposal 
to seek to quantify non-financial benefits in the consolidated statements that would be prepared to include a 
controlled entity.  Until such time as the consolidation process is developed to properly reflect the non-
financial benefits accruing to a parent entity and the risks relating to securing those benefits, then it is 
arguable that the factors determining whether consolidated accounts are prepared should be restricted to 

 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 48 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

financial returns. 

Otherwise there is a possibility that an entity might determine that it gets significant benefits from its 
involvement with another entity and must include the other entity in its consolidated accounts, but finds that 
the accounts of the other entity do not include any effective representation of the benefits, their content being 
restricted to the other entity’s returns. The parent would be purporting that its control over the subsidiary is 
significant but the consolidated accounts would contradict this. 

The change in emphasis raises a potential for many interpretative complications that will only be fully 
understood when the IPSAS comes to be applied in practice.  However, the impact is visible in problems 
arising directly from one of the paragraphs in the ED. Paragraph 24 looks to settle situations where two 
entities are competing for control over another entity – ie, they both control relevant activities that significantly 
affect the returns/benefits they get from another body. 

Paragraph 13 of IFRS 10 resolves conflicts by giving predominance to the entity that directs the activities that 
most significantly affect the returns of the subsidiary entity.  This provides a definitive solution in that it 
focuses on the returns from the perspective of the subsidiary entity, such that there is an pool of returns 
recognisable for that entity and it can be determined which superior entity takes the greater share of an 
identifiable whole (eg, of accumulated profits or the residual value of net assets). 

The parallel provision in paragraph 24 of the ED looks instead at “the benefits from that entity”.  This is a 
much wider field of consideration, bringing in things that might be regarded as benefits for the superior 
entities in terms of their service objectives that might not actually be intrinsic to the subsidiary entity.  For 
example, an entity might have been formed by a housing provider and a social care provider.  The objectives 
of the former are to make social housing available and is able to direct the entity in its housebuilding 
programme.  The latter’s objectives are to house vulnerable persons and is able to direct the entity decisions 
about occupancy of the properties.  Each of the superior entities might be justified in claiming a subsidiary 
under paragraph 24. 

Without a foundation in the subsidiary entity’s activity, it may be possible for superior entities to conclude 
objectively that their own benefits are the most significant and that they have control.  They would be required 
to judge their involvement on their own subjective terms and situations could arise where one entity is 
consolidated twice or more by superior entities. 

Paragraph 24 therefore needs significant reworking because either: 

• it is redundant, because the IPSASB takes the view that any entity could be consolidated by multiple 
parents and the exclusivity provisions of paragraph 13 of IFRS 10 do not need to be replicated in the 
planned IPSAS – in which case the paragraph can be deleted 

or 

• it cannot be guaranteed to achieve an objective of exclusivity in all situations that will have the same 
effect as paragraph 13 because of the significant differences between “benefits from an entity” and 
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“returns of an entity” in their ability to set a single measurable quantum for assessing control – in which 
case a new formulation will be needed to allow competing entities to assess which one has the 
greatest claim to being the parent. 

32 D No comment on SMC1.  

33 A We do agree with the proposed definition of control, it is line with the definition of control in an equivalent 
IFRS (IFRS 10). We therefore do not expect that our Accountants (Members) will have difficulties in applying 
the definition of control.  
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 2:  

Do you agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the circumstances proposed in this Exposure Draft)?   
If you consider that certain categories of entities should not be consolidated, please justify your proposal having regard to user needs and indicate 
your preferred accounting treatment for any such controlled entities.  
If you have any comments about temporarily controlled entities, please respond to Specific Matter for Comment 3. 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 02, 03, 05, 08, 09, 10, 13, 14, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 28, 29, 30, 
33 

22 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  15, 18 2 

C – DISAGREE 07, 11, 12 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  27 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 27, 31, 32 4 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49  31 

 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 2  
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01 A The AASB agrees that all controlling entities should consolidate controlled entities except for controlling entities that 
are investment entities. This is the requirement in IFRS 10 and we see no public sector specific reason for 
divergence. 

 

02 A ACAG agrees that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities, except in the circumstances 
proposed. 

The proposed definition of control ignores the structure of the entity and focuses on the concept of ‘control’. ACAG 
believes this will reduce the likelihood of entities purposely manipulating structures to prevent certain outcomes 
being reported. ACAG does not believe any additional exemptions should be provided as this would not support the 
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objective of the standard to introduce a single control model and would not support the overall objectives of financial 
reporting outlined in the Conceptual Framework. ACAG supports the proposed principles-based model. 

03 A Yes, we agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities except in the limited circumstances 
contained in paragraph 5 of ED 49. However, we do not agree with the proposal to extend the exception to the 
controlling entity of an investment entity that is not itself an investment entity (see our comments to Specific Matter 
for Comment 5 below). 

 

04 D No comment.  

05 A Yes, I agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the circumstances proposed 
in this Exposure Draft). I think that in relation this point the IFAC-IPSASB needs to observe the internal control for 
public sector. 

 

06 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

07 C We understand that IPSASB came to the conclusion of not exempting government business enterprises (GBEs) 
from line-by-line consolidation after deliberation of both sides of the argument.    

Our experience indicates that consolidating GBEs using a modified equity method works well in practice. Given the 
business and self-sustaining nature of GBEs in Canada, this method of consolidating GBEs produces useful 
information in the consolidated financial statements for users to assess accountability.  

We understand that the definition of GBEs in our standards differs from IPSASB’s definition. We suggest that 
IPSASB reconsider whether consolidating GBEs on a line-by-line basis remains the best solution once the project to 
review the current definition of GBEs is completed. 

 

08 A We agree to the proposed approach; except the current proposal for controlling entities that control investment 
entities (see SMC 5). 

 

09 A  (7) We agree that as a general principle an entity should consolidate all entities over which it has control with the 
exception of investment entities. Apart from investment entities, we have not identified other categories of entity that 
should be exempted from consolidation. 

 

10 A The Council considers that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities and is not favorable to 
exceptions. 

As part of its analysis, the Council noted several reasons that could be considered by a preparer to avoid the 
consolidation of a controlled entity. These are the following: 

- Non material controlled entity,  
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- Undue delay to obtain information from the controlled entity, 

- Heavy costs,  

- Major differences between the activity of the controlling entity and the activity of the controlled entity. 

The Council conclusion is that accounting standards can not justify permanent exceptions to the consolidation of all 
controlled entities. The Council believes that it is the preparer’s responsibility who considers the consolidation of a 
controlled entity as being impracticable, due to specific circumstances, to provide appropriate information in the 
notes to financial statements. 

11 C See also general comments.  

The Cour des comptes deems that the principle of a consolidation of all controlled entities is excessive, especially 
because they are frequently very large numbers of them, and they may be submitted to various accounting 
standards. Entities such as GBEs or non profit institutions refer to accounting standards specific to the private  
sector, and they may sometime consolidate themselves, in their own perimeter. Line by line consolidation of theses 
bodies within a single perimeter of the public sector would bring huge costs and implementing difficulties, compare 
to their hypothetic added value in transparency or answers to the expectations of the users. Those expectations 
could be more easily satisfied through disclosures in the notes. The IPSAS Board has not, anyway, the capacity to 
make prescriptions of standards for GBEs or entities outside of its competency. 

 

12 C From the point of view of the “State Group” (the State and its controlled entities), the situation of non-business 
entities is different to that of business entities. The former are often public bodies set up by the State to implement 
public policies for which the State is directly responsible and provides the resources and supervision. Generally 
speaking, these entities do not have any business activity and are mainly funded by State or sovereign resources. 

On the other hand, controlled business entities are not primarily responsible for implementing public policies even 
although they may be entrusted with missions of public service or the provision of a universal service, and are not 
therefore, by nature, mainly funded by public resources or so closely supervised by the State as non-business 
entities6 

We therefore consider the following consolidation methods relevant:  

 

6 This distinction is also similar to the one made in the National Accounts between government organisation and corporations (in the System of national accounts of 2008§ 6,128, 

non-commercial production is defined as all of those goods and services provided by units at non charge or for an economically insignificant amount to other institutional entities 

or to the community as a whole: « Non-market output consists of goods and individual or collective services produced by non-profit institutions serving households (NPISHs) or 

government that are supplied free, or at prices that are not economically significant, to other institutional units or the community as a whole »). 
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- Full consolidation, only of non-business entities, implementing public policies, funded mainly by public or 
sovereign resources, and supervised by the State. Full consolidation reflects the specific nature of their 
action and close relationship with the State; 

- Equity method, for other controlled entities comprising mainly Government Business Enterprises with a 
commercial activity. 

However, in view of the number of entities potentially involved, particularly for the “State Group”, it seems necessary 
to define materiality thresholds by controlled entity or group of controlled entities in the non-commercial sector in 
order to ensure that only material controlled entities are fully consolidated. 

13 A Yes, I agree.   

14 A We agree that as a general principle a public entity should consolidate all entities over which it has control with the 
exception of investment entities. Apart from investment entities, we have not identified any other categories that 
should be exempted from consolidation. 

 

15 B There is not a consensus in our Committee relative to the value of a consolidated whole of government financial 
statement since (to the best of our knowledge) few decisions are made for the government as a whole. We agree 
that consolidated accounts provide additional and more complete information for decisions by users of general-
purpose financial statements, but that the inclusion of each controlled entity in a consolidation should depend on 
whether the incremental benefits to defined users outweigh the incremental costs. We also think that consolidations 
for the sub-sectors defined in the IMF-GFS Consolidation Guide (see Attachment 1 below) should precede any 
whole-of-government consolidation. Ideally, we agree that a controlling entity should prepare consolidated financial 
statements presenting the results of the controlling entity and its controlled entities as a single economic entity. But, 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements is in addition to the separate financial statements of the 
controlling entity and the separate financial statements of its controlled entities. Thus, the consolidated financial 
statements could provide better understanding of the financial statements by the parliament and external users 
through the elimination of thousands of transactions and balances that exist between a controlling entity and its 
controlled entities. We envisage a Venn diagram model where there are different circles of consolidation for different 
purposes, sometimes sub-sectors, sometimes overlapping circles.  In any event, the transition period should be at 
least five years (or more). 

[Attachment 1 showed financial statements with three columns: being GGS, PFC, PNFC]  

 

16 A We agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities. Consolidated financial statements are 
more transparent and useful if they comprehensively include information on all entities controlled by the controlling 
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entity. 

Our comments on the (potential) exceptions in this ED are noted in our response to questions 3 to 5 below. 

17 A We agree with the proposals included in ED 49. 

Japan has several independent administrative agencies that own majority voting rights in subsidiaries without 
participating in the decision-making for the subsidiaries in order to develop and foster new industries. In some 
cases, such agencies have consolidated their subsidiaries based on their legal form. In such cases, the agencies 
may not have power (or control) over the subsidiaries in accordance with the requirements of ED 49, and so they 
can not consolidate their subsidiaries as they did in the past. This may give rise to certain implications for our 
practices. 

 

18 B We agree with the proposal to consolidate all controlled entities. However, there is need for guidance on entities 
rescued by the government from financial distress. The government may have control but for a limited period of 
time. Our view is that these entities be disclosed in the financial statements and should not be consolidated. The 
cost of consolidating all these entities may outweigh the benefit in cases where there are many entities that have 
been rescued by the government. See further comments under Comment 3.  

 

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A Overall support 

We strongly support the proposal that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the 
specific circumstances outlined in the ED). It is appropriate that general purpose financial statements have a whole 
of government focus rather than a focus on the reporting entity for budgetary reporting or statistical reporting.  
Consolidation of controlled entities is consistent with a focus on the whole of government.   

Importance of transparent reporting 

In our opinion consolidation of all controlled entities results in more transparent reporting of an entity’s interests in 
other entities. A recent IMF paper7 discussed the importance of fiscal transparency and stated “Fiscal transparency 
helps ensure that governments’ economic decisions are informed by a shared and accurate assessment of the 
current fiscal position, the costs and benefits of any policy changes and the potential risks to the fiscal outlook.” 
Consolidation provides more comprehensive information on the current fiscal position and contributes to a more 

 

7  International Monetary Fund, Fiscal Transparency, Accountability, and Risk, August 2012 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 55 of 130 

                                                 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 2  
STAFF COMMENTS 

informed assessment of fiscal risks.  

Public sector entities should be accountable to stakeholders for their decisions to commit resources to investments 
in other entities and to expose the reporting entity to the risks and benefits that may arise from such investments, 
regardless of the circumstances in which such investments occur. Consolidated financial statements provide 
information that assists in assessments of accountability. We consider that application of the concepts of control 
and consolidation of controlled entities ensured that the New Zealand Government provided a comprehensive 
picture of the effect of supporting financial institutions during the global financial crisis.   

We note that the ED allows for possibility that an entity could control another entity, despite not having a present 
ownership interest. We consider that this is appropriate and have had a recent case in New Zealand whereby it was 
agreed that the Government controlled an insurance company by virtue of potential voting rights and other factors, 
despite the lack of a present ownership interest.   

Fundamental principles 

The usefulness of consolidated financial information is heavily dependent on financial information being prepared in 
a consistent manner. Control and consolidation of controlled entities are fundamental principles underpinning 
financial reporting.  

Other users and other information 

We acknowledge that there are users with an interest in budget sector financial statements and statistical reports 
that might find other forms of reporting more useful than financial statements that consolidate all controlled entities.  
However, we do not consider that meeting these needs is the objective of general purpose financial statements.  It 
may be possible to provide information that meets these other user needs through segment reporting, or by 
providing reconciliations between the information reported in the general purpose financial statements and other 
reports.  

We accept that in some circumstances other information may also be useful. For example, some users might have 
a specific interest in information on the cost or fair value of a group of investments. However, this information may 
be available elsewhere and does not detract from the benefits of having consolidated financial statements.  General 
purpose financial statements are intended to meet the common information needs of users collectively and cannot 
be expected to meet all the information needs of specific users. Conversely information prepared to satisfy the 
information needs of specific users is unlikely to meet the common information needs of users of general purpose 
financial statements.  

Where subgroups of users have an interest in certain information we consider that this can be accommodated by 
providing supplementary information. For example, certain users’ desire for consolidated budget sector information 
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could be met by presenting that information in conjunction with consolidated whole of government information. 

Comments on the exceptions in the Exposure Draft are noted in our response to SMCs 3 to 5.  

22 A Yes, we support the consolidation requirements being consistent with those under NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements. In particular, we agree with the exemption for investment entities being available under 
IPSAS as well as under IFRS. 

 

23 A Agree - it is critical for transparency, accountability and well informed decision making that all controlled entities are 
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements of a reporting entity. 

 

24 A ANAN agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities provided there is no objection from any 
shareholder with significant interest in the subsidiaries. 

 

25 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

26 A We agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all its controlled entities, as including all entities in the 
consolidation will provide a complete and useful assessment of the economic entity’s activities and current financial 
position. 

 

27 D See Comments on ED 49 SMC 1.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP generally agrees that all controlled entities must be consolidated. In justifiable and exceptional 
cases (based on objective criterion) it should be possible to refrain from consolidation. Such exemptions should be 
laid down in the legal basis (e.g. Budget Act or Budget Ordinance). 

 

29 A We agree that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the circumstances proposed in 
this Exposure Draft). 

 

30 A CIPFA agrees that a controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the circumstances 
proposed in this Exposure Draft). 

 

31 D No comment on SMC2.  

32 D No comment on SMC2.  

33 A We have got no divergent views; controlling entity should consolidate all controlled entities (except in the 
circumstances as proposed in the Exposure Draft). 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 3:  

Do you agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (December 2006) for 
temporarily controlled entities?  If you agree with the withdrawal of the exemption please give reasons.   
If you disagree with the withdrawal of the exemption please indicate any modifications that you would propose to the exemption in IPSAS 6 
(December 2006). 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 02, 03, 05, 07, 09, 10, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 21, 22, 23, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30 20 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  08, 15 2 

C – DISAGREE 18, 19, 20, 24, 32 5 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  27 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 11, 31, 33 4 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49  31 

 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 3  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB strongly agrees with the proposal to withdraw the exemption currently in IPSAS 6 for temporarily 
controlled entities. 

 

02 A ACAG agrees with the proposal to withdraw the exemption for temporarily controlled entities. ACAG believes the 
withdrawal will: 

• remove the difficulties associated with identifying temporarily controlled entities  

• remove the opportunities for entities to ‘stretch’ the temporarily controlled definition to manipulate desired 
reporting outcomes  

• ensure all risks to which entities are exposed are reported. 
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Withdrawal of the exemption supports the main focus of the overall objectives of financial reporting outlined in the 
Conceptual Framework and aligns with the corresponding IFRS standard which requires the consolidation of 
temporarily controlled entities. 

03 A Yes, we agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption for temporarily controlled entities in IPSAS 6, as this will 
achieve the same outcome as applying IFRS 10; and we are not aware of any unique public sector issues that 
would warrant divergence. 

 

04 D No comment.  

05 A I agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(December 2006) for temporarily controlled entities. I think that experience of others countries can be more useful 
for this point; the IFAC could contact regional regulators/local regulators for to have informations of problems that 
can have occur for this process. 

 

06 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

07 A We agree with the withdrawal of the exemption and the rationale provided in paragraph BC 11.  

08 B We do not entirely agree with the proposal to withdraw the current approach. We do think that under certain 
circumstances it could indeed be appropriate to exempt certain entities from consolidation. We support in this 
respect the arguments presented in the alternative view on exceptional public sector interventions and "short-term" 
control situations. 

 

09 A (8) We agree with the proposed withdrawal of the exemption from consolidation for temporarily controlled entities. It 
is our belief that even if the initial intention is only to control such entities for a short period, in circumstances where 
control by a public sector body becomes necessary a longer period of control is often unavoidable. This is especially 
the case where a substantial reorganisation of the entity acquired is necessary before it can be removed from public 
control.  

(9) In order to fully highlight the risks and costs involved in the public sector taking control of such entities, as well 
as to improve comparability within public sector accounting, we believe that such entities should be accounted for in 
a manner consistent with the other entities over which the public sector body has control, even if the initial intention 
is that control over them is to be temporary. 

 

10 A The Council agrees with the proposal to withdraw the exemption for temporarily controlled entities, as it considers 
that there should be no exceptions to the consolidation of controlled entities. 

 

11 D No comment.  

12 A Yes. It is indeed difficult to determine beforehand whether the intervention by a public authority in the capital of a 
private sector entity in difficulty is of a temporary or a permanent nature. 
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13 A I agree because it’s conforming to IFRS 10.   

14 A We agree with the proposed withdrawal of the exemption from consolidation for temporarily controlled entities. It is 
often problematic determining the cut-off point of when and when not to classify an entity as temporarily controlled. 
In some cases, control for short periods often becomes longer because of unavoidable circumstances e.g. the UK 
government control of RBS bank which is now in its third year. This is particularly the case where a significant 
reorganisation of the entity acquired is necessary before it can be removed from public control. 

Overall, we believe that consolidating temporarily controlled entities will improve comparability and consistency 
within public sector accounting, as well as recognising the risk and costs involved. 

 

15 B Agree since temporarily controlled entities comprise some of the financial wealth of a controlling entity. In addition, 
there is no absolute guarantee that the temporarily controlled entity will be disposed within twelve months from 
acquisition even if the management is actively seeking a buyer. A number of governments have temporarily taken 
control of banks, and (in some cases) these are larger than the rest of the public sector. To consolidate such 
temporarily controlled entities would so dominate the financial statements that the statements would become largely 
meaningless. Therefore, there must be some exemption for special circumstances. 

Classified as “Partially agree”. 
The respondent appars to 
support removal of the 
exemption from temporary 
control but to still support 
some form of exemption. 

16 A We support the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ 
for temporarily controlled entities. We believe it is important that the financial statements (and consolidated financial 
statements) of a reporting entity show all the assets it controls and the obligations it has incurred, regardless of the 
time period those assets or liabilities are held, or the reasons those items arose. The same can be said of the 
revenues, expenses and cash flows of the reporting entity. 

 

17 A We agree with the proposals included in ED 49. IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, also requires 
controlled entities to be consolidated, irrespective of whether the control is temporary or not. At the same time, any 
assets held for sale must be recognized separately in the statement of financial position in accordance with IFRS 5, 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

IPSASs do not have any standards equivalent to IFRS 5. Therefore, relevant information on the assets and liabilities 
of a temporarily controlled entity would not become available from the consolidated financial statements of the 
controlling entity just by consolidating a controlled entity which the controlling entity temporarily controls. We 
therefore believe, given the needs of users, that either a standard equivalent to IFRS 5 should be developed or 
separate disclosure requirements to make this type of information available should be established (such as 
Exposure Draft 52, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities). 

 

18 C We do not agree with this.  

Governments will always have temporarily controlled entities because of its overall responsibility to the public. 
These entities that are temporarily controlled may be better dealt with by making appropriate disclosures as 
opposed to consolidating them. Consolidated these entities may mislead the users of financial statements because 
it may misstate the reality. We suggest that the IPSASB develop criteria for identifying temporarily controlled entities 
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as this will enhance consistency in the financial statements of public sector entities. 

19 C We do not agree with the proposal in ED49 Consolidated Financial Statements to require temporarily controlled 
entities to be consolidated. The benefits of financial reporting should justify the costs of providing the information. 
Taking into account the cost-benefit constraint, we believe that the costs to be incurred to consolidate temporarily 
controlled entities may not justify its benefits if the entities are acquired and held exclusively with a view to resale 
within twelve months from acquisition. Moreover, consolidating such entities may not faithfully represent the 
decision or intention of realising the future economic benefits through sale instead of obtaining variable benefits 
through involvement in such entities.  

IPSAS 6 at present requires the investment in such entities to be accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 29, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; we continue to believe that the fundamental qualitative 
characteristics of relevance and faithful representation could still be achieved by recognising and measuring the 
investment in such entities at fair value. 

We also propose that the IPSASB consider adopting the principles contained in the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations relating to 
subsidiaries acquired with a view to resale.  

Provided that the sale is expected to be completed within a year from the acquisition date, IFRS 5 allows 
subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view to resale to be presented as a disposal group classified as held for 
sale, hence allowing a short-cut method of consolidation to be applied. The method, described in IFRS 5 IG 
Example 13, allows the subsidiary to be treated as a disposal group measured at fair value less costs to sell. This 
would avoid the burden of full consolidation on a line-by-line basis as well as a full fair value exercise on all 
identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of the subsidiary. 

If the approach in IFRS 5 is adopted, the assets and liabilities of the temporarily controlled entities will be shown 
separately from other assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. The results of the temporary 
controlled entities, as well as the gain or loss on their measurement at fair value will be presented as a single 
amount in the statement of financial performance, separately from the continuing operations. We believe such 
presentation on temporarily controlled entities would be useful and more relevant to users in assessing the timing, 
amount and uncertainty of future cash flows. 

We noted the concerns of the IPSASB regarding the exemption currently allowed under IPSAS 6, particularly in 
situations where the entities are held for more than a couple of years. We are of the view that the exemption from 
consolidation should be applied if, and only if, both criteria in IPSAS 6 paragraph 21 are met. If the criteria are no 
longer met subsequently, the exemption from consolidation shall cease immediately. 

 

20 C See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.   

The Council is concerned with the inclusion of temporarily controlled entities in ED 49.   

We consider that there are a limited number of circumstances in which public sector entities are required to invest in 
other entities to enable them to continue to provide services to the general public. Such investments are driven by 
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public good considerations, rather than by economic considerations. For instance, over the past several years we 
have seen insurers, financial institutions and airlines purchased by governments for the sole purpose of avoiding the 
wider economic impacts that would result from the failure of such entities. We note that this situation does not occur 
in the private sector, where entities are not required to make investments on the basis of public good 
considerations.   

Where a public sector entity temporarily takes a majority investment in an entity on the basis of public good 
considerations, we consider that consolidation is not warranted, as the resultant consolidated financial statements 
would not reflect the overall purpose of the group and consequently would not provide useful information to users.   

Although we do not support consolidation of entities that public sector entities temporarily invest in for public good 
purposes, we do consider that appropriate disclosure is required to enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate the impact of such investments. We consider that such disclosure should include the amount of the 
investment, the percentage ownership of the investee, the reasons for which the investment was made, significant 
terms and conditions of the investment, future financial support that the investor is likely to be required to provide 
and the proposed manner and timing of disposal of the investment. Further to this, we consider that disclosure of 
the financial impacts of such investments should be required. As a minimum, we suggest that information on 
revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities should be included and that significant transactions 
with, and balances owed to/from, entities in the group that the investee would otherwise be consolidated into should 
be disclosed.   

Further to this, we note that entities held for public good reasons can often be difficult to dispose of and that 
consequently such investments may not be disposed of within the timeframes that would ordinarily be associated 
with temporary control. In circumstances where control continues for an extended period of time, irrespective of the 
purpose for which the original investment was made, we consider that consolidation is warranted, because the 
controlling entity has, either intentionally or by default, accepted the risks and rewards of controlling the investee. 
We consider that an appropriate timeframe for requiring consolidation would be three years from the date on which 
control was achieved.    

Further to this, we consider that such exemptions should apply where equity accounting or proportionate 
consolidation would ordinarily be required. We consider that such investments should also be excluded from ED 50 
on the same basis as we have suggested exclusion from ED 49 (i.e. with adequate disclosure and for a maximum of 
three years from significant influence or joint control being achieved).   

21 A We support the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 (December 2006) for temporarily controlled entities.  
This exemption was withdrawn from New Zealand’s accounting standards some time ago. Our comments on 
Question 2, regarding the importance of consistent application of accounting policies are also relevant here.  

We note that, at this stage, the IPSASB has decided not to develop a standard based on IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. New Zealand’s PBE Standards include a standard based on IFRS 5 
and in the case of investments held for sale, the presentation and disclosure requirements of IFRS 5 would be 
applicable. We consider that these requirements provide appropriate information on investments held for sale.  
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We note that despite a government’s intention to dispose of an interest in an entity within a certain timeframe, this is 
often not feasible and the actual disposal may take a number of years. We consider that such interests in other 
entities should be accounted for in the same manner as all other interests, as they are ultimately still controlled.  

22 A We agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(December 2006) for temporarily controlled entities. This exemption is not available under NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements and NZ IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations would be 
applied where control of an entity was intended to be temporary. We support having consistent requirements 
between IFRS and IPSAS to avoid confusion and variable application for entities that are members of mixed groups 
in New Zealand.   

 

23 A Agree - Temporary in the public sector, as evidence has shown, can mean a very long time. 

If the Government has taken control of an entity, it should demonstrate its accountability for it. If the Government 
takes the view that the results of such entities should be separated from the results of other entities, it should take 
the segment reporting approach. 

The Treasury notes from its experience with taking control over entities in financial distress, that they have been 
readily able to produce financial statements on a timely basis. The consolidation "cost" can therefore be overstated - 
systems should not need to change, rather the consolidation process added to. 

 

24 C ANAN disagree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6, because it will not be in line with 
IFRS/IPSAS requirement for full disclosure. 

 

25 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

26 A We agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (December 2006) relating to temporarily controlled entities. We have noted that in many instances it 
takes more than twelve months to dispose of a temporarily controlled entity, as legislation and other requirements 
have to be met before a sale is concluded, despite management’s intention to sell the entity within a twelve month 
period. We also acknowledge that in many instances, judgment has to be applied in determining whether an entity 
should be classified as temporarily controlled. By excluding these entities from the consolidation, we are of the view 
that fair presentation, relevance and the reliability of the financial statements may have been impaired.  

We do have proposals for disclosures that could be included in the financial statements where management intends 
to sell a controlled entity. These proposals have been included in our response to specific matter for comment 1 on 
Exposure Draft 52. 

 

27 A We agree.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the withdrawal of this exemption. Temporarily limited investments must also be 
consolidated, to prevent abuse. 
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29 A We agree with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 for temporarily controlled entities. The concept of 
an exemption does not sit well within the control principle of the standard. Control is control. If control is for a short 
period of time there is a reason for it. Removal of the exemption ensures that the financial statements provide a 
complete record of all the transactions of the group of entities and provides a more consistent approach for public 
sector entities. 

 

30 A CIPFA agrees with the proposal to withdraw the exemption in IPSAS 6 for temporarily controlled entities, for the 
reasons outlined in the exposure draft Basis for Conclusions. 

 

31 D No comment on SMC3.  

32 C The ED proposes to withdraw the current exemption for temporarily controlled entities in IPSAS 6 paragraphs 20 -
22 which states that: 

20. Consolidated financial statements shall include all controlled entities of the controlling entity, except 
those referred to in paragraph 21. 

21. A controlled entity shall be excluded from consolidation when there is evidence that (a) control is 
intended to be temporary because the controlled entity is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its 
disposal within twelve months from acquisition, and (b) management is actively seeking a buyer. 

22. Such controlled entities are classified and accounted for as financial instruments... 

We believe that the IPSAS for Consolidated Financial Statements should exempt certain temporarily controlled 
entities from consolidation to appropriately provide for economic transactions which uniquely occur in the public 
sector that are not necessarily included in IFRS 10. Our views consider experiences in the United States over the 
last several years.  Our rationale for the exemption of certain temporary controlled entities from consolidation is that: 

(1) there are exceptional circumstances where a public sector entity may exercise regulatory or other sovereign 
power and intervene in private sector entities and the standard should provide for these circumstances; 

(2) consolidating financial information related to entities where the public sector entity has less than permanent 
control provides misleading information in the public sector entity’s financial statements;  

(3) with respect to such non-permanent interventions, the principal users of the public sector entity’s financial 
statements are concerned with the investment recoverability and identification of further risks associated with 
the intervention activity; 

(4) note disclosures can provide a comprehensive understanding of the nature, benefits, and risks associated 
with the intervention activity that articulate the economic substance of the intervention activity without 
obscuring the public sector entity’s finances;  

(5) there are significant costs to the public sector entity for the preparation and audit of the financial information of 
the private sector entity using IPSASB standards; and, 

(6) consistent and sufficient criteria can be developed to identify categories of private sector entities which should 
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not be consolidated can be developed. 

Exceptional Public Sector Interventions in the Private Sector 

In response to exceptional circumstances, such as economic instability or security concerns, a public sector entity 
may exercise regulatory or other sovereign powers and intervene in private sector entities. Some of these 
interventions may result in control over a private sector entity, while others do not. Such interventions arise because 
of the public sector entity’s broad responsibility for the well-being of its jurisdiction, rather than routine public sector 
activities. Such intervention actions may relate broadly to entire markets, to key industries, or specific entities. 
Control may be obtained for a variety of reasons, such as ensuring that the public sector entity will optimize the 
recovery of its investment, enhancing the likelihood that the entity will continue to operate, and preventing other 
investors from unfairly profiting from the intervention. Moreover, in recent years, an increasing number of public 
sector entities have experienced such unusual temporary intervention transactions and we believe that the standard 
should provide sufficient latitude to appropriately account for these types of circumstances.  

Control Is Not Expected To Be Permanent And Consolidating Such Information Provides Misleading Financial 
Information  

For many interventions carried out by the public sector entity, it is clear at the time of the acquisition of a controlling 
interest in a private sector entity that the public sector entity intends to dispose of its interest as soon as 
economically practicable and that control of the private sector entity is not expected to be permanent, but rather is 
expected to be temporary. Such expectations may be made clear through legislation or other actions of the public 
sector entity. In some instances, interventions of private sector entities may be controlled through specific legal 
structures, such as receiverships and conservatorships, which may indicate the intent of the public sector entity’s 
actions. For example, receiverships or conservatorships are established to liquidate failing institutions or to guide 
such institutions back to safe and sound conditions, respectively. Generally, such private sector entities are under 
some form of economic duress and the intervention by the public sector entity provides temporary relief or liquidity 
to such entities.  

While the public sector entity plans to dispose of its investments in the private sector entity as soon as economically 
practicable, the timing of the public sector entity’s actions to dispose of its investments may be affected by its efforts 
to maximize the recovery of the public sector entity’s investments in the intervention entities, as well as by the 
financial health of the intervention entities and market conditions. Because of the unique and often severe 
conditions leading to these public sector interventions, the exact period of control may not be known or estimable 
and may exceed one year, even though the public sector clearly intends control to be temporary. Consequently, the 
temporary nature of the control would need to be reconfirmed at the end of each reporting period.  

It is our view that consolidating financial information related to entities where the public sector entity has less than 
permanent control provides misleading information in the public sector’s financial statements by obscuring the 
public sector entity’s liabilities or risks with respect to the temporarily-controlled entity (because balances between 
the entities would be eliminated). It also provides misleading information about the public sector entity’s financial 
resources and obligations by including the private sector entity’s:  
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• assets (such as inventory and production plant) that are not available for the ongoing operations of the 
public sector entity;  

• liabilities that are not the responsibility of the public sector entity; and,  

• revenues and expenses that do not reflect the public sector entity’s operations.  

Principal Users Of Financial Statements Seek Information On The Investment Recoverability And Identification Of 
Further Risks 

Consistent with the public sector entity’s intention to dispose of its interests as soon as economically practicable, the 
public sector entity’s focus, which may be clearly indicated through laws or its actions, is on investment recovery 
and any further risks. Consequently, the principal user information needs relate to the public sector entity’s 
accountability to the public regarding (1) the public sector entity’s recoverability of its investments and any potential 
further public sector entity investments in the entity, and (2) minimizing loss of taxpayer funds. Accordingly, users’ 
needs are best met through information about amounts invested, the market value or fair value of the investment 
(consistent with IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments), any additional liabilities or contingencies for further investments in 
such entities (in accordance with existing reporting standards), and disclosure of any additional risks that could 
result in future losses through additional disclosure requirements.  In addition, such reporting should be consistent 
with other interventions for which control was not obtained or which are no longer controlled by the public sector 
entity. Contrary to meeting such user needs, consolidation of intervention entities meeting the above characteristics 
would fail to provide useful information on the recoverability of investments in such temporarily controlled entities.  
Further, it is our view that disclosure of recoverability information would not be an effective substitute for proper 
recognition. In addition, consolidation and deconsolidation within a relatively short period of time (e.g., 2-3 years) 
could lead to user confusion and significant costs.  

Note Disclosures Can Provide a Comprehensive Understanding of the Nature, Benefits, And Risks Associated with 
the Intervention without Obscuring the Public Sector Entity’s Finances 

It is our view that note disclosures can provide a more comprehensive understanding of the nature, benefits, and 
risks associated with intervention activities than would be provided through the consolidation of certain temporarily 
controlled private sector  entities. These disclosures could reveal the nature of the relationship of the temporarily 
controlled entity to the public sector entity, provide relevant activity that occurred during the reporting period, and 
describe any financial and non-financial risks and potential benefits to the public sector entity. We believe that the 
development of principles for comprehensive note disclosures related to the intervention activity would more 
appropriately reflect the economic substance of the intervention activity without obscuring the public sector entity’s 
finances. 

Costs to Prepare and Audit the Intervention Entities Could Be Significant 

If such intervention entities were consolidated, the overall cost to the public sector entity to prepare and audit the 
financial information of such private sector entities could be significant. These entities may be required to continue 
to file audited financial statements on a private sector GAAP basis with security regulators. The financial statements 
would need to be analyzed and converted, as necessary, to IPSAS standards and the public sector entity would 
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likely directly bear the additional costs of the audit. 

Sufficient Criteria Can Be Developed For Identifying Such Entities 

We believe that sufficient criteria can be developed for consistently identifying entities that are temporarily 
controlled.  For example, the following characteristics could be used to identify such entities: (1) control results from 
exceptional interventions in the private sector, (2) control over the entity is not expected to be permanent, and (3) 
investment recoverability and identification of further risks are the principal user information needs, all of which we 
have previously discussed.   

Other Considerations For Excluding Certain Temporarily Controlled Entities from Consolidation 

Our experience in the United States provides an illustrative example of such intervention activities. In 2009, the 
federal government carried out significant activities to stabilize the financial markets and to promote economic 
recovery. These activities included making material investments in certain private sector entities--some of which 
represented majority ownership. Many such activities were carried out through the Troubled Asset Relief Program 
(TARP). It was clear from the onset of the TARP that such private sector entity investments were not intended to be 
permanent. The legislation authorizing TARP contained specific requirements that TARP: 

• hold the private sector  entity assets it had acquired until such time when market conditions were optimal for 
selling such assets, in order to maximize the value for taxpayers; and, 

• sell such assets at a price that, based on available financial analysis, would maximize its return on investment 
for the federal government.  

In the Unites States Consolidated Financial Report, TARP investments--both those of controlled entities and of non-
controlled entities--were valued at fair value and supplemented with disclosures that provided information on the 
nature of the arrangements, relevant activity during the period, and the identification of further risks associated with 
such activities. Looking back, as TARP has liquidated most of its investments, it is clear that federal government 
decision makers and taxpayers were primarily interested in financial information concerning the extent to which the 
federal government’s TARP investments would be recovered and that the reported financial information was used to 
help financial statement users assess the TARPs activities and provide accountability over U.S. taxpayer provided 
resources.  

Currently, the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) is reconsidering the criteria used to 
determine entities that should be consolidated. In its Exposure Draft entitled Reporting Entity, the Board proposed 
that a controlled entity may be excluded from consolidation if it is an intervention activity and the relationship with 
the federal government is not expected to be permanent. The FASAB is currently considering comment letters on 
the exposure draft. The exposure draft also would require disclosures related to the relationships, activity, and risks 
associated with intervention activities.  

33 D We have no comments.  
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 4:  

Do you agree that a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity should be required to account for its investments at fair value 
through surplus or deficit? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 02, 03, 05, 07, 09, 10, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 21, 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 28, 29, 
30, 33 

23 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  08, 17, 20 3 

C – DISAGREE 12 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  27 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 11, 31, 32  4 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49    31 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 4  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB agrees that a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity should be required to 
account for its investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. We note that this is consistent with IFRS 10 and 
do not consider there is any specific public sector reason to have different accounting requirements. 

 

02 A While ACAG believes departures from conceptual framework principles (such as the IFRS accounting treatment of 
investments by investment entities) should be avoided wherever possible, it agrees with the IPSASB proposals 
because the: 

• proposals are consistent with IFRS 10. ACAG supports convergence with IFRS wherever possible, as it 
promotes comparability between the private and public sectors 

• application of the departure from consolidation principles is limited to those entities meeting the definition of 
‘investment entities’ outlined in the proposed standard 

• definition of an ‘investment entity’ is consistent with that within IFRS 10. The restrictiveness of the definition 
means departure from consolidation principles will be limited – particularly in the public sector.  
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03 A Yes, we agree with the proposed accounting requirements that would apply to a controlling entity that meets the 
definition of an investment entity. 

 

04 D No comment.  

05 A I agree with a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity should be required to account for its 
investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. 

 

06 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

07 A Agree  

08 B We agree that there is no public sector specific reason to depart from IFRS in this respect. However, regarding the 
definition of an investment entity itself, we believe that a broader approach could have been more appropriate since 
the main argument in BC26 refers to the fact that many public sector entities manage their investments on a fair 
value basis. So the exemption from consolidation could apply to a broader range of public entities that manage their 
investments on a fair value basis. 

 

09 A (10) On balance, we agree with the IPSASB’s proposal for an exception to the consolidation principle on the basis 
that the measurement of investees controlled by an investment entity at fair value produces more decision useful 
information than consolidation. 

(11) We believe that if an investment controlled by an investment entity is held for capital appreciation, investment 
income or both only and the investor has a stated exit strategy for the investment or strategies for generating long-
term investment income - that investment should be measured at fair value through surplus and deficit. 

 

10 A At first, we would like to make clear that we have not identified any major public sector entity in France that could 
meet the definition of an investment entity. 

The Council agrees that an investment entity should be required to account for its investments at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

The Council agrees with the non consolidation of investments held by an investment entity as long as the criteria 
that define these entities are clear and circumscribe this exception to those entities whose activity corresponds only 
to fund management aiming to obtain a return in the form of income or capital appreciation. This activity must 
correspond to a management of investments on a fair value basis with pre-defined exit strategies. 

 

11 D No comment.  

12 C No, accounting for investments at fair value through surplus or deficit does not appear appropriate considering it 
leads to a potential increase in the volatility and pro-cyclicality of surplus or deficit. Our preference is for the 
measurement of these investments at cost as stated in our reply to the consultation on the Conceptual Framework.  

 

13 A I agree.  
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14 A We agree with the above proposal that an investment entity should account for its investments at fair value through 
surplus or deficit.  

 

15 A Agree.  

16 A We agree with the overall concept of this requirement. If the investment controlled by the public sector entity is held 
for capital appreciation, investment income or both, and is managed on a fair value basis, we agree that measuring 
it at fair value through surplus or deficit provides more useful and relevant information because of the nature of the 
investment. 

 

17 B We basically agree with the proposals included in ED 49. We suggest that the IPSASB consider the more public 
sector oriented definition (especially in its purpose) of an investment entity as follows. 

We suppose that some investment entities in the public sector may define their purpose as fostering entities in 
specific industrial or regional areas. Therefore, we think the objectives of their investments should be expanded 
from the currently proposed scope mentioned in paragraph 10 of ED 49: “the purpose of investing funds solely to 
gain returns from capital appreciation, solely to gain investment revenue, or both.”  

 

18 A Yes. The emphasis for an investment entity is on returns hence the value of investments is important. Fair value will 
be appropriate in this case. 

 

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 B See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.   

The Council’s key concern with the EDs relates to the investment entity concept introduced in ED 49.   

We generally consider that accounting treatment should be based on the substance of the transaction being 
undertaken, rather than on the nature of the entities undertaking it. This would ordinarily lead us to conclude that an 
entity should always consolidate another entity in which it holds a controlling interest.   

However, we also consider that it is fundamentally important that financial statements provide information that users 
of the financial statements can use to make decisions about their interaction with the preparer of those financial 
statements.   

We note that those who invest in the types of entities that would meet the ED 49 definition of an investment entity 
do so for the capital appreciation and investment return that will be earned on the investments made by the 
investment entity. We consider that such investors and the management of the investment entity are most likely to 
have their information needs in relation to those investments met by the provision of information on the fair value of 
the underlying investments, irrespective of the percentage ownership of such investments. We further note that the 
consolidation of holdings in underlying investments by investment entities would likely provide information that was 
not useful to the users of the investment entity’s financial statements. Further to this, we note that, if consolidation 
were required, the users and/or preparers of such financial statements might need to incur additional costs to 
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provide the fair value information sought by investors. 

On that basis, we agree that entities that invest solely for capital appreciation and/or investment revenue, and that 
manage investments on a fair value basis, should recognise all of their investments, including those in which they 
have a controlling interest, at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IPSAS 29”). For that reason, we support the proposal in ED 49 to 
require investment entities to carry their controlling investments in other entities at fair value through surplus or 
deficit, rather than consolidating such investments.    

However, we consider that controlled investments should only be carried at fair value when the fair value of an 
underlying investment can be reliably determined. Where the fair value of an investment that is controlled by an 
investment entity is unable to be reliably fair valued, we consider that the investment should be consolidated by the 
investment entity. We do not envisage that such a situation would frequently arise, as the definition of an investment 
entity includes the requirement that it manage its investments on a fair value basis, which implies that fair value 
would ordinarily be reliably determinable for such investments.   

Further to this, we consider that the exception should apply to upstream entities in the group.  We do not consider it 
appropriate to require the parent of an investment entity to consolidate the investment entity’s controlling interest in 
other entities, when the investment entity carries such investments at fair value in its financial statements.  We 
consider that requiring different treatments for the same investment at different levels in a group undermines the 
original conclusion that such investments should be carried at fair value through surplus or deficit to provide more 
relevant and useful information to users of the financial statements.   

We also consider that the same exception should apply to investments that would ordinarily be accounted for as 
associates or joint ventures (although we consider that the same requirement for fair value to be reliably 
determinable that we suggested in relation to controlled entities should apply).   

We note that ED 50 permits investments held by, or indirectly through, an entity that is a venture capital 
organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity, including an investment-linked insurance fund, to be 
measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29.  We consider that the requirements 
of ED 49 and ED 50 should be aligned in relation to this matter. Thus, we consider that ED 50 should refer to 
investment entities and require recognition of investments made by investment entities at fair value through surplus 
or deficit, rather than permitting it as an option. We note that, if this is not done, the manner in which an investment 
is accounted for could change as a result of a very minor change in the percentage of ownership, which we consider 
would undermine the usefulness of the financial statements. As the definition of an investment entity includes the 
requirement to manage investments on a fair value basis, if the Board concludes that ED 50 should not be amended 
in the manner that we have suggested, we consider that an entity should not be classified as an investment entity in 
ED 49 if it does not take the option in ED 50 to carry investments that would otherwise be classified as associates or 
joint ventures at fair value through surplus or deficit.   

Finally, due to the complexity of this issue, the degree of professional judgement required and the potential impact 
on the financial statements, we consider that additional guidance should be added to the application guidance 
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accompanying ED 49.  If the Board concludes that investments by investment entities that would otherwise be 
accounted for as associates or joint ventures should be carried at fair value through surplus or deficit, we consider 
that appropriate guidance should also be provided in ED 50.   

21 A Our response to this question reflects our circumstances. The NZASB is a domestic standard setter with 
responsibility for setting standards for both for-profit entities and public benefit entities. Our larger for-profit entities 
apply New Zealand equivalents to IFRSs and larger public benefit entities will apply standards based on IPSASs 
(from 1 July 2014). Having regard to our prior experience in using one set of standards for both for-profit and public 
sector entities, and the existence of groups that comprise entities from both sectors, the NZASB seeks to avoid 
unnecessary differences between these suites of standards.  

We have reservations about the implications of creating exceptions to consolidation of controlled entities. We had a 
number of concerns regarding the IASB’s investment entity proposals and outlined those concerns in our comment 
letter to the IASB. These concerns included the following:  

(a) insufficient discussion of the concepts on which the proposals were based, including an explanation as to 
why meeting users' needs in this instance would require non-consolidation of controlled assets and 
liabilities; 

(b)  the implications of moving from transaction-based standards to industry-based standards; and 

(c)  the absence of an analysis of options that might meet both the principle of consolidation and provide fair 
value information about investments held by investment entities. 

Despite our concerns about the IASB’s proposals, we acknowledge that the IASB followed appropriate due process 
in developing its requirements for investment entities. In particular, the IASB had regard to feedback from some of 
its constituents who were of the view that certain types of entities are managed on a fair value basis and that users 
prefer to receive fair value information in respect of those entities. 

The fact that the IASB has issued the investment entity amendments has changed the international accounting 
environment. The existence of the investment entity requirements in IFRS 10 has influenced the views of 
constituents that are familiar with IFRSs and the views of those standard setters that have an objective of 
international harmonisation. 

We consider that there will be few public sector entities that meet the definition of an investment entity. However, 
where such entities exist, we consider that the nature of those entities and the needs of their users, will be the same 
in both the private and public sector. Given that an investment entity controlled by a public sector entity might be 
required to report in accordance with IPSASs or IFRSs we see no justification for establishing different 
requirements.  

We note that many investment entities reporting in accordance with IPSASs will be required to make the disclosures 
specified in ED 52 paragraph 14 about significant judgements and assumptions made in determining that it is an 
investment entity (because they do not have the characteristics listed in ED 49 paragraph 57). We consider that 
such disclosures are appropriate.  
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Given the matters discussed above, we therefore concur with the IPSASB’s proposals for investment entities, 
insofar as they relate to an investment entity’s financial statements. 

22 A We support the requirement for investment entities to account for its investments at fair value through surplus or 
deficit as this is consistent with the provisions of NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe fair 
value measurement provides the most relevant and useful information for these types of entities. Also, alignment of 
the investment entity provisions with IFRS enables comparability and eliminates the requirement for two sets of 
financial information to be maintained by entities that are members of mixed groups in New Zealand.  

 

23 A Agree, so long as the business model is that such entities are managed to maximise fair value , the most relevant 
information to be used to account for its investments is fair value. Given the expectations of an exit strategy, and 
restrictions on owners overruling the investment entity's decisions, Treasury would be surprised, and concerned, 
however if this allowed for strategic profit-making investments , such as Government owned national airlines, to be 
excluded from consolidation. This point could be made clearer in the Application Guidance. 

 

24 A ANAN agree that a controlling entity that meets the definition investment entity should be required to account for its 
investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. The justification is that profit or loss incurred by any entity is 
always recognised through the P & L (TPL). 

 

25 - Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nigeria (ICAN) 

Did not submit on ED 49. 

 

26 A We agree that a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity should be required to account for 
its investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. Accounting for investments at fair value through surplus and 
deficit: 

(a) enhances the comparability of the different investments reported in an investment entity’s financial 
statements; 

(b) provides useful information to the users of the financial statements as the method of accounting for these 
investments reflects the way in which they are managed, i.e. on a fair value basis.   

 

27 A We agree.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this statement.  

29 A We agree that a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity should be required to account for 
its investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. For these types of investments, Management makes their 
decisions and resource allocations based on the investments fair value.  
We welcome the additional guidance on when an entity would be considered an investment entity in the public 
sector context. 

 

30 A Yes.  
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31 D No comment on SMC4.  

32 D No comment on SMC4.  

33 A Yes we do agree, a controlling entity that meets the definition of an investment entity should be required to account 
for its investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. The proposed accounting treatment is appropriate; IASB 
had considered the same matter and decided to amend IFRS 10. 
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 5:  

Do you agree that a controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, but which controls an investment entity should be required to present 
consolidated financial statements in which it: 

(i) measures the investments of the controlled investment entity at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and  

(ii) consolidates the other assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses of the controlled investment entity in accordance with this Standard? 

Do you agree that the proposed approach is appropriate and practicable? If not, what approach do you consider would be more appropriate and 
practicable? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 05, 07, 09, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 33 20 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  08, 10 2 

C – DISAGREE 01, 02, 03, 04, 12, 21 6 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  28 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 11, 31, 32 3 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49  31 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 5  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 C The AASB disagrees with the proposal that a controlling entity that is not an investment entity should measure a 
controlled investment entity’s investments at fair value through surplus or deficit. We consider that in such 
circumstances full consolidation should be required. 

The AASB supports the IASB’s arguments for requiring consolidation by the controlling entity as explained in the 
Basis for Conclusions of IFRS 10, particularly the arguments set out below: 

The IASB considered that the argument for a fair value measurement requirement is weakened at 

Respondent disagrees  

• support IASB arguments 

• no public sector specific 
reason for difference 
identified 
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a non-investment entity level because these entities (i) have other substantial activities besides 
investing, and (ii) do not manage substantially all of their assets on a fair value basis. The IASB 
noted that permitting fair value measurement of investment entities in these situations would not 
be consistent with their decision to require that investment entities account for controlled entities 
at fair value because that decision was based on the unique business model of investment 
entities. 

The IASB had concerns that if a non-investment controlling entity were required to retain the fair 
value treatment used by its controlling entities, it could achieve different accounting outcomes by 
holding controlled entities directly or indirectly through a controlled investment entity. A non-
investment controlling entity could reduce the level of information about highly leveraged activities 
or loss-making activities by placing those activities in controlled investment entities. This concern 
was magnified by the possibility that there could be a larger number of investment entities than 
the IASB had originally envisaged. 

The AASB responded to IASB ED/2011/4 Investment Entities with the view: 

The AASB considers that the parent of an investment entity that is not itself an investment entity 
should be required to consolidate all of its controlled entities including those it holds through 
subsidiaries that are investment entities. 

The AASB believes that this restriction is essential to help avoid structuring designed to achieve 
particular accounting outcomes. 

Furthermore, if the exception were to flow up into the consolidated financial statements of the 
parent, it would be inconsistent with the whole focus of ED/2011/14 on entities that meet the 
investment entity criteria.  That is, the AASB can understand that the accounting for a particular 
type of transaction or item might flow up into higher levels of a group, but not when the 
accounting policy depends on the nature of the entity itself. 

The AASB noted the IPSASB’s arguments in ED 49 for differing from IFRS but disagree that there is any public 
sector specific reason for doing so. 

02 C ACAG does not support this proposal because the:   

• proposal is not consistent with IFRS 10, which requires full consolidation of all controlled entities when the 
controlling entity is not also an investment entity. IFRS 10 requires the parent entity to ‘look through’ its 
investment entity subsidiary and consolidate its underlying controlled entities.  

Departure from IFRS would seem unnecessary and inconsistent with the IPSASB’s own deliberations at BC 18 
where they noted that “consistent requirements in IPSASs and IFRSs would reduce any opportunity for accounting 
arbitrage when determining which accounting standards an investment entity should be required to apply.”  

• proposal means movements in eligible ‘investments’ of governments will be recorded at fair value through 
surplus or deficit in the Whole-of-Government (WhOG) accounts. This will include investments governments 

Respondent disagrees 

• departure from IFRS not 
justified  

• opportunity for accounting 
arbitrage 
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control indirectly, which substantially extends what was meant to be a limited scope exception to 
consolidation principles.  

Government Finance Statistics Manual 2013 (GFSM 2013) continues to describe such movements as ‘revaluations’ 
rather than ‘transactions’. While the fair value of the investments will provide a proxy for market value, the treatment 
of the gains and losses in consolidated WhOG accounts may require clarification: 

• by the International Monetary Fund, 

• in the GFSM 2013  

• by Treasuries  

• by those with budget responsibilities within jurisdictions adopting IPSAS that these gains and losses are 
other economic flows for GFS purposes. 

• IPSASB notes the types of entities that might qualify as investment entities as “some sovereign wealth 
funds, some pension funds and some funds holding controlling interests in public-private partnership 
projects (PPP) or private finance initiatives (PFI)”. Governments generally establish these bodies to create 
long term national wealth and infrastructure capability. At the consolidated level, the annual fair value 
movement of investments adds or detracts from the nation’s wealth, rather than its disposable annual 
income. Incorporating the annual movement in the investments in the WhOG surplus or deficit, would not 
increase the usefulness of this information, particularly since it may cause unexpected, unbudgeted 
fluctuations beyond the control of government or its agencies.    

• basis of conclusions to ED 49 notes the IASB’s concerns regarding a non-investment controlling entity 
retaining the fair value treatment used by its controlled investment entities. The IASB supported the ‘look 
through’ approach because it considered manipulation of accounting outcomes by structuring the control of 
an entity either directly or indirectly through an investment entity. The IPSASB considered that this issue 
was less of a concern in the public sector. However, ACAG does not support this rationale and considers 
that the potential for manipulation of accounting outcomes through structuring is also present in the public 
sector. In addition, because governments are not for profit entities, including the changes in fair value of 
investments within investment entities in the operating result of government will not increase the overall 
usefulness of those financial statements to users. The departure from the IFRS equivalent does not 
therefore seem justified. 

03 C No, we do not agree with the proposed approach as it is not consistent with the IFRS 10 requirements. A parent of 
an investment entity should consolidate all entities that it controls unless the parent itself is an investment entity. 

Given the IPSASB policy of converging IPSAS with IFRS to the extent possible, it is our expectation that the reason 
for this modification would be unique public sector issues. However, no such issues are presented in the proposals. 
On reading the Basis for Conclusions to ED 49 it is apparent that for the IPSASB the structuring opportunities that 
worried the IASB are of less concern in the public sector context. We remain concerned that these requirements 
would present structuring opportunities in government accounts and hence we do not support the inclusion of these 

Respondent disagrees  

• no public sector specific 
reason identified 

• structuring opportunities 

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 77 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 5  
STAFF COMMENTS 

proposals in the final standard. 

04 C HoTARAC notes that the proposed requirement in paragraph 54 of the ED is inconsistent with IFRS requirements 
where only a parent that meets the definition of investment entity is allowed to account for their investments at fair 
value through profit or loss. HoTARAC is not convinced that there is a specific public sector reason to diverge from 
IFRS requirements and does not consider this modification as proposed by the IPSASB is appropriate. 

HoTARAC agrees that the structure of an entity should not dictate the accounting and acknowledges the importance 
of consistency in application of accounting treatments, where achievable, at different consolidation levels.  However, 
HoTARAC believes that in practice, consolidation exemptions should only be allowed in limited circumstances (e.g. 
when the controlling entity itself meets the definition of an investment entity). In most other situations when an entity 
controls another entity, it should consolidate it. 

The above HoTARAC view is supported by the following points: 

• Consistent with HoTARAC’s submission on the IASB’s ED on Investment Entities, HoTARAC believes that 
excluding non-investment entity parents from accounting for investments held by its investment entity 
subsidiaries at fair value is essential to help avoid structuring opportunities that might achieve particular 
accounting outcomes; 

• The structuring opportunities (e.g. allocating certain investments to a controlled investment entity), would lead 
to manipulation of financial statements (by retaining the fair value treatment on consolidation) if the ultimate 
parent is not itself an investment entity; 

• HoTARAC supports the IPSASB’s decision to retain the consolidation exemption for investments that are 
controlled by an investment entity based on the view that consolidation by the investment entity would not 
provide decision-useful information. As such, fair value accounting in this instance would better reflect the 
nature and attributes of the investment entity (i.e. profit-oriented) and investments that it holds.  However, 
given it is highly unlikely that the objective of the ultimate public sector parent (e.g. a State/Provincial 
government) would be for-profit, HoTARAC questions the appropriateness of extending the consolidation relief 
to a not-for-profit public sector parent that is not itself an investment entity;  

• HoTARAC also believes the proposal to extend the consolidation relief to a not-for-profit public sector parent 
that is not itself an investment entity, would reduce public sector accountability and transparency by avoiding 
consolidation of certain assets and liabilities that are controlled by its investment entity subsidiary; and 

• The proposal would lead to an unwarranted departure and potentially significant divergence from IFRS 
requirements. 

 

HoTARAC therefore would urge the IPSASB to reconsider the proposed approach in ED 49, in particular, the 
appropriateness of extending the consolidation relief to a not-for-profit public sector parent. 

Any consequential redeliberation by the IPSASB on this issue would also impact proposed requirements in ED 48 

Respondent disagrees  

• no public sector specific 
reason identified 

• structuring opportunities 
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Separate Financial Statements (paragraph 14) and ED 52 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities (paragraph 34).  

05 A I agree that a controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, but which controls an investment entity should 
be required to present consolidated financial statements in which it (i) measures the investments of the controlled 
investment entity at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, and (ii) consolidates the other assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses of 
the controlled investment entity in accordance with this Standard. 

Yes, I agree that the proposed approach is appropriate and practicable 

 

06 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

07 A Agree with both.  

08 B We do not entirely agree with the proposal as it currently stands. We do agree that the consolidation exception for 
investment entities should be rolled up to the ultimate controlling entity on the basis of the argument in BC26 that 
the controlling entity manages the investments of the investment entity on a fair value basis. 

We are however concerned with respect to the fact that, unlike in the IFRS 10 approach, different organisation 
structures in different jurisdictions may lead to different accounting outcomes. On the basis of the argument that a 
non-investment controlling entity manages its investments on a fair value basis, then it should not make a difference 
whether or not an investment entity is in the scope of consolidation. An ultimate controlling entity might for example 
use a public sector investment entity that is, by law, outside the scope of consolidation for investment management 
services. We understand that in this case a line-by-line consolidation of the investments would be required. The 
same would be true for investments managed by a non-consolidated entrusted entity (fiduciary) or by a department 
of the non-investment controlling entity although the investments are managed on a fair value basis. We believe that 
the accounting treatment of investments of a controlling entity that manages its investments on a fair value basis 
should not depend on the existence of a consolidated investment entity. 

If one accepts that there is a public sector specific reason to depart from IFRS 10, as it is proposed now, one should 
probably further explore public sector organizational structures for such investments which are, to our opinion, often 
designed differently than in the private sector. 

 

09 A (12) Once it is established that fair value is the appropriate measurement basis at the investment entity subsidiary 
level, this accounting should be “rolled up” to the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate controlling entity. 
This would reflect the fact that part of the activities of the ultimate controlling entity involves a different business 
model which is to hold the investments of an investment entity for capital appreciation, investment income or both. 

(13) We also believe that it is appropriate and practical that all other non-investment assets and liabilities and 
revenue and expenses of the controlled investment entity should be consolidated by the controlling entity as normal. 
This will ensure a consistent valuation and presentation of similar assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses 
amongst all the controlled entities. 
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10 B The Council agrees that an exemption should be provided for the controlling entity of an investment entity that is not 
itself an investment entity, but believes that the exemption as provided in the Exposure Draft may be difficult to 
implement. 

The Council wonders if the requirements of the Exposure Draft are based on the characteristics of an entity or the 
characteristics of an asset or a transaction. 

The question raised by the Exposure Draft is particularly significant regarding hybrid entities where investment 
related services or ancillary services are provided by the controlled investment entity and are not performed by 
another specific subsidiary. 

The issue is whether it is practicable to distinguish between fund management and ancillary services within the 
same investment entity. 

The Council considers that further guidance should be provided to clarify the requirements for entities dealing with 
these two types of activities. 

 

Note suggestion to provide 
further guidance on fund 
management and ancillary 
services. 

11 D No comment.  

12 C No. This approach consisting of booking, on the one hand, assets and liabilities by full consolidation and secondly, 
investments at fair value does not seem appropriate considering the implementation difficulties generated. 

Moreover, as noted in the previous question, we do not support investment valuation at fair value. 

Respondent disagrees 
• implementation difficulties 

• do not support investment 
valuation at FV 

13 A I agree.  

14 A We agree that a controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity, but which controls an investment entity 
should consolidate in accordance with IPSAS 29, by measuring the investments in the controlled entity at fair value 
through surplus or deficit. Before doing so, an entity should consider all the facts and circumstances when 
assessing whether it is an investment entity, including its purpose and design.  

To ensure consistency of valuation and presentation of similar controlled entities we agree that the proposed 
approach is practical.   

 

15 A Agree. 

Agree. 

 

16 A We believe that the proposed treatment is consistent with the proposed requirement to account for investments that 
are held for capital appreciation, investment income or both, and that are managed on a fair value basis, at fair 
value through surplus or deficit. 

We also agree that all other (non-investment) assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses of the controlled 
investment entity should be consolidated following the normal consolidation rules. 

 

17 A We agree with the proposal included in ED 49. As the treatment of the ED in this respect differs from that of the  
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IFRSs, we believe that reasons specific to the public sector should be explained in detail in the Basis for 
Conclusions (BC). We suggest that the BC should explain why the IFRS approach is impractical for the public 
sector entities. We think that it would be impractical for the public sector ultimate controlling entity to consolidate the 
significantly large number of controlled investment entities (which were evaluated at fair value by the controlling 
investment entities). ED 49 (BC24 through BC26) should explain practical difficulties in preparing both consolidation 
basis and fair value basis information for large numbers of entities.  

Note suggestion to provide 
rationale in BC. 

18 A We agree with the proposed approach.   

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.  See also response to ED 49 
SMC 1 which says “we consider that the exception should apply to upstream entities in the group.” 

 

21 C In our response to SMC 4 we noted that we seek to avoid unnecessary differences between the standards 
applicable to for-profit entities and those applicable to public benefit entities. These comments are also relevant to 
this question. Therefore the NZASB would not support a treatment different to that required by IFRS 10, unless the 
IPSASB were able to identify a strong public sector reason for such a difference. We note that the IASB considered 
and decided against retaining the investment entity accounting in a non-investment entity parent, for conceptual and 
practical reasons. (For example, the exception from consolidation was created specifically for investment entities, 
whereas a non-investment entity parent is not an investment entity.) We are not convinced that the circumstances in 
the public sector are sufficiently different to warrant a different conclusion. Therefore, we do not support this 
proposal.  

Respondent disagrees  

• no public sector specific 
reason identified 

22 A We agree that a controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, but which controls an investment entity, 
should measure the investments of the controlled entity at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with 
IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In our view, fair value accounting continues to be 
relevant at the non-investment parent level and the cost savings and benefits achieved from the more relevant 
reporting would be lost if fair value accounting was not retained at the non-investment entity parent level. 

It is also our view that the retention of fair value accounting by a non-investment entity parent is consistent with 
ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures which allows a parent that indirectly holds an investment in an 
associate or joint venture through a venture capital organisation, mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity to measure 
that investment at fair value through profit or loss. 

We acknowledge that when the IASB were considering whether to retain investment entity accounting in the 
financial statements of a non-investment entity parent under NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, they 
had concerns about the potential for a non-investment entity parent to achieve different accounting outcomes by 
holding subsidiaries directly or indirectly through a controlled investment entity. However, we believe this issue is of 
less concern in the public sector context. 
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In our opinion, the proposed approach is both appropriate and practicable and provides significant cost relief for the 
Fund. Without this exemption the Fund would be required to re-measure and consolidate certain investments for the 
mere purpose of satisfying New Zealand Government consolidation and reporting requirements. This requires 
significant effort for no real benefit.   

23 A Agree. The Treasury recognises that this is different to the IASB approach, which appears to have been driven by 
concerns about manipulation. If an investment entity's accounts are fairly represented through showing its controlled 
investments at fair values because its purpose is to invest funds from capital appreciation, investment revenue or 
both, then that reason also applies to the consolidated entity of which the investment entity is a part. 

 

24 A ANAN agree that a controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity but which controls an investment entity 
should be required to present consolidated financial statements. The reason is that the mere fact the holding 
company and subsidiary company do not engage in the same line of business does not make consolidation 
inapproriate. 

 

25 - Did not submit on ED 49.  

26 A We agree that a controlling entity, that is not itself an investment entity, but which controls an investment entity 
should be required to present consolidated financial statements in which it (i) measures the investments of the 
controlled investment entity at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and (ii) consolidates the other assets and liabilities and revenue and 
expenses on the controlled investment entity in accordance with this Exposure Draft.  

We support the IPSASB’s view that extending the accounting for investments in a controlled investment entity’s 
financial statements to its controlling entity’s financial statements, would provide the users of the financial 
statements with useful information.  

 

27 A We agree.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this statement and is of the opinion that the proposed approach is appropriate and 
practicable. 

 

29 A We agree with this proposed approach and believe it is an appropriate and practical solution.  

30 A Yes.  

31 D No comment on SMC5.  

32 D No comment on SMC5.  

33 A The proposed approach is appropriate and practicable.  
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ED 49 Consolidated Financial Statements 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 6:  

The IPSASB has aligned the principles in this Standard with the Government Finance Statistics Manual 2013 (GFSM 2013) where feasible. Can 
you identify any further opportunities for alignment? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – NO (No further opportunities identified) 01, 02, 03, 05, 07, 08, 10, 13, 16, 17, 19, 20, 23, 24, 26, 28, 30 17 

B – YES (Further opportunities identified) 12, 15 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  19 

C – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 09, 11, 14, 18, 21, 22, 27, 29, 31, 32, 33 12 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 49  31 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 49 SMC 6  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB has not identified any further opportunities for alignment with the GFSM 2013.  

02 A Apart from the matter noted at the response to Specific Matter for Comment 5, ACAG is not aware of any further 
opportunities for alignment. 

R02 suggested that the 
treatment of movements in fair 
value be clarified in GFS (not 
in IPSASs).  

03 A We support the approach taken and we have not identified other opportunities for alignment.  

04 C No comment  

05 A I understand that Government Finance Statistics Manual 2013 improve the principles in this Standard. I suggest for 
the board, that in relation Statistics Manual 2013 is very important for analysis of information and I think that is the 
same process of EUROSTAT8 in the European Commission. 

 

8 http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY_PUBLIC/D4_2012/EN/D4_2012-EN.PDF 
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06  Did not submit on ED 49.  

07 A No.  

08 A No further opportunities identified.  

09 C  (14) We have no comments on this specific matter.  

10 A At first, the Council would like to remind that it expressed significant concerns regarding the convergence project 
between IPSAS and the principles of GFSM 2013 since IPSAS and GFSM have different goals and procedures (see 
our comment letter dated April 15, 2013 in response to the Consultation Paper "IPSASs and Government Finance 
Statistics Reporting Guidelines"). 

Regarding consolidation, the Council points out that the Exposure Draft ED 49 is silent about how the IPSAS Board 
has aligned ED’s principles with the GFSM 2013.  

The "consolidation" as envisaged by the GFSM is extremely different from that provided by accounting standards. In 
national accounts, the "consolidation" is actually an aggregation of accounts with the elimination of intra-balances 
relating to transactions between entities aggregated in the same set of accounts. The concept of control is not used 
to define group boundaries, but is used only to classify entities within different sectors and sub-sectors. 

Considering that fact, the Council wonders whether the alignment idea should  be understood as an objective to set 
up consolidated financial statements of a sector based on the entities belonging to that sector? If this is the case, 
two observations could to be made: 

- The Council does not favour convergence of accounting standards with government finance statistics 
principles (or national accounts principles) as they represent different kinds of techniques which have different 
objectives; 

- The Council considers that the control model is ineffective to portray the financial position of the sectors and 
sub-sectors. 

 

Concerns regarding 
convergence project noted. 

 

 

Paragraph BC28 was intended 
to explain that the two 
approaches were likely to give 
similar results. Pargaraphs 
BC32 and BC36 also 
discussed specific alignment 
issues.  

May need to more explicitly 
highlight areas where the 
proposed standard and GFS 
are aligned. 
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11 C No comment.  

12 B As the DGFiP emphasised in its reply to the consultation paper9, finance statistics and IPSASs have different 
objectives and scope. Consequently, the harmonisation of the accounting policies applicable to the two reporting 
bases does not seem relevant, particularly if this convergence leads to an increase in the options available in 
IPSASs and SPF as this would decrease the comparability of public accounts. On the other hand, as stated in our 
general comments, the definition of the “reporting entity“ by reference to criteria based on area of responsibility, 
whether territorial (national or local) or social as in the classification SPF, appears relevant. 

 

Concerns about convergence 
project noted. 

Propose that reporting entity 
be determined based on areas 
of responsibility. 

13 A We can’t.  

14 C We have no comments to make on the above.  

15 B As indicated in Comment 2, we believe consolidated financial statements should be prepared for the sectors and 
subsectors used by the IMF as indicated in Attachment 1 except we would exclude social security schemes until 
further developed by the IPSASB.  In addition, we believe the Illustrative Examples section of the ED should include 
an example of consolidated statements similar to those included in Attachment 2. Further, we believe that unless 
there are very good reasons for a different definition the GFS definitions should be used. Thus, we would prefer that 
the Standard used the GFS definition of control and for valuation of investments. 

Respondent recommends: 

• Example illustrating how 
consolidated statements 
can be prepared for the 
GFS sector; 

• GFS definition of control.  

16 A We have no specific comments on this topic.  

We support harmonisation between IPSAS and Government Finance Statistics where relevant and welcome the 
recent publication by the IPSASB of the policy paper setting out the process for considering Government Finance 
Statistics reporting guidelines during the development of IPSASs. 

 

17 A We believe that the proposals in ED 49 would be sufficient.  

18 C We do not have any comments.  

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 C We have not responded to this question. We do not encounter these issues in the New Zealand context.   

9 « IPSASs and Government Finance Statistics Reporting Guidelines ». 
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22 C No comment.  

23 A No  

24 A We cannot identify any further opportunities for alignment.   

25  Did not submit on ED 49.  

26 A We have not identified any further opportunities for alignment between the principles in this Standard and GFSM 
2013.  

 

27 C No comment.  

28 A At present the SRS-CSPCP sees no further possibilities for alignment.  

29 C No comment.  

30 A CIPFA has not identified any further opportunities.  

31 C No comment on SMC 6.  

32 C No comment on SMC6.  

33 C We have no comments.  
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04 ED 49 - Use of the term ‘binding arrangement’ 
ED 49 introduces the concept of ‘binding arrangements’ to cover situations in which entities applying IPSASs do not have the 
power to enter contractual arrangements. The definition of paragraph 10 suggests that this is intended to apply to contract-
like arrangements and BC43 states that references to ‘contractual arrangements’ in IFRS should be replaced with ‘binding 
arrangements’.  However, paragraph AG20 of ED49 refers to contractual arrangements and rights in considering whether an 
entity’s appointment rights for key personnel are sufficient to give it control.  

The IPSASB have also added paragraph AG38, which refers to the power to appoint a governing body arising from ‘binding 
arrangements (including existing legislation, regulation, contractual, or other arrangements)’. Example 15 suggests that the 
power to appoint trustees to a museum satisfies this criterion. In this instance, the term ‘binding arrangement’ seems to be 
applied more broadly than contract-like arrangements.   

The definition of binding arrangements is also included in EDs 50, 51 and 52, but without the explanation in the basis of 
conclusions, so it is unclear in what context the term is used in these exposure drafts. For example, paragraph 35 of ED 52 
refers to a contractual relationship, while binding arrangements are referred to in the rest of the ED. The term ‘contractually’ is 
applied in the definition of joint control in ED 50, but joint arrangements in ED 51 is defined in terms of ‘binding arrangements’ 
in paragraph 10. ED 52 paragraph 30 requires that an investment entity disclose restrictions arising from binding 
arrangements, while paragraph 32 requires disclosure of contractual arrangements for the provision of financial support. 

If the terminology used in these cases is deliberate, additional explanation in the basis for conclusions would be useful to 
prevent confusion in the application of the requirements and the distinction between ‘contractual’ and ‘binding’ arrangements. 

Additionally, given the rationale stated (i.e. that this applies where entities are unable to enter formal contractual 
relationships), the IPSASB may wish to consider the consistency of this approach with the references to contractual rights 
and arrangements in other IPSASs, for example, those related to financial instruments. 

 

04 ED 49 - Example 4 
Although HoTARAC agrees with the conclusion of the example, HoTARAC considers that a government that has the power 
to impose regulatory control might, arguably, meet the control criteria as such power would significantly influence the returns 
of the electricity distributor being regulated. This is particularly relevant when the electricity distributor being regulated is a 
Government Business Enterprise and may, depending on each governmental arrangement, provide dividend payments or 
dividends-in-kind to the government. More discussions may be needed to better articulate the argument in concluding why 
the government or the regulator does not control the electricity distributor in the example.  

 

04 ED 49 – paragraph 54 
Additional numbering may need to be added to the second last line of the paragraph so that it reads ‘shall (ii) consolidates the 
other assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses of the controlled investment entity in accordance with paragraph 34-51 
of this standard’. 
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04 ED 49 – paragraph AG 105 
Reference is made to paragraph 50(c) in the context of investment entities, whereas the actual paragraph referred to is about 
accounting treatment when a controlling entity loses control of an entity. 

 

04 ED 49 – Flowchart 2 on page 66 
The box on the right hand side of the flowchart should contain the alternative outcome resulting from the flowchart decision 
(e.g. entity does not control the other entity). 

 

06 ED 49 – Flowchart 2 on page 66 
In Flowchart 2 on page 66, the decision box on the right does not fit as it has the same question as the second box on the 
left. 

 

16 ED 49 Mixed groups 
Public sector entities that prepare their financial statements under IPSAS may control and thus consolidate financial 
statements of other entities that prepare their own financial statements using a different accounting framework (so called 
‘mixed groups’). This is for example the case when a government controls and consolidates a government business 
enterprise which prepares its financial statements under IFRS. 

On consolidation the principle is to apply “uniform accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances”. This requirement means that, during the consolidation process, the amounts reported in the financial 
statements of a member of the economic entity need to be adjusted where that member uses accounting policies that differ 
from the accounting policies applied in the consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.  

This principle is sound but may involve practical implementation issues for entities in the consolidation scope that are 
reporting using another accounting framework (e.g. IFRS) and raises questions on what circumstances should give rise to 
such adjustments.  

In order to prevent differences in interpretation, we believe that the standard would benefit from added guidance on when 
consolidation adjustments to conform the accounting policies of the controlling entity in a mixed group situation would be 
required. For example, we believe that consolidation adjustments are not required when the transactions entered into by the 
entity using an accounting framework other than IPSAS relate to different circumstances. As an example, the controlling 
entity and one of its controlled commercial entities may have assets whose physical nature is similar but that are used for a 
different purpose in different types of activity. In such case, differences in the application of the accounting policies are 
justified by the different environments in which the entities operate.   

 

16 ED 49 Golden share 

AG37 describes what a golden share is, but fails to provide any guidance as to the consequences of its existence. We 
believe that the paragraph should go on to say that the rights attaching to the golden share should be considered as part of 
the overall assessment of power. In some cases golden shares provide the holder only with protective rights, in others the 
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rights are substantive. 

16 ED 49 Use of flowcharts 

Flowchart 2 ‘Assessing Control of Another Entity Financial reporting Purposes’ on page 66 is not clear and does not address 
all circumstances that should be considered in determining whether control exists (e.g. the purpose and design of the other 
entity). In addition, having answered no to the first question, the flowchart leads to a box that asks an inappropriate question. 
It also does not explain the consequences of answering that question. 

We believe that this flowchart can be misleading and should be deleted.  

 

16 ED 49 Use of examples 

52 examples are given in the Illustrative Examples section. We understand that this high volume of examples aims to provide 
good guidance on how the control and other consolidation concepts should be interpreted in a public sector context. While we 
welcome this, we believe that where examples are used, the relationship between the fact pattern and the conclusions should 
be clear in order to limit the risk of misinterpretation. For example: 

- Example 12 illustrates the operation of a golden share. In our view, the fact pattern and the analysis should be further 
developed to explain how the conclusion is reached. 

- Example 26: we believe that additional guidance should be given about circumstances where powers are substantive 
and how this should be considered in the context of entities which the government has established (either by legislation 
or otherwise). In this example, there is no discussion about how substantive the powers of the board in fact are, it just 
leaps to the conclusion that the entity is not controlled by the government. 

- Example 27: there is no indication in the fact pattern that the shared service company is under joint control (which 
requires the unanimous agreement of the participants), yet that is the conclusion reached. We agree that none of the 
participants seem to control.  However, we do not believe that the fact pattern supports a conclusion of joint control, nor 
do we believe it is necessary or desirable to reach such a conclusion in an example illustrating the determination of 
whether control exists.  

- Example 38: we are unsure what the term "delegated control from the Minister" means. Does it mean that the Minister 
has no control, or does it mean that the Health Department has control but because the Minister controls the Health 
Department he also controls the statutory body? Delegated control is not a term used in the standard and therefore we 
believe that further explanation is needed.  

 

16 ED 49 Other reporting entities to which certain provisions of the standard may apply 
Financial statements can be produced that meet the needs of certain users in terms of accountability and decision-making 
purposes but the scope is different from the scope of consolidation which includes the controlling entity and all of its controlled 
entities. For example, whole-of-government accounts can be produced that combine the accounts of all entities of all 
government levels, even if no control relationship exists between some of these combined entities (e.g. when the central 
government has no control on local government entities). 

While preparation of such accounts clearly falls outside the scope of the proposed standard, certain provisions included in it 
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(for example regarding the elimination of intra-reporting entity transactions and the use of uniform accounting policies) may 
apply and the IPSASB might consider developing some guidance in relation to the preparation of such accounts. 

20 ED 49 Guidance applicable to trusts  
Many public sector entities in New Zealand, including the Council, have considerable involvement with trusts.  It can be 
particularly difficult to determine whether control exists in relation to a trust. For that reason, we suggest that the Board 
consider providing more guidance on the application of the control definition to trusts.   

 

21 ED 49 Additional guidance on uniform accounting requirements 
In developing PBE IPSAS 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, which is based on IPSAS 6, the NZASB 
received feedback that constituents wanted guidance on the application of consistent accounting policies in consolidated 
financial statements. Integral application guidance on this topic has been included in PBE IPSAS 6. We suggest that the 
IPSASB include guidance on the application of uniform accounting policies to ensure conformity with the economic entity’s 
accounting policies. 

 

21 Trusts 
Given the prevalence of trusts to carry out activities in some jurisdictions, we consider that there could be more discussion of, 
and references to, trusts. We note that paragraph 59(c) refers to trusts but consider that a discussion of trusts could be 
usefully incorporated elsewhere.  

We have provided an example of a controlled charitable trust that could form the basis of an additional example. 

Trust A promotes, supports and undertakes programmes, actions and initiatives to beautify City A. It receives funding 
from the local government for various services, including graffiti removal, beautification projects and running 
environmental events. It reports back to the local government on its performance in delivering these services. If the 
Trust did not exist the local government would be required to find some other way to deliver these services. The Trust 
also receives assistance through donations and volunteer work by the local community including local businesses, 
schools, community groups and individuals.  

The Trust was originally established by an elected official of the local government.  

The governing body of the local government appoints all the trustees (having regard to requirements for balance in 
gender, location etc). There are between 5 and 12 trustees. The trustees then appoint the officers. 

Changes to the Trust deed must be approved by the trustees and the governing body of the local authority.  

If the Trust is wound up, surplus assets are to be given or transferred to a similar charitable body in the area. The 
recipient body must be approved by the local government.  

The local government has a mix of rights over the Trust including:  

(a) rights to appoint, reassign or remove members of the Trust’s key management personnel who have the ability 
to direct the relevant activities; 

(b) rights to approve or veto operating and capital budgets relating to the relevant activities of the Trust; and  
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(c) rights to veto key changes to the Trust, such as the sale of a major asset or of the Trust as a whole. 

 Special voting rights attaching to ownership interests (Golden shares) 
Paragraph AG37 provides a description of golden shares. However, it does not go on to say that the rights associated with 
golden shares may give rise to power. We consider it would be helpful to add this statement (as shown below).  

AG37.  An entity may have the right of decisive vote, thus to veto all other voting rights of another entity. This type of right is 
sometimes referred to as a “golden share”. Such special voting rights may give rise to power. Usually these rights are 
documented in the founding documents of the other entity (such as articles of association), and are designed to 
restrict the level of voting or other rights that may be held by certain parties. They may also give an entity veto powers 
over any major change in the other entity, such as the sale of a major asset or of the other entity as a whole. 

 

21 Entitlement 
Paragraph AG84 refers to an entity ceasing to be entitled to benefits. We note that there have previously been debates within 
New Zealand regarding the meaning of “entitlement” when applying financial reporting standards and consider that similar 
debates could arise in other jurisdictions. We would therefore suggest that paragraph AG84 refer to an entity ceasing “to be 
able” to receive benefits. 

 

21 Flowchart  

We recommend that the flowchart set out following paragraph IG2 (which attempts to summarise the requirements of the 
standard and the key issues that an entity would need to consider) be omitted. We do not consider that it is possible to 
summarise a complex standard in such a flowchart and there is a risk that the diagram might be used in isolation from the 
detailed discussion in the standard.  

 

21 Examples 

We note that ED 49 has been modified to contain a number of public sector examples and support this approach. However, 
we consider that some examples do not contain sufficient information to support the conclusions given. We recommend that 
all examples be reviewed to see if they contain sufficient discussion of substantive and protective powers.  Some examples 
could be omitted. Comments on specific examples follow.  

 

 Example 8 This example focuses on certain powers only. It does not provide information about the rights of various 
parties in accordance with the constitution of the entity being assessed for control. Nor does it discuss the 
ability of the potential controlling entity to make substantive decisions. In particular, we recommend that the 
conclusion in Example 8B be amended or supported by additional information. 

 

 Other specific 
examples 

Omit or expand Examples 12, 13, 26, 27, 31, 38. 

Both examples 27 and 31 have a concluding statement that the entities are under joint control. This is 
inappropriate, because (a) there is no analysis of whether joint control exists; (b) this is not the appropriate 
standard to address joint control; and (c) the fact pattern does not contain sufficient information to assess 
joint control. We recommend that if these examples are retained, the references to joint control be omitted. 
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Example 36(a) refers to trustees controlling a trust. Given the nature of the relationship between a trustee 
and a trust it would be more appropriate to state that the trustees have power over the trust (rather than 
control). 

26 ED 49 – Scope  
Whole-of-government consolidations 

Paragraph .03 of this Exposure Draft explains when consolidated financial statements shall be presented. Even though 
whole-of-government is defined differently in various jurisdictions, we are of the view that preparers would find an explanation 
around the application of the principles to the preparation of whole-of-government financial statements useful. As such, we 
propose that the scope of this Exposure Draft should be expanded to clarify the application to whole-of-government 
consolidations, similar to the existing guidance that is included in IPSAS 6.17 and .18.  

Consolidation exemptions 

We propose that the wording in paragraph 5(c) should be amended to clarify that the exemption from preparing consolidated 
financial statements can only be applied, if an investment entity measures its investments in a controlled entity at fair value 
through surplus and deficit as determined in paragraph .52. At present, it may be interpreted to be an option. 

We propose the following change: 

“An investment entity reporting in accordance with IPSASs need not present consolidated financial statements if it 
measures all of its investments in a controlled entity at fair value through surplus and deficit as required by paragraph .52 
of this Standard. if it is required, in accordance with paragraph 52 of this Standard, to measure all of its controlled entities 
at fair value through surplus of deficit.”   

 

26 ED 49 – Explanatory guidance in meeting the definition of control  
The exposure or right to benefits from the entity’s involvement with the other entity is one of the criteria needed in meeting the 
definition of control. This Exposure Draft explains the other two criteria that need to be met in order for control to exist in 
paragraphs .19 to .30, but no explanation is given about the entity’s exposure, or its rights to benefits, including its 
assessment of substantive and protective rights. The Application guidance includes detail guidance around the various rights 
that an entity can have. In understanding the second criteria in the control definition, we propose that the IPSASB should 
include a general paragraph in the Exposure Draft itself, to explain these aspects. We also recommend that ‘political rights’ 
need to explained, along with an indication as to whether or not it should be considered in meeting the definition of control. 
The principles should be in the standard itself. The application guidance cannot extend the principles; it should illustrate the 
application. 

Furthermore, IPSAS 6.36 includes explanatory guidance about an entity’s ability to govern decision-making in relation to the 
financial and operating policies of another entity, and how it impacts on meeting the definition of control. We are of the view 
that this explanation is useful in understanding whether control is met in those circumstances where a controlling entity 
cannot demonstrate that it governs decision-making over the controlled entity’s financial and operating policies. We, 
therefore, propose that a similar explanation should be included in the Exposure Draft.  
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26 ED 49 – Guidance when the definition of control is not met  
Paragraphs .14 to .16 of this Exposure Drafts explain the control criteria, and require that all three elements need to be met 
for an entity to prepare consolidated financial statements. We propose that this Exposure Draft should include a reference to 
the appropriate accounting guidance that should be considered when an entity concludes that it does not have control over 
another entity.  

 

26 ED 49 Non-financial benefits 
Paragraphs .26, .27 and .29 of this Exposure Draft include examples of non-financial benefits. Some of our stakeholders 
questioned the relationship between the concept of service potential and non-financial benefits. We therefore propose that an 
explanation should be included in this Exposure Draft explaining service potential, and how it relates to non-financial benefits. 

 

26 ED 49 Different reporting periods 
Paragraph B93 of IAS 10 requires that the difference between the end of the reporting period of the controlled entity and the 
controlling entity should not be more than three months. 

The IPSASB has not included a similar requirement in this Exposure Draft, but rather requires that adjustments should be 
made for the effects of significant transactions or events between the date of the financial statements of the controlled and 
controlling entity. However, the IPSASB’s rationale for including a different requirement in this Exposure Draft is not explained 
in the Basis for Conclusions. We therefore recommend that the Basis for Conclusions be amended to explain the IPSASB’s 
decision.   

 

26 ED 49 Implementation Guidance 
We question the public sector relevance of example 7 of an investment vehicle, example 51 of a real estate entity and 
example 52 of a master fund. We propose that more relevant public sector specific examples should be included to assist 
preparers in understanding and in identifying an investment entity. 
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ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1:  

Do you generally agree with the proposals in the Exposure Draft? If not, please provide reasons? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 05, 07, 09, 12, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 25, 26, 29, 30, 33 15 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  01, 03, 10, 23, 28 5 

C – DISAGREE 06 1 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  21 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 11 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 50  23 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 B The AASB disagrees with the proposal to measure a retained interest in a former associate or joint venture that 
becomes a financial asset at the carrying amount as cost. The AASB considers that the proposals in ED 50 should 
be aligned with those in IAS 28 Investments in Associates (as amended 2011) and, therefore, be measured at fair 
value.   

 

Disagrees with treatment of 
retained interest. 

02 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

03 B Yes, we are in general agreement with the proposals. However, we are concerned with the proposal to include 
additional words in the paragraph on discontinuing the use of the equity method to those included in IAS 28. ED 50 
paragraph 26(b) says that when the retained interest in a former associate or joint venture is a financial asset, fair 
value will be used unless there are no published price quotations, whereby, the carrying amount of the investment 
at the date of discontinuing the equity method is used. 

We acknowledge that the IPSASB literature does not include a standard equivalent to IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. However, it is our understanding that there are occasions when under IFRS 13 the best measure of 
fair value is cost. Therefore, we consider the words added to paragraph 26(b) simply describe fair value in a 
particular situation where a cost measure is to be used as the input to the valuation technique used to measure fair 
value. We do not see this as a unique public sector issue and accordingly we do not believe the final standard 

 

Disagrees with treatment of 
retained interest. 
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should depart from IAS 28. Instead, if the IPSASB believed this material was important we would support its 
inclusion as guidance, to address the issue, until the IPSASB releases a fair value measurement standard 
equivalent to IFRS 13. 

04 D No comment.  

05 A Yes, I agree with the proposals in the Exposure Draft. I suggest for the board if agrees, that observe the process 
about internal control for public sector in relation Investments in Associates. 

 

06 C See general comment. Do not consider the concept of equity accounting is appropriate for the public sector. Disagrees with use of equity 
accounting generally. 

07 A Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

09 A (7) In general, we agree with the proposals contained in this Exposure Draft.  

10 B The Council considers that the proposals in the Exposure Draft should be completed so that the concept of 
“quantifiable ownership interest” is clarified and the discussion about the appropriate consolidation methods takes 
place (see answer to the Specific Matter for Comment 3). 

Concerns regarding scope 
modification. 

11 D No comment.  

12 A We are in broad agreement with the proposals in the exposure draft and in particular with the restriction of 
significant influence to situations where the holding percentage corresponds to a quantifiable ownership interest, 
even if this notion requires clarification (as indicates in the answer n°2 below). 

Scope modification requires 
clarification. 

13 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

14 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

15 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

16 A We are in overall agreement with the proposals in the ED.  

17 A We generally agree with the proposals in the Exposure Draft.  

ED 50 is based on International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. We think 
the accounting treatment of investments in joint ventures and associates for the public sector should be the same as 
that for the private sector. We suggest that the IPSASs should be revised in line with the revision of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  

 

18 A Yes. We are in agreement with the proposals.  

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for  
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Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A We are generally supportive of the proposals in the Exposure Draft.  

22 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

23 B Agree, with one exception. 

The standard aligns with the IFRS definition of an associate being an entity over which the investor has significant 
influence. However paragraph 10 restricts the application of this standard to only those associates in which an entity 
holds an ownership interest in the form of a shareholding or other formal equity structure. Such a restriction does 
not exist in IFRS, and the Treasury disagrees with its introduction of such a restriction for the public sector. It could 
exclude reporting entities appropriately accounting significantly influenced associates where there is no formal 
equity structure. 

Examples include entities where the equity structure is not formalised but the voting structure is. 

The IPSASB appears to have, at least partially followed this reasoning, in BC4 and BC5. The final sentence of 
paragraph 10 should therefore be deleted. 

 

Concerns regarding scope 
modification. 

24 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

25 A Yes, we generally agree with the proposals in the Exposure draft on: 

• Significant influence 

• Equity method 

• Exemptions from applying the equity method 

• Discontinuing equity method; and so on 

 

26 A We agree with the proposals in the Exposure Draft in general. We have, however, included comment on certain 
principles in this Exposure Draft in Part II of our response.  

 

27 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

28 B The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the content, but not with the structure of this ED. It is not clear why in this Standard 
reference is made to Associates and Joint Ventures and in ED 51 to Joint Arrangements. The split into a Standard 
“Associates” and a Standard “Joint Arrangements” would be desirable. As far as the SRS-CSPCP is concerned, the 
Standards do not necessarily have to follow the presentation of the IFRS.  It is important above all that the Standard 
is comprehensible for the reader. The fact that the split of the IPSAS corresponds with that of the IFRS should not 
be a priority, because the group addressed by the IPSAS is frequently different from the one addressed by the 
IFRS. 

Furthermore, the SRS-CSPCP asks itself why in Paragraph 26 (a) there is talk of a national Standard, when an 
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international Standard exists. 

29 A Yes we generally agree with the proposals in ED 50.  

30 A CIPFA generally agrees with the proposals in ED 50.  

31 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

32 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

33 A Yes, we do agree with the proposals.  
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Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 2:  

Do you agree with the proposal that the scope of the Exposure Draft be restricted to situations where there is a quantifiable ownership interest? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 03, 05, 07, 09, 10, 17, 18, 19, 20, 25, 26, 28, 29, 30, 33 15 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  12, 16, 21 3 

C – DISAGREE 01, 04, 23 3 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  21 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 06, 11 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 50  23 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 2  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 C The AASB is concerned with the departure from the scope of IAS 28 to include the requirement that, for an 
investment to be recognised, the holding must be of a quantifiable ownership interest.  Whilst we understand the 
arguments for restricting the scope of the proposals in ED 50 to situations where there is a quantifiable ownership 
interest, we advise caution because other quantifiable economic interests can exist in addition to quantifiable 
ownership interests. For example, we understand that it is common in the mining industry for an interest in a joint 
venture to be determined by an entity’s rights to output from production. Although the entity will often have 
shareholders, their purpose is for funding rather than voting. In this scenario an entity’s interest in the joint venture is 
not determined by ownership but by rights to output. 

We also note that a similar situation may arise in the public sector whereby an entity may have rights to a 
percentage of output but does not have ownership of the investment. 

We consider that the key requirement in IAS 28 (and therefore the proposals in ED 50) is significant influence.  
Consequently, we think that the proposal to require a quantifiable ownership interest may result in entities that have 
significant influence other than through ownership interests not appropriately accounting for their interests in joint 
ventures or associates. 

 

02 - Did not submit on ED 50.  
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03 A Yes, we agree with the proposal. 

The IAS 28 equity method presents information about the investor’s share of the investee’s net assets and the 
share of its profit or loss. The quantum of the ownership interest in the investee and the degree of influence over the 
investee are the critical factors in applying the equity method. The IPSASB considers there may be occasions in the 
public sector when there is no quantifiable ownership interest. We support this rationale as we do not believe that 
this situation will exist in the private sector when an entity is within the scope of IAS 28. 

 

04 C HoTARAC notes that the existing IPSAS 7 Investments in Associates applies when an investor holds an ownership 
interest in the form of a shareholding or other formal equity structure and the ED intends to provide further 
clarification about the type of ownership interests that would qualify for equity accounting. Neither IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures nor IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements contain similar ownership 
requirements. HoTARAC understands that, in practical terms, it is unlikely that equity accounting would be applied 
by private sector investors that do not have quantifiable formal ownership interests in associates or joint ventures, 
this may not necessarily be the case in the public sector. 

The subtle difference between IFRSs and revised IPSAS 7 would cause a divergence in practice when applying 
equity accounting between private and public sector entities. Public sector investors that have investments in 
associates and/or joint ventures through interests other than formal ownership would be prohibited from using equity 
accounting. This prohibition does not apply to investors in the private sector.  

The IPSASB should clearly explain in the Basis for Conclusions the rationale for scoping out investments that do not 
involve quantifiable formal ownership interests, and justify whether such a departure is warranted by a situation that 
is unique to the public sector.  

To achieve consistency and minimal departure from IFRSs, HoTARAC suggests that the IPSASB review the 
existing ‘ownership interest’ requirement in IPSAS 7 and recommends the IPSASB only modify IFRSs when there 
are unique public sector specific issues that would warrant such modification. 

 

05 A Yes, I agree with the proposal that the scope of the Exposure Draft be restricted to situations where there is a 
quantifiable ownership interest. I suggest internal control for public sector in relation Investments in Associates. 

 

06 D Did not comment on ED 50 SMC 2.   

07 A Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

09 A (8) Due to the variety of ways that public sector bodies may become involved in other entities that may not entail a 
long term investment or the exercise of control over those entities, we agree with the proposal that the scope of this 
Exposure Draft be restricted to situations where there is a quantifiable ownership interest. 

(9) We note that there is no formal definition of “quantifiable ownership interest” contained in the Exposure Draft. 
We believe that a formal definition of this term would enhance understanding of the standard and increase 
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comparability between jurisdictions. For this same reason, we also believe that the inclusion of some explanatory 
paragraphs giving examples of situations where a quantifiable ownership exists and where it does not exist would 
assist in the consistent interpretation of this standard 

10 A The Council agrees with the proposal that the scope of the Exposure Draft should be restricted because the scope 
of entities subject to a significant influence of a central government can be extremely large and the inclusion of all 
these entities in the consolidated financial statements is not necessarily relevant. However, the Council considers 
that the concept of “quantifiable ownership percentage" used to restrict the scope of the draft standard should be 
clarified and in the meantime the terms "other equity structures" should be better explained. 

Paragraph 5 of the ED 50 includes an example of a public entity that makes a substantial investment in the 
development of a hospital that is owned and operated by a charity. The ED concludes that this investment does not 
give rise to an ownership interest as the charity could seek alternative funding. The Council considers that this 
analysis should go further, and be based on the nature of the funding entity’s rights. The question would be 
therefore: has the funding entity rights to the net assets of the hospital or power over its governing body, or is the 
funding more akin to a non refundable grant?  

Similarly, paragraph 5 BC is not explicit about the accounting treatment which applies to Joint Ventures with no 
formal equity structure. The Council interpretation is that the equity method should be applied to these entities, 
which seems inconsistent with paragraph 10 of the ED that restricts the scope to associates whose capital is divided 
in units or shares and to associates with other formal equity structure. 

 

11 D No comment, noticing that the notion of "ownership interests" rs not here defined or recalled if defined in another 
IPSAS. 

 

12 B DGFiP agrees with the IPSASB’s proposal to limit significant influence to situations where the holding percentage 
corresponds to a quantifiable ownership interest.  

Nevertheless, this notion requires clarification especially in respect of what is meant by quantifiable, as the latter 
cannot only be determined by reference to voting rights. 

Indeed, investments in public entities do not always take the form of securities representing an ownership interest in 
the entity’s capital. 

Thus, the French government sets up public bodies in order to implement public policy under its direct responsibility. 
It acts in a supervisory and resource-providing capacity. When they are founded, the capital of these entities is 
made up of State contributions in the form of assets or cash. These contributions do not give rise to the issue of 
securities. Nevertheless, these institutions are effectively State-controlled investments, measured on an equity 
basis. According to the circumstances, the equity valuation represents a share of consolidated or unconsolidated 
equity (if the entity is not required to prepare consolidated financial statements) of the entity directly held by the 
State. 

 

13 - Did not submit on ED 50.  
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14 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

15 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

16 B We agree with the accounting treatment proposed in the standard and which applies to entities in which a 
quantifiable ownership interest is held.  

We however believe that the IPSASB should provide guidance on how to treat entities on which the public sector 
entity exercises significant influence, without however holding a quantifiable ownership interest in it. As it stands, 
one interpretation of the current standards is that these investments are captured by IPSAS 29 Financial Instrument: 
Recognition and Measurement as IPSAS 29 does not apply to interests in associates and joint ventures that are 
accounted for under IPSAS 7 or 8. If this is the intention, we recommend that there be a direct cross reference to 
IPSAS 29. In any case, we recommend that guidance is provided on the appropriate treatment. 

 

17 A We agree with the proposal in the Exposure Draft. The application of the equity method would be impracticable if 
there is no quantitative ownership interest. 

 

18 A 

 

We are in agreement with the proposal to restrict the scope of this standard to situations where there is a 
quantifiable ownership interest. This is because of the many situations that can arise where the government funds 
different activities for the public good in a number of entities that have other options of sourcing funds. The 
ownership interest may not be quantifiable in such situations. 

 

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 B We agree with this proposal. We acknowledge that there may be situations where there is no quantifiable ownership 
interest but agree with the IPSASB that the equity method cannot be applied in such circumstances.  

If there is an ownership interest, but this is not quantifiable, we consider that disclosure of this fact would be 
appropriate. We have commented on this in our response to ED 52. 

 

22 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

23 C Disagree, see above.  

24 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

25 A Yes, we agree with the proposal that the scope of the Exposure Draft be restricted to situations where there is 
quantifiable ownership interests. Our reasons are as follows: 

As indicated in paragraph 16, the equity method requires that the carrying amount of investment in an associate or 
joint venture be periodically increased or decreased to recognize the investor's share of the post-acquisition surplus 
or deficit of the associate or joint venture. We believe that the measurement of the investor's share of such surplus 
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or deficit would be too subjective if its ownership interest is not quantifiable. 

We believe this would be the most suitable determinant of application of the principle covered by the Exposure Draft 
and thus help eliminate element of subjectivity. 

26 A We agree that the scope of the Exposure Draft should be restricted to quantifiable ownership interest.  

The second sentence in paragraph .04 of this Exposure Draft determines that the Standard applies to quantifiable 
ownership interest, which includes interests that arises from a formal equity structure. The rest of this paragraph 
and paragraph .05 then includes explanatory guidance on what a formal equity structure constitutes. However, in 
reading BC 5, quantifiable ownership interest, in our view, also includes other forms like partnership arrangements 
which do not have formal equity structures.  

We are of the view that the inclusion of the scope restriction has narrowed the scope for joint ventures, whom in 
many instances, may not have a formal equity structure. As the explanations in paragraphs .03 to .05 are limited to 
a discussion of a formal equity structure, entities that have other structures such as partnership arrangements, may 
conclude that they fall outside the scope of this Exposure Draft, if the explanation in the Exposure Draft is limited to 
a discussion of a formal equity structure. 

We are of the view that more explanatory guidance should be included to explain that entities with structures such 
as partnership arrangements may also apply the principles in this Exposure Draft, even though there are no formal 
equity structure.  

An example could also be included to explain the concept of quantifiable ownership interest.  

We propose that the explanation of quantifiable ownership interest could be expanded to refer to binding 
arrangements.  

We also propose that when an entity falls outside the scope of this Exposure Draft because it does not have a 
quantifiable ownership interest, the Exposure Draft should refer preparers to the relevant IPSASs that should be 
applied.  

 

27 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this statement.  

29 A We agree with the proposal that the scope of the Exposure Draft be restricted to situations where there is a 
quantifiable ownership interest. Investments can take many forms, including arrangements without formal equity 
structures. 

 

30 A CIPFA agrees. IPSAS 7 uses ‘shareholding or other formal equity structure’ but this is too narrow for the wider 
variety of structures which are intended to be covered by the proposed IPSAS. 

 

31 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

32 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

Agenda Item 5.2 
Page 102 of 130 



 Collation and Summary of Respondents’ Comments 
 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 2  
STAFF COMMENTS 

33 A Yes we do agree, but the conferred rights should also define how much risks could be borne by each party based 
on the percentage of the shareholding. In some sectors Joint arrangements burden one entity especially in the initial 
stage even though the shareholding is on a 50:50 basis.   
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ED 50 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 3:  

Do you agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures? If not, please provide reasons 
and indicate your preferred treatment? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 03, 05, 07, 09, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 23, 25, 26, 28, 30, 33 18 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  20, 29 2 

C – DISAGREE 06, 10 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  22 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04 1 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 50  23 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 3  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB agrees with the proposal to use the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures.  

02 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

03 A Yes, we agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investment in joint ventures.  

04 D No comment.  

05 A Yes, I agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures. I 
suggest internal control for public sector in relation Investments in Joint Ventures. 

 

06 C See general comment. Do not consider the concept of equity accounting is appropriate for the public sector.  

07 A Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

09 A  (10) We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures  
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 3  
STAFF COMMENTS 

and to remove the option for proportional consolidation in order to bring this standard into line with ED 51, Joint 
Arrangement and thereby in agreement with IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. 

(11) We do, however, have concerns that the investing entity is given an option to measure investments in an 
associate or a joint venture held in a venture capital organisation, mutual fund, unit trust or similar entities at fair 
value through surplus and deficit. 

(12) In our opinion, when an investment in an associate or a joint venture is held, directly or indirectly, by an entity 
that is a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked 
insurance funds, the standard should prohibit such investments applying the equity method of accounting. For the 
sake of comparability, we believe that such investments should be compulsorily accounted for at fair value through 
surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29. 

Note concerns about 
accounting option in respect of 
investment held, directly or 
indirectly, by an entity that is a 
venture capital organisation 
etc. 

10 C The Council agrees with the Exposure Draft proposal regarding the definition of equity method and equity method 
procedures (emphasis added). 

However, the Council regrets that the publication of the Exposure Drafts have not been accompanied by extensive 
discussions about consolidation methods and their relevance regarding the specific features and activities of the 
entities that should be reported in the consolidated financial statements.  

Note general concern that 
there should have been more 
debate regarding the 
application of various methods 
in various circumstances. 

11 A The Cour is in favor of this proposal.  

12 A Yes.  

13 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

14 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

15 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

16 A We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method for investments in joint ventures.  

17 A We agree with the proposal in the Exposure Draft.  

We believe, however, in addition to the reason that IPSASs should be consistent with the IFRSs, a more detailed 
rationale should be provided in the Basis for Conclusions (e.g., BC3). For example, we find an explanation as to 
why the proportionate consolidation was eliminated in paragraphs BC41-BC45 of IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. An 
appropriate explanation should be also included in the IPSASs to ensure that the rationale can be understood 
without any reference to the IFRSs, even in cases where the IFRSs are revised.  

 

No change proposed.  The 
Basis for Conclusions to 
ED 51 noted that the IPSASB 
considered that the accounting 
treatments permitted by ED 51 
should be consistent with 
IFRS 11. 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 3  
STAFF COMMENTS 

18 A We agree with the use of equity method to account for investments in joint ventures.  

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 B See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.   

We also consider that the same exception should apply to investments that would ordinarily be accounted for as 
associates or joint ventures (although we consider that the same requirement for fair value to be reliably 
determinable that we suggested in relation to controlled entities should apply).   

We note that ED 50 permits investments held by, or indirectly through, an entity that is a venture capital 
organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity, including an investment-linked insurance fund, to be 
measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 29. We consider that the requirements of 
ED 49 and ED 50 should be aligned in relation to this matter. Thus, we consider that ED 50 should refer to 
investment entities and require recognition of investments made by investment entities at fair value through surplus 
or deficit, rather than permitting it as an option.  We note that, if this is not done, the manner in which an investment 
is accounted for could change as a result of a very minor change in the percentage of ownership, which we consider 
would undermine the usefulness of the financial statements. As the definition of an investment entity includes the 
requirement to manage investments on a fair value basis, if the Board concludes that ED 50 should not be amended 
in the manner that we have suggested, we consider that an entity should not be classified as an investment entity in 
ED 49 if it does not take the option in ED 50 to carry investments that would otherwise be classified as associates or 
joint ventures at fair value through surplus or deficit.   

 

Note comments about 
investment entities. 

21 A We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures. 

We note that IASB constituents have requested that the IFRIC consider whether additional guidance is required to 
clarify the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures that are investment entities.  We request 
that the IPSASB have regard to the recent issues raised by IASB constituents when it finalises the standards based 
on these EDs. 

 

Note possible need for more 
guidance on investment 
entities. 

Note general request to 
consider recent issues raised 
by IASB constituents. 

22 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

23 A Agree  

24 - Did not submit on ED 50.  
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 SMC 3  
STAFF COMMENTS 

25 A The principal consideration for the equity method is that the investor has significant influence over the investee. By 
virtue of the fact that an investor in a joint venture jointly exercises control with other venturers, it is clear that the 
investor has significant influence. Its interest in the investee therefore extends beyond the dividends received from 
the investee. Only the equity method can account for the true worth of the investment and its impact on its own net 
assets/equity. 

 

26 A We agree with the proposal to only require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures. 
We support the view that the equity method better reflects the rights and obligations of an entity as a result of its 
interest in the arrangement, regardless of its structure or legal form.  

 

27 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this proposal. Valuation at cost or market value is too time consuming and in some 
cases not applicable. Valuation at cost or market value can be realised more simply, but it is not in accord with “true 
and fair”-reporting. 

 

29 B We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures, 
except where that investment is held by an investment entity. We suggest that the language in paragraph 24 and 25 
is conformed with the investment entity language in ED 49 paragraph 52. 

 

30 A CIPFA agrees with this proposal.  

31 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

32 - Did not submit on ED 50.  

33 B The proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures is fine. But as 
earlier alluded to, rights should also define how much risks could be borne by each party based on the percentage 
of the shareholding. In some sectors Joint arrangements burden one entity especially in the initial stage even 
though the shareholding is on a 50: 50 basis. 
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 50 EDITORIAL AND OTHER COMMENTS 
STAFF COMMENTS 

04 ED 50 – paragraph 30 
The cross-references mentioned at the end of the paragraph may be more appropriate to refer to paragraphs 37 and 38 
(instead of paragraphs 36 and 37).   

 

04 ED 50 – paragraph 33 
The reference to paragraph 30 may more appropriately changed to paragraph 31. 

 

16 ED 50 – paragraph 26(b) 
Paragraph26 (b) of ED 50 proposes to measure the investments retained in a former associate or joint venture at fair value 
only if published price quotations are available. The proposal continues that if no published price quotations are available, the 
investment is measured at its carrying amount at the date when it ceases to be an associate or a joint venture.  

We note that the proposed requirement is inconsistent with IAS 28 to measure the remaining investments at fair value and 
IPSAS 29 that requires a financial instrument to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. We recommend that the 
requirements are aligned with IAS 28 and IPSAS 29 unless no published price quotations are available and fair value cannot 
otherwise be measured reliably. We also recommend that the reasons to depart from fair value be added to the Basis of 
Conclusions so the users understand them 

 

25 ED 50 – paragraph 35 on page 11  
We are of the opinion that the Exposure Draft should specify the quantitative threshold that qualifies an investment as 
associate.  

 

25 ED 50 – paragraph 36 on page 11 
We are of the opinion that a definition of what constitutes “significant transactions be stated. 

 

26 ED 50 – Definitions 
We agree with the definitions that have been included in the Exposure Draft, but as with our general comment to Exposure 
Draft 48, we are of the view that the definition for “investor” and “investee” should be included in this Exposure Draft as it 
would be useful to the preparers of the financial statements.   

 

26 ED 50 – Different reporting periods 
IAS 28.34 requires that the difference between the end of the reporting period of the associate or joint venture, and that of the 
entity should not be more than three months. 

The IPSASB has not included a similar requirement in this Exposure Draft, but rather requires that adjustments should be 
made for the effects of significant transactions or events between the date of the financial statements of the associate or joint 
venture, and that of the entity. The IPSASB’s rationale for including a different requirement in this Exposure Draft is not 
explained in the Basis for Conclusions. We therefore propose that the Basis for Conclusions should be amended to explain 
the decision. 
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26 ED 50 – Impairment losses 
Paragraph .45 includes detail guidance on how an entity should apply the principles in IPSAS 26 to determine whether its net 
investment in an associate or joint venture, is impaired, whereas paragraph .46, merely explains the principles and 
terminology in IPSAS 21. 

We question whether the guidance in paragraphs .45 and .46 are needed, as we believe that the reference to IPSAS 21 and 
IPSAS 26 is paragraph .44 is sufficient. We therefore propose that paragraphs .45 to .46 should be deleted. 

 

26 ED 50 – Cross reference to transitional provisions following the elimination of proportionate consolidation  
Paragraph .32 of Exposure Draft 51 sets out the transitional provisions to be applied in the transition from proportionate 
consolidation to the equity method. We propose that the IPSASB should consider including a cross reference in this 
Exposure Draft to the transitional guidance in Exposure Draft 51.   

 

26 ED 50 – Effective date paragraph 
As with the other Exposure Drafts that deal with interests in other entities, we propose that the first effective date paragraph 
should be in bold text 

 

30 ED 50 – Paragraph 22 
Having regard to the use of black letter type in ED 50, we suggest that the material in paragraph 22 sets out a key 
requirement and this should also be signalled in black letter type. 
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ED 51 Joint Arrangements 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1:  

Do you agree that joint arrangements should be classified as joint ventures or joint operations based on whether an entity has (i) rights to assets 
and obligations for liabilities, or (ii) rights to net assets? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 03, 05, 07, 09, 11, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 33 19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE    

C – DISAGREE 10, 12 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  21 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04 1 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 51  22 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB agrees that joint arrangements should be classified as joint ventures where the entity has the rights to 
the net assets and as a joint operation where the entity has rights to assets and obligations for liabilities. 

 

02 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

03 A Yes, we agree with the proposal.  

04 D No comment.  

05 A Yes, I agree that joint arrangements should be classified as joint ventures or joint operations based on whether an 
entity has rights to assets and obligations for liabilities or rights to net assets. I suggest for the board, if agrees, that 
verify the procedures for internal control for public sector for this operation. I suggest for the board that observes 
discussion about IVSC10 about intangible assets, if agrees. 

 

10 http://www.ivsc.org/content/ivsc-publish-revised-guidance-valuation-intangible-assets 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

06 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

07 A Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

09 A (5) We agree that joint arrangements should be classified as joint ventures where the parties that have joint control 
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. We also agree that joint arrangements should be classified as joint 
operations where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, of the 
arrangement. We believe that these two classifications adequately represent the types of arrangements undertaken 
by bodies in the public sector. 

 

10 C The Council does not agree on this classification, because the definition of Joint Arrangement provided by the 
Exposure Draft does not match the common patterns in the French public sector. 

In order to answer to this specific matter, the Council has identified various forms of partnerships between a public 
sector entity and other entities in the public and / or in the private sector, in France, with the view to analyze their 
characteristics and to conclude whether they meet the proposed definition of a Joint Arrangement. 

Finally it appeared that the design of these partnerships generally does not require an unanimous consent of the 
partners on the decision to be made.  

Thus, the proposed definition of a Joint Arrangement does not correspond to the means and procedures in place in 
France to conduct a joint activity or to achieve a pooling of resources. 

Besides, the Council notes that the main change introduced by the IPSAS Board to IFRS 11 is the adoption of the 
concept of "binding arrangement" instead of "contractual arrangement". 

The definition of "binding arrangement" appears to be broader than contractual agreements and seems to include 
the control based on legal rights other than those related to contracts. Yet, the Council has not identified specific 
requirements or guidance in the Exposure Draft which may allow: 

- To understand why the IPSAS Board has used a new terminology; 

- To understand the consequences of this new terminology regarding the other requirements of the draft 
standard. 

 

Note that unanimous consent 
is not generally required in 
joint arrangements in France. 

11 A The Cour is in favor of this classification, which allows to keep the notion of "joint operations", useful in the public  
sector where a lots of partnerships exist, along with a sharing of expenses, revenues and powers.  The Cour has 
some interrogations on the description of "joint control", which refers to the rule of unanimous consent, when 
practice shows that partnerships are more often organized on the basis of consensus. 

 

12 C The definition of joint arrangements, set out in ED 51, is not applicable to the situations encountered in the public 
sector in France.  

Thus, for example, the definition of joint control, as set out in ED 51, requires the unanimous consent of the parties 

 

Note that unanimous consent 
is not generally required in 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

sharing control. In most case of joint arrangements in France, decisions require approval by a majority of the voting 
rights and not the unanimous consent of the parties. 

In these circumstances, we find it difficult to express an opinion on the relevance of the IPSASB’s proposals. 

joint arrangements in France. 

13 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

14 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

15 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

16 A We agree with the proposed classification, which is based on whether the public sector entity has rights to assets 
and obligations to liabilities, or rights to net assets of the joint arrangement. 

 

17 A We agree with the proposal in the Exposure Draft.  

With regard to Japanese municipal practice, Japan has organizations called Administrative Associations and Cross-
regional Federations that conduct administrative work for multiple municipalities collectively. If the equity method 
were applied, the amounts of assets and liabilities in each municipality’s financial statements when administrative 
work was conducted by Administrative Associations, etc. would differ significantly from those amounts when the 
work was conducted by a single municipality. We therefore believe that these associations should be treated as joint 
operations in accordance with the requirements of ED 51 so that each municipality recognizes its assets and 
liabilities. We think this approach would indicate municipalities’ economic substance.  

 

Note example of possible joint 
operation. 

18 A Yes, we agree with this view which retains consistency with the definitions as per IFRS as issued by the IASB.  

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A We agree with the proposed classification. Classification of a joint arrangement based on the rights and obligations 
of the investor is more appropriate than classification based on whether the arrangement is structured through an 
entity. 

 

22 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

23 A Agree  

24 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

25 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

26 A We agree with the proposed classification of a joint arrangement based on an entity’s rights to assets and/or 
obligations for liabilities, or its rights to net assets.   
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

27 A Yes we agree.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this statement.  

29 A We agree with the proposal.  

30 A CIPFA generally agrees with this proposal.  

31 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

32 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

33 A Yes, we do agree with the proposed classification of joint arrangement as either joint ventures or joint operations 
and classification should be based on whether an entity has (i) rights to assets and obligations for liabilities, or (ii) 
rights to net assets. 

The proposed definition will bring harmonization with IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. 
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ED 51 Joint Arrangements 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 2: 

Do you agree that joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity method? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 03, 05, 07, 09, 11, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 33 19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE    

C – DISAGREE   

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  19 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 10, 12 3 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 51  22 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 2  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB agrees that joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. 

 

02  Did not submit on ED 51.  

03 A Yes, we agree that joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. 

 

04 D No comment.   

05 A Yes, I agree that joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method. I suggest for the board observes the results of IASB and EFRAG about Equity Method that can be improve 
this discussion. 

 

06 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

07 A Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 51.  
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 2  
STAFF COMMENTS 

09 A  (6) Due to the lack of overall control inherent in joint ventures and the fact that they are usually created for short-
term or one-off projects, we agree with the use of equity accounting rather than proportional consolidation to 
account for such vehicles. Additionally, we support the removal of options in the accounting treatment that may be 
applied as we believe that this will improve comparability between financial statements. 

 

10 D The Council does not wish to comment this issue, even if entities that may meet the definition of joint venture are 
not prevalent in France (see answer to question 1). 

The Council feels that the question raised by the IPSAS Board seeks implicitly the agreement of the observers on 
the elimination of the proportionate consolidation. 

The Council believes that the equity method may be relevant in certain circumstances and has no specific 
comments on the procedures provided by the Exposure Draft ED 50. However, the Council regrets that the 
publication of the Exposure Drafts have not been accompanied by extensive discussions about consolidation 
methods and their relevance regarding the specific features and activities of the entities to be included in the 
consolidated financial statements of a reporting entity.  

 

11 A The Cour agrees with the proposal.  

12 D As stated in the reply to the previous question, the definition of joint arrangements, set out in ED 51, is not 
applicable to the situations encountered in the public sector in France.  

We are therefore unable to express an opinion on the relevance of the IPSASB’s proposals. 

 

13 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

14 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

15 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

16 A We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method for investments in joint ventures.  

17 A We agree with the proposal in the Exposure Draft.  

We believe, however, in addition to the reason that IPSASs should be consistent with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), a more detailed rationale should be provided in the Basis for Conclusions (e.g., BC3). 
For example, we find an explanation as to why the proportionate consolidation was eliminated in paragraphs BC41-
BC45 of IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. An appropriate explanation should be included in the IPSASs to ensure that 
the rationale can be understood without any reference to the IFRSs, even in cases where the IFRSs are revised.  

Note proposal to include 
explanation in BC. 

18 A Yes, as above, we agree with retaining consistency in approach with IFRS as issued by the IASB.  

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 SMC 2  
STAFF COMMENTS 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A We agree that joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity method.  

22 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

23 A Agree  

24 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

25 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

26 A As with our response to specific matter for comment 3 in Exposure Draft 50, we agree with the proposal to only 
require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures.  

 

27 A Yes, we agree. ESV believes that the equity method will be relevant in the majority of cases.  In addition, we believe 
that consolidation methods and their relevance regarding the specific features and activities of the entities, to be 
included in the consolidated financial statements of a reporting entity, should be further clarified. 

 

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this statement.  

29 A We agree with the proposal to require the use of the equity method to account for investments in joint ventures, 
except where that investment is held by an investment entity. We suggest that an exception is added to the ED. 

Note proposal to have different 
requirements for investment 
entities. 

30 A Yes.  

31 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

32 - Did not submit on ED 51.  

33 A Yes, joint ventures should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements using the equity method, as 
required by an equivalent IFRS (Revised IAS 28 Investments in Associate and Joint Ventures). 
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 EDITORIAL AND OTHER COMMENTS 
STAFF COMMENTS 

04 ED 51 – Example 3 variation – Joint Provision of Assisted Living Services 
IE18 in example 3 specifies that entity X will be responsible for providing the assisted living services and entity Y will be 
responsible for the construction and ongoing maintenance of the premises. IE20 states that entity X and Y should recognise 
their share of the revenue and expenses resulting from the provision of assisted living services through the new entity Z.   

Given entity Y will not be directly involved in providing the assisted living services, IE20 appears to suggest that the proposed 
basis for allocating revenue and expenses would only be applicable to entity X but not entity Y. HoTARAC suggests that the 
IPSASB review the proposed allocation basis in the example, to ensure it is consistent with the surrounding paragraphs.   

 

10 See comments on use of term “binding arrangements” in R10’s response to ED 51 SMC1.   

26 ED 51 – Sequence of the Exposure Drafts 
We propose that the IPSASB reconsider the sequence and numbering of the paragraphs in that deals with the accounting of 
associates and joint ventures. This Exposure Draft assists users to identify whether an arrangement should be classified as a 
joint operation and joint venture. In our view, this would be the first step to follow, before accounting for the arrangement 
Exposure Draft 50would be considered.  

 

26 ED 51 – Determining joint control  
Paragraph .07 defines joint control as the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities requires unanimous consent of the parties sharing the control. 
Exposure Draft 49 explains how and whether control exists where a public sector entity is carrying out government policy on 
behalf of an executive authority (AG 59). We propose that similar guidance should be included in this Exposure Draft to 
illustrate whether joint control exists where government policy are carried out in terms of an arrangement.   

 

26 ED 51 – Financial statements of parties to a joint arrangement 
Paragraph .23(c) and (d) makes reference to “sale”, which in our view, reflects private sector circumstances. The 
requirements in this paragraph should also be expanded to non-exchange revenue transactions, and we propose that the 
paragraph should be extended to also refer to distributions made at no or nominal value.     

 

26 ED 51 – Cross reference to information dealing with separate financial statements  
Paragraph .41 of this Exposure Draft sets out the transitional provisions to be applied in an entity’s separate financial 
statements for interests in joint operations. As we have mentioned in our general comments to Exposure Daft 48 above, we 
propose that the IPSASB should reconsider the positioning of this guidance. In our view, it should be included in the 
pronouncement that provides guidance on separate financial statements. Alternatively, the IPSASB should consider including 
cross references between this Exposure Draft and Exposure Draft 48.  

 

26 ED 51 – Cross reference to transitional provisions following the elimination of proportionate consolidation  
Paragraph .32 of this Exposure Draft sets out the transitional provisions to be applied in the transition from proportionate 
consolidation to the equity method. We propose that the IPSASB should consider including a cross reference to Exposure 
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 51 EDITORIAL AND OTHER COMMENTS 
STAFF COMMENTS 

Draft 50 that deals with the accounting of joint ventures. 

26 ED 51 – Illustrative examples 
Example 1 illustrates the application of this Exposure Draft to a construction service between a private sector entity and a 
public sector entity. Some of our stakeholders questioned how this example impacts the application of the IPSAS on Service 
Concession Arrangements: Grantor (IPSAS 32). We therefore propose that the link between this example and IPSAS 32 
should be clarified.   
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ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 1:  

Do you agree the proposed disclosures in this draft Standard? If not, why?  
Are there any additional disclosures that would be useful for users of financial statements? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 05, 07, 09, 11, 13, 16, 18, 20, 21, 24, 25, 26, 28, 29, 30, 33 16 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  01, 02, 03, 17, 19, 23 6 

C – DISAGREE 10, 12 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  24 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 04, 27 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 52  26 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 B Although the AASB acknowledges the proposals in ED 52 are closely aligned with IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests 
in Other Entities, we have some concerns regarding paragraph 13 of ED 52 which permits some disclosures to be 
satisfied via a cross-reference to a report that may be outside the financial statements. In some jurisdictions, 
statements other than financial statements may be outside the standard-setter/regulators authority.  Therefore, we 
suggest either that paragraph be removed, or that it specifies that the use of cross-referencing may be subject to 
jurisdictional restrictions. 

The AASB also disagrees with paragraph 34 of the ED that requires a controlling entity of an investment entity that 
is not itself an investment entity to disclose information in respect of unconsolidated investment entities. We 
consider that all controlling entities that are not investment entities should consolidate all their controlled entities – 
see our response to SMC 5 of ED 49. 

 

Note cross referencing issue. 

 

 

 

 

Note disagreement with 
para 34. 

02 B ED 52 is tailored based on IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and drafted specifically for public sector 
entities. The disclosures in ED 52 are sufficient and adequate in light of the nature of public sector operations given 
that any controlled entity by a government department (for example) in most instances is likely to be established via 
ownership (i.e. equity); and that the likelihood of a structured entity is remote for the purpose of governmental 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

operations. 

Having said that, ACAG would like to draw the IPSASB’s attention to the divergence from IFRS 12 in respect of the 
additional disclosures for a non-investment controlling entity in paragraph 34 of ED 52. This divergence arises as a 
result of ED 49’s proposal that a non-investment controlling entity should measure the investments of its controlled 
investment entities at fair value through surplus or deficit.  Consistent with our comments on ED 49 not supporting 
this proposed divergence, ACAG recommends that paragraph 34 of ED 52 be omitted. 

Further, IFRS 12 (paragraph 9A) requires an investment entity to disclose information about significant judgements 
and assumptions it has made in determining that it is an investment entity. ED 52 (paragraph 15) diverges from this 
requirement i.e. where the investment entity meets all the characteristics in paragraph 57 of ED 49, the investment 
entity is not required to disclose its judgements and assumptions in arriving at the conclusion that it is an investment 
entity. ACAG does not support this divergence and recommends that the IPSASB maintain consistency on the 
“judgements and assumptions” disclosure for investment entities. For transparency purposes, these disclosures 
should still be made so that users of financial statements are informed of how the investment entity meets the 
investment entity criteria.   

 

 

Note disagreement with 
para 34. 

 

 

Note preference for all 
investment entities to make 
disclosures about judgments 
and assumptions. 

 

03 B We generally support the proposals. However, we do not support the proposed disclosures in paragraph 34 relating 
to controlling entities that are not investment entities, and the associated disclosure of unconsolidated investment 
entities. We consider that all controlling entities that are not investment entities should consolidate all their 
controlled entities. Therefore, we do not support the proposed accounting treatment in ED 49 Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Hence, we do not support the associated disclosures contained in this ED. 

 

Note disagreement with 
para 34. 

 

04 D No comment.  

05 A Yes, I agree with proposed disclosures in this draft Standard. I do not have other additional disclosure that would be 
useful for users of financial statements. I suggest for the Board, if agrees, that consult European Commission 
Internal Markets for Investment Services and regulated markets is very interesting for improve this discussion. 

Staff note Public Consultation 
on Disclosure of Non-Financial 
Information By Companies 
(April 2011) addressed more 
general issues than ED 52.  

06 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

07 A Agree.  

08 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

09 A (5) We agree with the proposed disclosures in the draft Standard and we have not identified any further disclosures 
that we feel would be useful for users of the financial statements. 

 

10 C The Council does not agree with the proposed disclosures, as it considers that these disclosures are too much 
detailed and may therefore obscure the financial statements. 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

11 A The Cour agrees with the disclosure of relevant information in the notes, especially for matters dealing with interests 
in other entities, which appears to be an essential support for transparency for users, especially in the knowledge of 
the perimeter and the nature of the relations, interests and commitments of an entity towards others in its proximity. 

 

12 C In our view, only really essential information should be provided in the notes; DGFiP considers that the IPSASB’s 
proposed requirements for information in the notes as set out in this exposure draft would lead to an inflation and 
overloading of the notes which would reduce its understanding. 

 

13 A I agree, but why not incorporate each disclosure into ED 49, 50 and 51? I don’t read any additional disclosures. Structure of EDs discussed in 
issues paper (June 2014) 

14  Did not submit on ED 52.  

15  Did not submit on ED 52.  

16 A We support the proposed disclosures in the ED and have not identified any additional disclosures that would be 
useful for users of financial statements. 

 

17 B We believe that consideration should be given to the following: 

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) do not contain an accounting standard for 
“discontinued operations” (a standard equivalent to the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 5, Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations). When IPSASs are applied to joint ventures or other 
entities individually material to a reporting entity, they may be unable to determine “pre-tax gain or loss recognized 
on the disposal of assets or settlement of liabilities attributable to discontinued operations” as required by 
paragraphs AG12 (b)(vii) and AG16 (c). We suggest that the IPSASB develops accounting and disclosure 
requirements equivalent to IFRS 5. 

In addition, paragraphs AG12 and AG16 do not refer to expenses and deferred items as summarized financial 
information in relation to joint ventures, etc., in spite of their importance in the public sector. We think expenses or 
deferred items should be included in the provisions requiring the disclosure of summarized financial information for 
joint ventures and associates that are material to the reporting entity (AG12) and the disclosure of the total amount 
equivalent to the reporting entity’s interests in joint ventures and associates that are individually immaterial (AG16). 

Note proposal to develop 
requirements equivalent to 
IFRS 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note proposal to require more 
detailed disclosures regarding 
joint ventures and associates. 

18 A Yes, we overall agree with the proposed disclosures in the ED. We do not consider there to be any additional 
disclosures that would be useful to the users. 

 

19 B The proposed disclosures would, to some extent, duplicate the risk disclosures in IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. We do not agree with the proposed disclosure requirements for interests in structured entities that are 
not consolidated except for those disclosures that are also required by IPSAS 30 since the ability to direct the 
relevant activities of, and the exposure to variable benefits from, unconsolidated structured entities are limited. We 
believe that the costs to be incurred to provide such disclosures would not justify its benefits.  

Note disagreement with 
disclosures for structured 
entities that are not 
consolidated. 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A We support the proposed disclosures.  

We propose one additional disclosure.  If an entity has an ownership interest in another entity, but this interest is not 
quantifiable, and the entity does not control the other entity, then we consider that disclosure of the existence of 
such an ownership interest would be appropriate.  

We note that paragraph 13 (shown below), permits disclosures regarding the methodology used to determine the 
existence of control, joint control or significant influence to be satisfied by cross-reference to a report that may be 
outside the financial statements.  

13. The disclosures required by paragraph 12 shall be either given in the financial statements or 
incorporated by cross-reference from the financial statements to some other statement that is available 
to users of the financial statements on the same terms as the financial statements and at the same time. 
Without the information incorporated by cross-reference, the financial statements are incomplete. 

We note that the ability to satisfy disclosure requirements by way of cross reference to other documents may not be 
permitted in some jurisdictions. We therefore recommend that paragraph 13 acknowledge that this option may be 
subject to jurisdictional restrictions.  

 

 

Note additional disclosure 
proposed regarding non-
quantifable ownership 
interests. 

 

Note cross referencing issue. 

 

22 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

23 B The Treasury acknowledges the disclosures may be useful. However, we wonder whether the requirements may 
cause problems. 

For example, in New Zealand, Crown entities have been specified in legislation, as has the ability of the Minister of 
Finance to require the Crown entity to pay to the Crown a sum equal to its net assets. At present 13 Crown entities 
that have been exempted from this provision. There is therefore a significant restriction in place over the use or 
access of the Government to these assets controlled by those 13 entities. 

Therefore , the New Zealand government would be able, relatively easily to comply with the disclosure required of 
significant restrictions on the Government's ability to access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of controlled 
entities. We wonder however, whether, in the absence of such stipulations, such a disclosure could adequately be 
met in other jurisdictions. We suspect only explicit restrictions could be reported, and not implicit restrictions that 
may have equal economic substance . We therefore perceive difficulties in requiring this disclosure in the public 
sector context . 

 

24 A Yes, we agree with proposed disclosures in this draft standard. Reason is that the disclosure requirements seem 
very exhaustive. 

 

25 A Yes, we agree with the proposed disclosures in the draft standard. 

Para 1 clearly spells out the objectives of the disclosure requirements and indeed the standard. These disclosures 
will improve transparency reporting of entities to enable users better evaluate the financial performance of the 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

entities including current and future investments and the risk exposure thereof.  

The disclosure requirements of the ED 52 are broad and cover a wide range of relationships and scenarios. Further, 
to ensure that relevant disclosures are not left out due to any peculiarities in jurisdiction or business model, 
paragraph 10 goes further to state: 

"If the disclosures required by this standard, together with disclosures required by other IPSASs, do not meet the 
objectives in paragraph 1, an entity shall disclose whatever additional information is necessary to meet that 
objective". 

In Nigeria, with respect to public sector entities such as the Sovereign Wealth Investment Authority, it becomes 
critical that such entities meet the objectives of the standard set out in paragraph 1. Furthermore, lessons from the 
global financial crisis, which started in 2007, emphasized the need for more transparency in reporting relationships 
entered into by the entity and the associated risk thereof to which the entity is exposed to. 

Consequently, the proposed disclosures will go a long way to promote greater transparency in financial reporting of 
an economic entity. 

26 A We agree with the proposed disclosures in this Exposure Draft.  

However, we propose that some disclosure requirements should be included for temporarily controlled entities held 
for sale in the absence of an IPSAS that deals with non-current assets held for sale.  

We propose that the following disclosures should be considered for material temporarily controlled entities, 
associates or joint ventures, and in aggregate for immaterial temporarily controlled entities, associates or joint 
ventures:   

• a description of the temporarily controlled entity, associate or joint venture and the rationale for its acquisition; 

• the carrying value of the assets and liabilities that will be affected by the disposal of the temporarily controlled 
entity, associate or joint venture; and   

• a description of the intended manner of disposal, including the expected sale or transfer date. 

We are of the view that these disclosures will provide useful information for decision making to the users of the 
financial statements.  

Propose additional disclosures 
for temporarily controlled 
entities 

27 D See general comments on ED 52.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with the proposed disclosures and demands no additional disclosures. The SRS-CSPCP 
welcomes the fact that in Section 40ff the disclosure of non-consolidated entities is also governed. 

 

29 A We agree with the proposed disclosures in the ED. We welcome the application guidance that accompanies the 
standard. 

 

30 A CIPFA generally agrees with these proposals.  

31 - Did not submit on ED 52.  
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RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 1  
STAFF COMMENTS 

32 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

33 A Yes we do agree, however, there are other disclosures that a company should make where the joint venture 
conditions are only benefiting one entity. If one party to the joint venture seems to be supporting the Joint venture 
than the other party, this should be included on the risk items to be disclosed.    

Propose additional disclosure 
re sharing of benefits. 
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ED 52 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

Specific Matter for Comment (SMC) 2:  

Do you agree with the proposal that entities for which administrative arrangements or statutory provisions are dominant factors in determining 
control of the entity are not structured entities? If not, please explain why and explain how you would identify entities in respect of which the 
structured entity disclosures would be appropriate? 

STAFF ASSESSMENT OF RESPONSES RECEIVED  
These are staff views and do not necessarily reflect the views of IPSASB Members 

CATEGORY (C #) RESPONDENTS (R #) TOTAL 

A – AGREE 01, 02, 03, 05, 07, 13, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 28, 29, 30, 33 19 

B – PARTIALLY AGREE  04, 10, 26 3 

C – DISAGREE 11, 12 2 

SUB-TOTAL OF THOSE PROVIDING COMMENTS  24 

D – DID NOT COMMENT 09, 27 2 

TOTAL RESPONDENTS ON ED 52  26 

 

R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 2 
STAFF COMMENTS 

01 A The AASB agrees with the proposals that entities for which conventional administrative arrangements or statutory 
provisions are dominant factors in determining control of the entity are not structured entities. We note that the 
principles proposed are consistent with the AASB’s recent amendment to AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities to incorporate Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities. 

 

02 A From a public sector perspective, ACAG agrees that structured entities should not include entities for which 
administrative arrangements or statutory provisions are dominant factors in determining control of the entity.  To 
include these entities as structured entities would significantly and inappropriately increase disclosure requirements 
by the public sector given the common practice of establishing entities for administrative functions or by legislative 
requirements.   

 

 

 

  Further, ACAG notes that the concept of ‘structured entities’ is dealt with for the first time in ED 52. No reference is 
made in ED 49 to such entities.  Therefore, ACAG recommends that the IPSASB consider updating ED 52 to clarify 
that structured entities that meet the control criteria set out in ED 49 are to be consolidated, with the controlled entity 

No change proposed – the 
disclosures are alredy in 
separate sections.   
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 2 
STAFF COMMENTS 

disclosures in ED 52 applying to them. 

03 A Yes, we agree with the proposal.  

04 B Although HoTARAC acknowledges that a public sector structured entity may involve other rights other than voting 
rights, the proposed definition is cumbersome and potentially confusing.   

HoTARAC agrees with the IPSASB’s analysis that ‘similar rights’ in the IASB’s definition of a ‘structured entity’ 
would encompass broader rights.  Arguably such rights would also capture administrative arrangements and 
statutory provisions. To avoid unnecessary departure from IFRS requirements and prevent potential misinter-
pretation of the proposed definition, HoTARAC recommends the IPSASB only address this issue in the application 
guidance as currently presented in AG20 while retaining the IFRS definition of ‘structured entity’ without 
amendment.  

Proposes using IFRS 12 
definition of structured entities 
together with application 
guidance.  

05 A Yes, I agree with the proposal that entities for which administrative arrangements or statutory provisions are 
dominant factors in determining control of the entity are not structured entities.  

I suggest for the board, if agrees, that observe the internal control11 for the public sector and the meeting of G2012 

about Financial Reforms – Progress and Challenges To G20 Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors can be 
do not have impact direct, so I think that is very interesting for this draft. 

 

06  Did not submit on ED 52.  

07 A Agree.  

08  Did not submit on ED 52.  

09 D  (6) We have not been able to identify practical examples from our own experience of arrangements that would be 
classified as structured entities and consequently we are unable to express an opinion on the suitability of this 
proposal.  

(7) We believe that it would be useful if more detailed guidance was given in the standard providing practical real-
world examples of the types of arrangements that the IPSASB intends to be categorised as structured entities. Such 
examples should highlight the financial and administrative arrangements, statutory provisions or voting rights that 
are considered critical in deciding whether an arrangement constitutes a structured entity. 

 

 

 

 

Propose more examples of 
structured entities 

10 B The Council agrees with the proposal and believes that the entities for which the administrative arrangements 
and/or statutory provisions are dominant factors in determining control of the entity are not structured entities (cf. 
our answer to the ED 49). 

The Council notes that the concept of control in the ED 49 - Consolidated Financial Statements has been expanded 

Note concerns with definition 
of structured entity 

11 http://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2012/080712.pdf and https://www.g20.org/sites/default/files/g20_resources/library/Saint_Petersburg_Declaration_ENG.pdf 
12https://www.g20.org/sites/default/files/g20_resources/library/FSB%20Chair%20letter%20to%20G20%20Mins%20and%20Govs%2017%20Feb%202014.pdf 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 2 
STAFF COMMENTS 

to include not only cases where control is exercised through voting rights or similar rights but also where control is 
based on administrative agreements or legislation. 

The Council understands the objective of circumscribing cases where control is exercised in an “unusual” way. 
However, as the control obtained through legislation or administrative agreements is explicitly envisaged by the 
Exposure Draft ED 49, the Council is skeptical about the need of the concept of “structured entity”. 

The Council notes in this regard that the definition of a structured entity provided by the ED 52 is not clear, as 
formulated negatively. In addition, the definition includes a reference to the concept of "binding arrangement" which 
includes according to the provisions of the Exposure Draft, administrative agreements and legislation (which again 
are envisaged by ED 49). 

The Council wonders whether the Exposure Draft requirements may have unintended consequences as the 
definition of a structured entity, besides its lack of clarity, may suggest that structured entities are the most common 
in the public sector. 

11 C The Cour is not certain of the adequacy of the present definition of these "structured entities". It assesses that in 
structured entities, the dominant factors for power or decision are not those defined by legal or administrative rules. 
This definition could be misunderstood, and seen as admitting the existence, in the public sector, of some kind of 
control mechanisms that would not be in accordance with laws. This could be seen as illegal in many jurisdictions. 
In France, for example, public sector entities have to conform to legal rules and not to others. The proposed 
definition has to be changed. 

 

Note disagreement 

12 C We believe that the introduction of the notion of “structured entity“ would no longer be relevant if the term 
“quantifiable“ were better defined, in particular by identifying the situations in which the ownership interest is 
considered to be quantifiable. 

 

13 A Yes, I agree.  

14 - Did not comment on ED 52.  

15 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

16 A We agree with the proposal but believe that it would be useful to include some guidance and/or illustrative examples 
that help identify entities for which administrative arrangements or statutory provisions are dominant factors in 
determining control of the entity. 

Propose additional guidance 
or examples. 

17 A We believe, as stated in BC5, that administrative arrangements and statutory provisions commonly determine 
control of many public sector entities. We therefore agree with the proposal in ED 52. 

 

18 A Yes, we agree with this proposal given that for the public sector, there are fewer entities that are typically controlled 
in a normal scenario through voting right with a majority being through administrative arrangements, contracts etc 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 2 
STAFF COMMENTS 

19 A See general comment: We generally support the proposals in the five EDs. We agree with the Specific Matter for 
Comments (“SMC”) raised in the EDs except as set out below. 

 

20 A See general comment: The Council supports the majority of the proposals in the EDs.    

21 A We agree with this proposal.  Because this is a new requirement it may take some time before entities are able to 
provide feedback on implementation difficulties. We would therefore encourage the IPSASB to seek some form of 
post-implementation feedback on the disclosure requirements in the forthcoming standard based on this ED, to 
allow for a reassessment of the costs and benefits of the requirements. 

Note suggestion for post 
implementation review.  

22 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

23 A Agree.  

24 A Yes, we cannot think of any, as requirements seem exhaustive for now.  

25 A To the extent that this standard is designed for use by public sector entities, yes, we agree with the proposal that 
entities for which administrative arrangements or statutory provisions are dominant factors in determining control for 
an entity are not structured entities. 

This position is aided by the fact that legislation or administrative arrangements are criteria applied in many public 
sector entities to determine control. ED 52 in para 7 lays emphasis on the peculiarities of public sector entities as 
different from private sector entities. This is shown when a structured entity was defined separately in terms of 

-  administrative or statutory provisions determining control and 

-  voting rights or other similar rights determining control. 

Furthermore, paragraph AG20 explains that a structured entity could be: 

(i)  an entity for which most of the activities are predetermined with the relevant activities limited in scope but 
directed through binding arrangements or 

(ii)  an entity for which any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by 
means of binding arrangements. 

These restrictions will lead to a limited class of public sector entities that will apply the standard. This will reduce the 
extent of inconsistencies in application of the standard and therefore render more useful information to users of 
financial information. 

Consequently, we are of the opinion that the criteria for identifying a structured entity under ED52 as set out in 
paragraph 7, AG20 to AG23 are sufficient and appropriate. 

 

26 B The definition in paragraph .07 refers to those circumstances where administrative arrangements and legislation are 
not normally the dominant factors. We are of the view that entities will find it difficult to identify a public sector 
structured entity based on this definition, and therefore propose that explanatory guidance should be included in the 
Exposure Draft to explain the definition. Furthermore, illustrative examples should be included in the Exposure Draft 

 

Seeking more guidance and IE 
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R# C# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 SMC 2 
STAFF COMMENTS 

to assist preparers with the identification of a structured entity. 

We also question how a binding arrangement, as referred to in Exposure Draft 50 and Exposure Draft 51, will 
impact the definition and identification of a structured entity. In the explanation in AG20, reference is made to both 
administrative arrangements and binding arrangements, yet the definition of a structure entity only refers to 
administrative arrangements. Clarification on how or whether binding arrangements are considered in identifying 
structured entities should be provided in this Exposure Draft.   

Furthermore, the guidance provided in AG22(c) and (d) should be reconsidered as it is, in our view, not public 
sector specific. 

 

 

 

Note request to consider 
interaction with binding 
arrangements  

27 D Did not comment on SMC2. Provided general comments on ED 52.  

28 A The SRS-CSPCP agrees with this proposal.  

29 A We agree the definition of structured entities is problematic. We agree the current definition in paragraph 7 is 
appropriate.  

 

30 A CIPFA agrees with the proposed approach.  

31 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

32 - Did not submit on ED 52.  

33 A Zambia Institute of Chartered Accountants (ZICA) 

Yes we do agree, this is because the definition of a structured entity indicates that a structured entity is an entity 
that has been designed so that the conventional ways in which an entity is controlled are not the dominant factors in 
deciding who controls the entity.  
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R# 
RESPONDENT COMMENTS 

ED 52 EDITORIAL AND OTHER COMMENTS 
STAFF COMMENTS 

04 ED 52 – paragraph 23 
HoTARAC notes that paragraph 23 does not exactly replicate the wording of the corresponding IFRS paragraph and the 
IPSASB’s wording ‘previously met the definition of a structured entity and was not consolidated’ could be read to imply that 
after a controlling entity obtained control over a structured entity, the structured entity would no longer meet the definition of a 
‘structured entity’. HoTARAC suggests that the IPSASB clarify this wording, as a structured entity could continue to meet the 
‘structured entity’ definition, even after it becomes controlled. 

 

26 ED 52 – Inclusion of disclosures in reports that are not part of the financial statements 
Paragraph .12 of this Exposure Draft requires disclosures about the methodology applied by an entity to determine whether 
control, joint control or significant influence exists over another entity. Paragraph 13 allows the entity to include these 
assumptions and methodology either in the financial statements, or by means of a cross reference to some other statement 
that is available to users of the financial statements.  

We question the requirement to allow the inclusion of a cross reference to another statement based on the requirements in 
paragraph .136 of IPSAS 1 that requires an entity to disclose, as part of the summary of significant accounting policies or 
other notes, judgment that was applied by management to the extent that it has a significant effect on amounts recognized in 
the financial statements.  

As a result, we propose that the requirement in paragraph .13 should be amended to require disclosure in the financial 
statements. 

 

26 ED 52 – Disclosures around the nature of interests and risks 
Paragraphs .45 and .46 require an entity to disclose information about the nature of interests and the nature of risks, in 
tabular format. We question why the format is prescribed in these two paragraphs only. For example, the presentation of the 
disclosures about the nature of risks associated with an entity’s interest in consolidated structured entities (paragraphs .21 – 
.24) and the nature and extent of interests in joint arrangement and associates (paragraphs .36 - .39), are not that 
prescriptive. 

We therefore propose that the IPSASB should reconsider the requirement to present the information in a table. 
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ED 48 SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 
 

   Geographic Breakdown 
  

   Region Respondents Total 
Africa and the Middle East 1, 6,10 13, 15, 22 6 
Asia 14, 27 2 
Australasia and Oceania 5, 7, 17, 23, 24, 25, 26 7 
Europe 2, 3, 8, 11, 12, 16, 21 7 
Latin America and the Caribbean 19 1 
North America 9 1 
International 4, 18, 20 3 
Total   27 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

 Functional Breakdown 
  

   Function Respondents Total 
Accountancy Firm 18 1 
Audit Office 1, 7, 8 3 
Member or Regional Body 4, 6, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 20, 27 10 
Preparer 2, 5, 24, 26 4 
Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 3, 9, 11, 21, 22, 23, 25 7 
Other 16, 19 2 
Total   27 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

   Linguistic Breakdown: 
  

   Language Respondents Total 
English-Speaking 4, 5, 6, 7, 12, 13, 15, 17, 18, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 14 
Non-English Speaking 2, 3, 8, 14, 16, 19, 21 7 
Combination of English and Other 1, 9, 10, 11, 20, 27  6 
Total   27 
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 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) Agenda Item 5.5 
 

ED 49 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 
 
Geographic Breakdown 

  
   Region Respondents Total 
Africa and the Middle East 2, 8, 13, 18, 26 5 
Asia 16, 24 2 
Australasia and Oceania 6, 7,  9, 15, 20, 27, 28, 29 8 
Europe 3, 4, 10, 12, 14, 19, 25, 30, 31 9 
Latin America and the Caribbean 22 1 
North America 1, 11, 17 3 
International 5, 21, 23 3 
Total   31 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Functional Breakdown 
  

   Function Respondents Total 
Accountancy Firm 12, 21 2 
Audit Office 2, 9, 10 3 
Member or Regional Body 5, 8, 13, 16, 18, 20, 23, 24, 30 9 
Preparer 3, 6, 7, 15, 17, 28, 31 7 
Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 4, 11, 14, 25, 26, 27, 29 7 
Other 1, 19, 22 3 
Total   31 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Linguistic Breakdown: 
  

   Language Respondents Total 
English-Speaking 1, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 12, 15, 17, 18, 20, 21, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30  17 
Non-English Speaking 3, 4, 10, 16, 19, 22, 25 7 
Combination of English and Other 2, 11, 13, 14, 23, 24, 31 7 
Total   31 
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 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) Agenda Item 5.6 
 

ED 50 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES  

Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 
 

   Geographic Breakdown 
  

   Region Respondents Total 
Africa and the Middle East 1, 7, 8, 10, 17 5 
Asia 9, 22 2 
Australasia and Oceania 4, 11, 18, 19, 20, 23 6 
Europe 2, 3, 5, 16, 21 5 
Latin America and the Caribbean 14 1 
North America 6, 12 2 
International 13, 15 2 
Total   23 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

 Functional Breakdown 
  

   Function Respondents Total 
Accountancy Firm 13 1 
Audit Office 1, 5 2 
Member or Regional Body 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 21, 22 8 
Preparer 2, 4, 12,19, 23 5 
Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 3, 6, 16, 17, 18, 20 6 
Other 14 1 
Total   23 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

   Linguistic Breakdown: 
  

   Language Respondents Total 
English-Speaking 4, 8, 10, 11, 13, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23 11 
Non-English Speaking 2, 3, 5, 9, 12, 14, 16 7 
Combination of English and Other 1, 6, 7, 15, 22 5 
Total   23 
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 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) Agenda Item 5.7 
 

ED 51 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 
 
Geographic Breakdown 

  
   Region Respondents Total 
Africa and the Middle East 1, 7, 10, 16 4 
Asia 9, 22 2 
Australasia and Oceania 4, 11, 17, 18, 19, 20 6 
Europe 2, 3, 5, 8, 15, 21 6 
Latin America and the Caribbean 13 1 
North America 6 1 
International 12, 14 2 
Total   22 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Functional Breakdown 
  

   Function Respondents Total 
Accountancy Firm 12 1 
Audit Office 1, 5 2 
Member or Regional Body 7, 9, 10, 11, 14, 21, 22 7 
Preparer 2, 4, 18, 20 4 
Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 3, 6, 8, 15, 16, 17, 19 7 
Other 13 1 
Total   22 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Linguistic Breakdown: 
  

   Language Respondents Total 
English-Speaking 4, 10, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21 10 
Non-English Speaking 2, 3, 5, 9, 13, 15 6 
Combination of English and Other 1, 6, 7, 8, 14, 22 6 
Total   22 
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 IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) Agenda Item 5.8 
 

ED 52 DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES  

Analysis of Respondents by Region, Function, and Language 
 
Geographic Breakdown 

  
   Region Respondents Total 
Africa and the Middle East 1, 6, 10, 12, 14, 21  6 
Asia 13, 20 2 
Australasia and Oceania 5, 7, 16, 22, 23, 24, 26 7 
Europe 2, 3, 4, 8, 11, 15, 25 7 
Latin America and the Caribbean 18 1 
North America 9 1 
International 17, 19 2 
Total   26 

   

 

  

Africa and the 
Middle East

23%

Asia
7%

Australasia and 
Oceania

27%

Europe
27%

Latin America 
and the 

Caribbean
4%

North America
4% International

8%

Respondents by Region

Prepared by:  Staff (June 2014) Page 1 of 3 



Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Functional Breakdown 
  

   Function Respondents Total 
Accountancy Firm 17 1 
Audit Office 1, 7, 8 3 
Member or Regional Body 6, 10, 12, 13, 14, 16, 19, 20, 25 9 
Preparer 2, 5, 23, 26 4 
Standard Setter/Standards Advisory Body 3, 4, 9, 11, 21, 22, 24 7 
Other 15, 18 2 
Total   26 
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Analysis of Respondents 

IPSASB Meeting (June 2014) 

Linguistic Breakdown: 
  

   Language Respondents Total 
English-Speaking 5, 6, 7, 12, 14, 16, 17, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 13 
Non-English Speaking 2, 3, 4, 8, 13, 15, 18 7 
Combination of English and Other 1, 9, 10, 11, 19, 20 6 
Total   26 
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